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PAPERS OF CONTESTANT.
No. 1.—Notice of contest,

) Lake Crry, Junuary 14, 1371,
S In pursnance of law, I hersby give you notico that I shall contest your election
and sent ag 4 member of the Forty-second Congress of the Congress of the United
States of America from the congressional district of Flovida, upon the following
grounds:

First. That, at the election held ou the 8th day of November, A. D, 1870, iu pursu-
ance of Jaw, [ received a majority of all the votes cast at said election in said con-
gressional district,

Second, That the votes east at sald election in tlfe several counties in said Stato
composing said congressional distriet, were duly canvassed and certified by the in-
spectors of the election, at the several precinets, to the county canvassors of their
l'cs‘mctivu connties, as required by law, and that said connty canvassers did eanvass
und certify the result of the votes cast at the several precinets in their respective
counties (excopt in the counties of Duval and Manatee, of which reference will mors
particularly be made hereafter) to the bourd of State eanvassers, :

Thivd, That in the county of Duval, Yoellow Bluff precinet, which gave me a mnjority
of one hundred and fitty-six votes, and the precinet at Mayport, which gave e n
majority of thirty-onc votes, and the precinet of Baldwin, which gave me a majority
of twenty-cight votes, were unluwfuhy rejected by the board of county canvassers
of said county,. . '

Fourth. That in the connty of Manateo, Fort Ogden precinet, which gave me a
majority of forty-soven votes, was unluwiully rejected by the bourd of county ean-
vassers of said county.

Fifth, That a majority of the board of State canvassers, in their officinl canvass of
the returns made by the several boards of county canvassers, unlawfully rejected the
returns from the following-nmned countles, to wit: Brevard Courity, which gave mo
u mjority of twenty-seven votes; Calhonn County, which gave mo a majority of
thirty-nine votes; Dade Connty, which gave me o majority of two votes; La Fayetto
County, which gave me a majority of one hundred and seventy-saven votss; Manatee
County, which gave mo a majority of one hundred and tifty-three votes; Monroo
County, which gave you a mujority of seventy-cight votes; Sumter County, which
gave me a majority of two hundred and fifty-four votes; Suwaunee County, which
gave me a majority of eighty-eight votes, and Tuylor County, which gave me a
ujority of one hundred and eighty-four votes, making in the aggregute nine hun-
dred and twenty-five votes majority in my favor and soventy-cight votes majority
in your favor.

Sixth, The actual majority in my favor in said connties, rejected by the board of
State cauvussers, was eight hundred and forty-seven votes,
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Seventh. The result of the official canvass, as declared by a mnjority of the board of
State canvassers, after rejecting the returns of the countles above mentioned, your
majority was declaved to be six hundred and twenty-seven votes. The counties unlaw-
fully rajected by a majority of the board of State canvassers gnve me a majority of
sight hundred and forty-seven votes, which, it snid returns from said counties had heen
allowed, and the votes counted, it would have given me a majority of all the votes re.
turned by the several boards of county canvassers of two hundred and twenty votes,

Eighth, That the precincts rvjecte({ by the hoards of county canvassers, for the
counties of Duval and Manatee, gave me a majority of two hundred and fifteen votes,
to which is to be added two hundred and twenty votes majority, including the coun-
ties unlawfully rejected as hereinbefore stated, and my actual majority of all the votes
cast at said sloction in said congressional district was four handred and thirty-five.

Ninth, That upon a fair, logal, and full canvass of all the votes east in said congres-
sionul distriet, I was elected by a majority of four hundred and thirty-five votes,

Tenth. That the grounds of rejection of the rveturns of the counties and precinets
horeinbefore mentioned arve insutticient and immaterial, and chictly for mere informul-
ities and without fraud,

Eleventh, You will take notice that I shall ask for the rejection of the votes cast at
the precinet held on the Government reservation at the navy-yard in Escambin
County, All persons !’('Hil”ll;{ on said reservation and voting at said precinet are not
under the jurisdiction of the State of Florida; and the precinet held on said reserva-
tion was not within the jurisdiction of the county of Escainbia or State of Florida,

Twelfth, That it you fntend to ask for the rejection of returns made by precinet in-
spectors, or by connty canvassers, on the grounds of informality, I will also ask for the
rejection of the precinet at Jucksonville, Duval County, where the polla of said elec-
tion were kept open until 9 o'clock at night, when the law required they should have
been closed at sunset, 1 will also ask for the rejection of the precinet lw{d at the pro-
hate office in Lake City, Columbia County, on the grounds that the returns from said
preeinet were only signed by two of the inspectors, when the law requires they should
be signed by the whole hoard, I shall also ask for the rejection of the returns from
Alachua County, said returns being signed by only two of the county eanvassers, when
the law requires they should be signed by the whole board ; all of which said precincts
and said county gave you s majority of votes.

After dne time for your reply, I shall proceed, in pursnance of law, to establish my
election as a member of the Forty-second Congress of the Congress of the United
States of Ameriea, by a majority of votes cast at said election for said office in suid
congressional distriet of Florida,

Very respecttully,
SILAS L. NIBLACK.
-Houn, Jostan T. WaLLs,
Srare oF FLoRIDA, Leon County ;

I hereby certify that I served the original, of which this is a true copy, on Josiah T.
Waks, in person, ot Tallahassee, Florida, on this 18th January, 1871,

COUNCIL A. BRYAN,
Deputy Skeriff, Leon County, Florida.

No. 2.—Answer,

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA, Jannary 20, 1871,

Sie: In ‘]mrmumou of law, I hereby reply to yonr notice setting forth the grounds
upon which yon shall contest my election and seat as & member of the Forty-secoud
Congress of the Congress of the United States of America from the congressional dis-
trict of Florida, I shall sustain the validity of my election upon the following grounds:

First, That at the election held on the 8th day of November, A, D, 1870, in pursugnes
of law, I received a majority of all the legal votes cast at said election in said congres-
sioml district. ‘

Second, That the legnl votes cast at said election in the scveral counties in said
State composing said congressional district, were duly canvassed and certified by the
Inspectors of the election at the several precinets to the county canvassers of their
respective connties, as required by law, and the said connty canvassers did canvass
and cortify the resalts of the legal votes cast at the several precinets in their respect-
ive counties, excePting in the counties of Columbia, Hamilton, Jackson, and Levy, of
which reference will more particularly be made hereafter, to the board of State can-
Vassers,

Third.: That in the county of Duval, Yellow Bluff precinct, fraud and illegal voting
were committed, thereby rendering the election at said precinct null and void. That
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Mayport and Baldwin Precinets returns were not returned according to law, the said
returns not beiyg signed and sealed ay the lnw requires, and was lawiully rejected by
the county canvassers of said county.

Fourth, That in the connty of Columbia, City Hall precinot, the clerk of the inspect-
ors was not.a registered voter, as the lnw requires, and that there were illegal voting
and intimidation perpetrated at said precinet, at which said procinet yon received n
majority of three hundred votes, 1 shall ask for the rejection of the said precinct
upon the gronnd above mentioned,

Fifth.- That in the county of Jackson, Underwood’s recinet, which gave yon a major-
ity of thirty-nine, were unlawfully received by a majority of the boeard of inspectors
of said precinet, and that the polls were not opened until 10 o’clock a. m,, and  elosed
before sunset 3 violence and intimidation were committed at said precinet: and that,
wherein about four hnndred registered voters, who were intent upon going to Marianna
for the purpose of voting in hehalf of my election, but were obliged to return by the
way, not reaching the polls to vote, becanse of the fearfulness of intimidation from
violence and bloodshed, I will therefors ask for the rejection of the votes of said
county,

Sixth, I shall ask the m_{o.cti(m of the returns of Manatee County, which gave you
o majority of one hundred and fifty-three votes, which was lawfully rejected by the
board of State canvassors for informalities, upon the ground that there was no elec-
tion l]u!l(l in said county according to lnw—the ballot-boxes were not prepared as tho
Iuw directs,

Seventh, I shall ask the rejection of the retnrns of Suwannee Connty, which gave
you a majority of cighty-eight votes, (and which was lawfully rejected by the board of
State canvassers for informalitios,) upon the ground that there was illegal voting in
said county, there being more votes east than voters registered,

Eighth. I shall ask for the rejection of Humilton County, which gave yon a major-
ity of three hundred votes, upon the ground that there were illegal voting and intimi-
dation and fraud in said county., V

Ninth. I shall ask the rejection of the returns of Levy Connty, which gave you a
majority of two hundred and thirty-nine votes, upon the ground that there wore illognl
voting and intimidation in said connty, and that the inspectors of the severnl precinets
in said county did unlawfully transmit the bullot-boxes of thelr respective precincts
to persons not authorized by law to receive them,

‘enth, I shall ask the rejection of all the precincts and counties whers informalitics,
illvgnl voting, fraud, and intimidation woere committed on the day of election.

Eleventh. That the board of State eanvassers, in their official canvass of the returns
made by the several Loards of county canvassers, lawfully rejocted the returns from
the following-named counties, to wit: Brovard County, upon the ground that the
returng were not returned according to law, and also for informalities; Calhoun
Connty, upon the ground that there was no official return received at thy oftice of the
secretary of state, as the law directs; Dade County, upon the ground that there were
no votes cast for member of Congress in said county ; La Fayette County, upon the
ground that there was no legal returns returned from said connty. I shall further ask
the rejection of said connty npon the following additional grounds: The precinet of
Now Troy, in snid county, for_intimidation and frand ; the precinet at Governor Hill,
for violation of law on part of the inspectors, they failing to sign, seal, and deliver the
returus, ballot-hoxes, and poll-books, as the law directs, and that the ballot-box was
broken open and stufied at said precinet. The ballot-box of Californin precinet, in
said county, was not sealed, and the person who delivered the ballot-box delivered the
key of said Lox, and the returns of the inspectors were in the said hox, and that the
returns did not state in what county the said election was held; Cook’s Hammock
precinet, the inspectors of which returned frandnlent returns on county canvassers
roturns, Further, at Now Troy precinct, I received forty votes,which were frandu-
lently taken from the ballot-hox, and were not returned by the 1mspectors of the said
precinet, as the law directs; Manatee County, upon the ground that the veturns were
not returned according to Jaw; Monroe County, upon the ground that the returns
were not returned according to law ; Sumter County, upon the ground that the returns
of said county were not returned as the law directs, and that thesaid returns wero not
made out as the law requires, .I shall further ask the rejection of Sumter Conuty
tipon the ground of intimidation, fraad, and illegal voting'; Snwannee County, upoit
the grmuu?t-lmt- the returns of said county were not signed and returned:by. the proper
officers, as the law divects. I shall ask the rejection of the suid county npon the ground
above-mentioned, Taylor County, upon the gronnd that the returns wers informal
and not signed hy the proper officers, as the law dircets, making in the aggrogate four-
teen hundred and eighty-five logal votes in my favor,

Twelfth, The returns from Alachua County were properly signed by all throe of the
county canvassers, as shown on file in county clerk’s oflice, and on file in the office of
the secrotary of state. ’

Thirteenth. The result of the official canvass, as.declarod by the board.of State can-
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vassers to be majority in my fuvor, was the majority of six hundred und twenty-
seven votes,

Fourteenth., The precinet inspectors and county canvassers of the counties of
Columbin, Levy, Hamilton, and Jackson, nnlawfully returned to the number of cight
hundred and sixty-eight votes, asabove mentioned, would increase my majority to
fourteen hundred and cighty-five, ’

Fifteenth, The twenty-third and twenty-fourth sections of an act entitled ¢ An act
to provide for the registration of electors and the holding of elections,” approved
Angust 6, A, D. 1868, which rewds as follows: The canvass boing completed, duplicate
certificates of the result shall be drawn up by the inspectors or clerk, containing in
words written at full length the names of ench person voted for for each office, the
number of votes cast for ench person for such oftice, &6, &e.  Section twenty-four
reads as follows: The county canvassers shall publicly proceed to canvass the votes
given for the several offices and persons, as shown by the returns on file in the office
of such clerk or judge, and shall thon make and sign duplicate certilicates containing
in words and figures written at full length the whole number of votes given for each
oftice, the names of the person for whom such votes were given for such otilee, &e., &e.

Sixteenth, That upon a fuir logal and full canvass of all the legal votes cast in sueh
congressional district, I am elected by a majority of two thousaud seven hundred and
sighty-live votes, .

Seventeenth. You will take notice that I shall ask for the rejection of ench and every
return unlawfully made by the county canvassors of the several counties composing
the said congressionn] district, upon the fact that the names of the persons voted for
does not appear written at full length, as the lnw requires.

Eighteenth., By a thorough examination of official canvass of the boarvd of State
canvassers for the said congressional district, you will see that the precinet held on
the Government reservation at the navy yard in Bseambin County was rejected by
the county canvassers of said connty, and was not counted by the Loard of canvagsers,

That I shall insist that the board having necessarily, in virtue of the duty imposed
upon it, a discretionary power in the nature of a judicinl one, and having exercised
that power in deciding as to what constitutes a return, and certified to the secretary
of state, and dissolved, and that action having been recognized by non-virtue on your
part, either by protest to the board or to the executive prior to the issue to mo of the
propor certificnte, and the non-pursuit of the judicial restriction by injunction, will
now preciude you from either proving the varions causes of complaint set up in your
gronnds of contest or availing yourself of the same hefore Congress,

1 shall sustain the validity of my election upon the grounds hereinbefore mentioned,

Yery respectfully,
JOSIAH T. WALLS.
Judge Sinas L. NIBLACK,
]

Received January 31, 1871,
8. L. NIBLACK.

No. 3.—Notice to take testimony.

Lake Crry, February 10, 1871,

Sir: In pursnance of law, I hereby notify you that I shall, on Monday, the 27th day
of February instant, proceed to take thie testimony as contestant of your election and
seat as o member of the Forty-second Congress of the Congress of the United States,
from the State of Florida, of the following witnesses, viz: Jonathan C. (tibbs, scere-
tary of stato, Robert H, Gumble, comptroller, and Shermuan Conant, attorney general,
composing the bourd of State eanvassers of the Stato of Florida, at the recent election
held on the 8th day of November lnst ; also of J, Bowes, secretary of the State senate,
and H. Rassell, clerk of the assembly of the State of Floridw; and shall at the same
time require of them and each of them, and all other officers of the State government,
certified copies of all records, papers, and documents in their possession respectively,
relating to, connected with, or pertaining to the election aforesaid, as well as all other
documents having any bearing on the merits of said election, and connected with or
pertaining to the contested clections in the senate and assembly of the legislature of the
State of Florida, at its recent session, and the testimony taken in the snme, that inay be
necessary to prove the unlawful rejection of returns mwde of the votes cast at said
election, by precinet inspectors or county canvassors, and to estublish the legality of
my election. .
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All of which testimony will be taken before the Hon. Charles E. Dyke, mayor of the
city of Tallahassee, in the county of Leon, Stute of Florida.
Very respectfully,
SILAS L. NIBLACK.
Hon. Jostan T. WALLS.

P. 8.—TI'also give you notice that I shall proceed to take the testimony of witnesses
. s . ] 3 h] i
in the counties of’ Duval, Aluchua, Columbin, and La Fayette, as soon as I can obtain the
names of witnesses in said counties, of which time and place and names of witnesses
will be furnished you as soon as known and determined, '
SILAS L. NIBLACK.

Indorsed as follows:
StATE OF FLoripa, Jdluchua County:

Before e, a justice of the peace in and for snid county, personally appeared Alex-
ander Wavassear, who, being duly sworn, deposeth and says that he served a copy
of the within notice on Josinh T, Walls, by leaving a copy at his place of abode, on

this the 16th day of February, A, D. 1871,
ALEXANDER WAVASSUER.

Sworn and subscribed to before me, this the 16th day of February, A, D, 1871,
[s141.] THOMAS SIMPSON,
. Justice of the Peace.

Subpana.

To Jonathan C. Gibbs, sccrelary of state of the State of Florida, and Robert H. Gamble,
comptroller of the same, grecting :

You are hereby command that, lnying aside all business and excuses, yon and each
of you be and appear in your proper persons before the mayor of the city of Talla-
hassee, at the office of the said mayor in the Phwnix Building, on the corner of Clin-
ton and Monroe streets, in said city, at the hour of 12 o’clock noon of the 27th day of the
present month, to testify all and singular those matters and things which you or either
of you know in the case of a contested election, wherein Silas L, Niblack, as contest-
ant, contests the election and.seat of Josiah T. Walls as member of the Forty-second
Congress of the Congress of the United States from the State of Florida, and in order
that you may be then and there examined respecting the said contested election in the
manner provided by the Inws of the United States. And this youshall in nowise omit,
wnder the penalty preseribed by law, :

Witness my hand and the seal of the said city of Talluhassée, this the 21st day of
Fehruary, A, D. 1871,

[SEAL] C. E. DYKE,
Mayor City Talluhassee.

Indorsed as follows :

i

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA, February 21, 1871,

I certify that a copy of the within subpena was this day served on the within
named J. C. Gibbs and R. H. Gamble personally by me, said parties being to me well

knowu,
: C. E. DYKE,
Mayor City Tullahassec.

No 4,— Testimony: of Jonathan C. Gibbs, secretary of state.

Testimony in the matter of the contested election betweon the Hon. Josiah T. Walls,
holding certifiente of election as o member of the Forty-second Congress of the
Congress of the United States from the congressional district of Florida, and the
Hon, Silas L. Niblack, contestant, taken before Charles E. Dyke, mayor of the city
of Tullphasses, in said congressional distriet, on the 27th day of Febrnary, A. D,
1871: . :

The Hon. JoNATHAN G, GiBns, being dnly affirmed on tho Holy Evangeljsts of Al-
mighty God, deposeth and answers to the following questions, as follows, to wit: ]
Question first. Do you know the parties to this contested election, to wit: Josiah T,
Walls and Bilas L, Niblack ¢ a

He answers: I do,
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Question second, What is your official station, and with what duties were vou
charged hy lnw then in foree in connection with the canvass of the votes cast on the
&th day of November last for Representative in Congress from the State of Florvida ?

He answers: 1 am secretary of state of the State of Florida, and was a member of
the honrd of State canvassers of the election held on the Bth day of November last,
and was charged with the duties mentioned insection 28 of the act entitled “An act to
provide for the registration of electors and the holding of elections,” approved August
G, 1868.

Question third, Look upon the printed statement now submitted to you, published
in the Tallahassee Sentinel newspaper of the date of January 14, 1871, which said
newspaper of said date is also submitted to you, and say whether or not the publica-
tion therein headed “ Officinl returns of- the general State election,” and purporting to
have been signed by you, as seeretury of state, and Sherman Conant, as attorney gen-
eral, awd purporting to bave heen certified by you, ag seeretary of' state, as a correct
transeript of the original on file in the offlce of said seeretary of state, does in fact
exhibit the vote cast for Representative in Congress in the several counties in this
State named in said published statement, as shown hy the returns of said election held
on the 8th day of November lnst, on file in your office, and canvassed by you and the
other members of the board of State canvassers,

He answers: I think it does,

Question fonrth, When did the hoard of State canvassers of tho election for Roepre-
sentative in Congress above mentioned conclude thoir said canvass and finully ad-
ourn?

4 He answers : On the 27th day of December, A, D. 1870,

Question fifth, Were there on file in the oftice of the sceretary of state papers or
documents purporting to be ofticial returns of the votes cast at snid congressional elec-
tion in any other counties than those mentioned in said printed and published state-
ment; and it so, from what connties?

He answers: There were such papers or doenments, purporting to be oflicial retnrns
of said election from the counties ot Suwannees, Taylor, Calhoun, La Fayette, Sumter,
Manatee, and Brevard, Iam notcertain that the returns from Brevard were in ut that
date, or whether they came in afterward, ,

Question sixth, What action did the board of State canvassers tnke in regard to the
papers and documents purporting to be election returns from the said counties of
Suwannee, Taylor, Calhoun, La Fayette, Sumter, Manatee, and Brevard?

He answers s They threw them out on the ground of informality, either as to the
time of their receipt or informality in form,

Question seventh, What de you mean by informality as to the time of their receipt ?

He answers: Those that eame in after'the 20th day of November, which was tho day
on which the hoard first met,

“Question eighth., What returns were in on the 29th November that were rejected for
informality as to form ? -

He answers ; Suwannee, Taylor, and La Fayotte.

Question ninth, Are the said papers or documents, purporting to be election returny
from the connties of Suwaunee, Taylor, La Fayette, Calhoun, Sumter, Manatee, and
Brevard in your possession or under your control, and are you the legal custodian
thereof !

He answers : They arein my possession, except the returns from La Fayette County,
which Just returns were called for by the committee on privileges and clection of the
senate and not returned, and I have diligently searched for the same and have not heen
able to find them,

Question tenth, Having stated that the returns from Suwanneo, Taylor, Calhonn,
Sumter, Manatee, and Brevard are now in your possession, will you be so good as to
attach to your testimony true and correct copies thereof !

Pending the answer to the tenth interrogatory, and inorder to give the witness time
to obtuin copies of the documeonts referred to, the examination was adjourned until to-
morrow, Tuesday, February 28, at 4 o’clock p. m,

TuESDAY, FEBRUARY 28, 1871—4 o’clock p. m,

The examination was resumed, and the witness answered as follows:

In answer to the foregoing interrogatory, I attach to this my testimony the following
papers, marked A, B, C, D, E, and F, which I testify and certify are correet copies of
the rejected returus frony said counties, the originals of which are on file in my office
of secretary of state,

Question eleven, Look at the paper marked A, “ extract from Senatq Journal,” and
certified by you as secretury of state of the State of Florida to be a correet transeript
of the original now on file in your office, and say whether the same is a correct copy of
the original,

Ho auswers: It is,

JONATHAN C.'GIBBS,
Secretary of State, Florida,
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No. 5.—Suwannee County returns.
Al

Certificate of the result of election. To be aigned by inspectors and clerk of election. (See
section 23 of the general election law.)

STATE O FLORIDA, Suwannce County :

We, the undersigned, inspectors and clork of an election held at Now Boston, in the
county of Suwannee, and State atoresaid, on the eighth day of September, in the year
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, um{ur_ and by virtue ot an act
entitléd “An act to provide for the registration of electors and the holding of elections,”
approved Angust 6, 1868, and an act nmendatory thereto, approved Fobruary 19, 1870,
do hereby certify that the result of the suid election was ag follows, viz:

For Representative in Congress—J., T. Walls received forty-three, (43 5) Lemuel Wilson
received two, (2.)

For Lientenant Governor—S, T, Day received seventy-eight, (78.)

For State senator~ Joln I1, Sutton received seventy-four, (743) -Joseph Hanhin re-
ceived none.

For member of the assembly—Daniol M. McAlpin recvived eighty, (80;) Moses Sim-
mons received nine (9.)

,For(ggnalablc—Jeﬂbrson D. Hobbs, sixty-seven, (67;) I. B. Brown recoived thivty-
nine, (39.)

Witness onr hands at, , it the county aforesaid, this —— day of

yeir of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and .

, in the

y Inspector of Election,
—— e Inapector of Klection.,

: e e [nspector of Election,
[sEAL.] e e, Clerk of Election,

Certificate of the connty canvassers, (Sec section 24, act of dugust G, 1363,)

STATE OF FLORIDA, Suwannce County :

We, the undersigned, John W. Rice, judge of the conunty court of the county stated,
and Nelson Conner, clerk of the cireuit court of the county aforesaid, and John H,
Baker, sheriff of the conunty above mentioned, constituting the board of county eau-
vassers in and for the county stated, do horeby cortify that we met at the office of the
clerk of the circuit court of the county aforeswid on the 12th day of November, A, D,
1870, aud publicly canvassed the votes given at a general clection held in the county
of Suwanneo and State aforesaid on the 8th day ¢f November, A, D, 1870, the same
being the Tuesday next snceeeding the first Monday in said month, under and by virtue
of an act entitled “An act to provide for the registration of electors, and the holding
of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved Feh-
raary 19i 1470.  We do hereby certify from the returns on file in the office of the clerk
aforesaid— :

That tho whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was five huun-
dred and forty-eight, (548:) Silas L. Niblack, three hundred and eighteen, (318;) Jo-
sinh T, Walls, two hundred and thirty, (230.)

That the whole number of votes cast for State senator was five hundred and forty-
seven (H47) votes, as follows, viz: Robert W, Adams received two hundred and eighty-
soven (287) votes; Charles T, Irvine received two hundred and sixty (260) votes.

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was five hundred
and thirty-nine (539) votes, as follows, viz: John M, Bridges received two hundred and
ninety-three, (203;) Daniel W. Tedden roceived two hundred and forty-six, (246.)

That the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: 1William 8, J. Blount re-
ceived one hundred and seventy (170) votes; David H. Merchant received two hun-
dred and nine (209) votes; Fleming Hall received one hundred and sixteen (116) votes;
W. J. Barnes received sighty-one {81) votes ; J. R, Sloun received sixty-four (64) votes ;
Jolin W. Allison received twenty-threo (23) votes; C. A, Ramsay received twenty-two
(22) votes ; Samuel McKeever received eleven (11) votes; W. H. McClellan received
five (H) votes ; and George Marshall received five (6) votes.

Witness our hands and seals of office, at , in the county aforesaid, thisy —-
day of , in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy —.

]
Judge of the County Court of —— boimf_y.
Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of 'County.
- )
Justice of the Peace, County,
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The whole number of votes east for Heutenant governor was five hundred and fifty,
three, (h63,) as follows, viz: W, D, Bloxham received three hundred and fifteen (315)
votes ;3 8. T, Day received two hundred and thirty-cight (238) votes. :

Witness our hands and seals of oftice at Live Ouk, in the county aforesaid, this
twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
seventy, :

[sEAL)) JOIIN W, RICE,

Judye of the County Court of Suwannce Cownty,
N. CONNER,
Clerk of Cireuit Court of Suwannee County,
JOHN H. BAKER,
Sheriff of Swwannce Counly.

e

Certificate of county canvassers. (Sce section 24, act of August 6, 1868.)
Srark oF FrLoriba, Suicannee County:

We, the undersigned, John W, Rice, judge of the county court of the county stated,
and Nelson Couner, elerk of the circunit court of the county aforesaid, and Edward J.
Benton, a justice of the peaco of the county nhove mentioned, constitnting the board
of connty canvassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certify that woe met af the
ofice of the elerk of the cireuit court of the county aforesaid, on the 12th day of No-
vember, A, D, one thousand eight hundred and seventy, and publicly canvassed the
votes given at a general election held in the county of Suwannee and State aforesnid, on
the eighth day of November, in the year of our Lovd one thousand eight hundred and
weventy, the same being the Tuesday next succeeding the fivst Monday in said month,
under and by virtues of an act entitled ** An aet to provide for the registration of electors
and the holding of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory therveto,
approved February 19, 1870,  We do hereby certify from the returns on filo in the oftice
of tho clerk aforesaid—

That the whoele number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was five hundred
and forty-eight (5648) votes, as follows, viz: Silus L. Niblack received threo hundred
and eighteen (318) votes; Joseph 1. Walls received two hundred and thirty (:230)
votes,

That the whole number of votes east for State senntor was five hundred and forty-
seven (547) votes, as follows, viz: Robert W, Adams received two hundred and eighty-
seven (287) votes; Charles I Irvine received two hundred and sixty- (260) votes,

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was five hundred
and tifty-one (661) votes as follows, viz: Jolin M. Bridges received two hundred and
ninety-three (203) votes; Daniel W, Tedden received two hundred and forty-six (246)
votes; John H, Baker received eight (8) votes; Nelson Conner received three (3) votes;
E. I, Henderson recoived one (1) vote.

That the votes cast for constables wero as follows, viz: W, 8. J. Blount received
one hundred and seventy (170? votes; David H. Merchant received two hundred and
nine (209) votes; Fleming Hall received ono hundred and sixteen (116) votes; W, T0,
Barnes received gighty-one (81) votes ; J. R. Slonn received sixty-four (64) votes; C. A,
Ramsay received twenty-two (22) votes; Samuel MeKeever received eleven (11) votes;
W. H, MeClellan received five () votes; George Marshall received five (5) votes,

That the whole number of votes cast for lientenant governor wag five hundred and
fifty-three, (5563,) as follows, viz: W, D, Bloxhummn received three hundred and fifteen
(315) votes; S. T, Day received two hundred and (hirty-eight (238) votes,

Witness our hands and seals of office at Live Oak, in the county afovesaid, this
twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight huundred and
seventy. ’ ’

[SEAL] JOHN W, RICE,
Judge of the County Court of Swwannce County.
N. CONNER,
Clerk of the Circuil and County Courts of Suiwcannee County.
[sEaL] LEDWARD J, BENTON,
Justice of the Peace of Suwannce County.

- No. 6.—Taylor County returns.
B.

. [ ]
Certificate of the county canvassers.  (Sce section 24, act of August 6, 1868.)
Brate or Frorina, Taylor County:

We, the undersigned, James H, Wentworth, judge of the county court of the county
stated, and H. H, Wilder, sheriff of the county aforesaid, and Spencer P. Fife, a justice
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of the peace of the county above montioned, constituting the hoard of county can-

vassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certity that we met at the oftice of the

clerk of the circnit court of the county aforesnid on the ninth day of November, A, D.

one thousand eight hundred and seventy, and publicly canvassed the votes given at a

general election lield in the county of Taylor and State aforesaid on the cighth day of
November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, the snme

being the Tuesday next suceeeding the first Monday in said monthy under and by virtno
of an act entitled “An net to provide for the registration of electors and the holding of

elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved February

19, 1870. We do hereby cortify, from the returns on file in the office of the elerk

aforesaid—

That the whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was one hundred
and cighty-four, (184,) ag follows, viz: Silas L., Niblack received one hundred and sev-
enty-seven, (177;) Robort Meacham received six, (6;) Lem, Wilson recoived one, (1.)

That the whole number of votes cast for Stato senator was two hundred and thirty-
five, (235,) as follows, viz: John M. Sutton reccived one hundred and seventy-five,
(175;) John N. Krimminger received sixty, (60.)

The whole numbeér of votes enst for member of the assembly was two hundred and
thirty-four, (234,) us follows, viz: J. Wright Hendry received one hundred and seventy
(170) votes; John A, J, Cruce received sixty-four, (64.)

That tho votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: A, L, Markoy veceived ten,
(103) E. N. Wilder received one hundred and twenty-four, (124;) Moses Simmons
received seventy-four, (743) John H, Mathis received eighty, (80.)

The wholo number of votes cast for lientenant governor was two hundred and
twenty-five, (225,) as follows, viz: W, ), Bloxham received one hundred and seventy-
seven, (1773) S, I, Day received torty-cight, (48.)

Witness our hands and seals of oftice at Perry, in the county aforesaid, this second
day of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy,

[sEaL. JAMES H. WENTWORTH,
Judge of the Couaty Court of Taylor County.
[s1an.] H, H, WILDIR,
' Sherifh of Taylor County.
[s1an]” SPENCER P, FIFE,

Justice of the Peace of Taylor County.

Certificate of the county canvassers,  (See section 24, act of dugust 6, 1368.)

STATE OF FrLoripa, Taylor County :

We, the undersigned, James H, Wentworth, jndgoe of the county eourt of the connty
stated, and Samuel A, Willeox, deputy clerk of the cirenit court of the eounty aforesaid,
and Spencer P, Fife, a justice of the peace of the county above mentioned, constituting
the hoard of county canvassers in and for the gounty stated, do hereby cortify that we
met at the office of the clerk of the cirenit court of the county aforesaid, on the 9th
day of November, A, D. 1870, and publicly canvassed the votes given at & general elec-
tion held iiy the county of Taylor, and State aforesnid, on the Bth day of November,
A. D, 1870, the same heing the Tuesday next sncdeeding the first Monday in said month,
under and by virtue of an act entitled “ An act to provide for the registration of olee-
tors aud tho holding of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory
thereto, approved February 19, 1870, We do hereby certify, from the returns oun filein
the oftice of the elerk aforesaid—

That the whole number of votes ecast for Representative in Congress was one hun-
dred and eighty-four, (184,) as tollows, viz ¢ Silos L. Niblack, one hundred and seventy-
soven, (177;) Robert Meecham, six, (6;) Lem. Wilson, ono, (1.)

That the whole number for State senator was two hundred and thivty-five, (235,) as
follows: John H. Sutton, one hilndred and seventy-five, (175;) John N. Krimminger,
sixty, (G0, . -

Thz’té t-hg whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was two hundred
and thirty-four, (234,) as follows: Isaac Wright Hendry, one hundred and seventy,
(170;) Johu A, J. Cruce, sixty-four, (64.)

That the votes cast for constables were as follows: E. N, Wilder, one hundred and
twenty-four, (124;) Moses Simmons, seventy-four, (74 ;) John H. Mathis, eighty, (80;)
AL, Marsey, ten, (10.) .

That the whole number of votes cast for lientenant governor was two hundred and
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twenty-five, (225,) as follows: W. D. Bloxham, one hundred and seventy-seven, (177;)
8. T. Day, forty-eight, (48.) N
Witness our hands and seals of office at Perry, in the county aforesaid, this 9th day
of November, A, D, 1870, .
[sraL.] JAMES H. WENTWORTH,
Judge of the County Court of Taylor County,
SAMUEL A. WILLCOX,
Deputy Clerk of the Cironit and County Courts of Taylor County,
SPENCER P. FIFE,
Justice of the Peace for Taylor Colmny.

No. 7.—Calhoun County returns.
: C
Certificate of the county canvassers.

STATE OF I'LORIDA, Calhoun County :

We. the undersigned, William Clark, judge of the county conrt of the connty stated,
and Zach, Brown, clerk of the circuit court of the connty aforesaid, and a justice of
the peace of the county ahove mentioned, constituting the bourd of county canvassers
in and for the county, do hereby certify that we moet at the office of the clerk of the
circuit court of the county aforesaid on the fourteenth day of November, A, D, one
thousand eight hundred and seventy, and publicly canvassed the votes given at a gen-
eral election held in the county of Calboun and State aforesaid on the eighth day of
November, inthe year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, the samme
being the Tuesday next succeeding the first Monday in the said month, under and by
virtne of an act entitled # An act to provide for the registration of electors and the hold-
ing of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved
nglmmﬂ( 19, 1870. We do hereby certify fromn the returns on file in the office ot clerk
aforesald—

That the whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was one hundred
and sixty-three, (1633) 8, L, Niblack received one hundred and one (101) votes; J. T,
Walls received sixty-two (62) votes. :

That the whole number of votes east for lientenant governor was one hundred and
sixty-eight, (168:? W. D, Bloxham reccived one hundred and two (102) votes ; Samuel
T\ Day received sixty-six (66) votes, ‘ :

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was one hundred
and seventy three (173) votes, as follows, viz: Jumes W, Gearty received one hundred
and one (101) votes ; James B. Stone received seventy-two (72) votes.

That the votes.cast for constables were as follows, viz : H, C. Carson received seventy-
8ix (76) votes ; J. B. Roberts received sixty (60) votes; W, A. Kent received thirty-
seven (37) votes; L. C. Davis received forty-one (41) votes; H. Robinson received
fourteen (14) votes ; J. 8. Stone received thirty (30) votes,

Witness our hands and seals of otfice Wt Abes Spring, in tne county aforesnid, this
fourteenth day of Novewmber, in the year of our Lord one thousand sight hundred and
seventy, ‘ ’ .

(sEAL.] . MWILLIAM CLARK,

Judge of the County Court of Calhoun County.
ZACH. BROWY,
Clerk of the County Court of Calhoun County,

8raTE OF FLORIDA, Callioun County:

I, Henry Clark, deputy clerk of the sircuit and county court of snid county, do certify
that the foregoing is a true copy of the county canvassers’ certificato of a general elec-
tion held un the Bth day of November, 1870, now on tile in my office this the 30th day
of November, A, D. 1870, °
[SEAL.] ZACH. BROWN, Clerk.

per HENRY CLARK, Deputy Clerk.

In answor to the last interrogation, I herewith append coples of the rejected returns:
from the conunties of Suwannee, three, (3;) Taylor, two, (2 ;) Calhoun, one, (1;) Sumter,
two, sz ;) Manatee, two, (2;) and Brevard, one, (1;) making a total of six countics
and eleven certitioates, :

[seaAL.] : JONATHAN C. GIBBS,

Secretary of State.
FEBRUARY 28, 1870,
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No. 8.—Sumter County returns.
D.

Certificale of the couniy cantvassers, (Sce section 24, act of August 6, 1868.)

STATE OF FLORIDA, Sumter County :

We, the lmdersi;ined, Allen J, Cassidy, judge of the county court of the county stated,
and 8. J. Boukunight, deputy clerk of the cirenit court of the county atoresaid, and
John F. Jones, a j‘uetice of the peace of the county above mentiouned, constituting the
board of county convassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certify that we met
at the office of the clerk of the circuit court of the county aforesaid on the tenth day
of November, A, D. one thousand eight hundred and seventy, the same being the Tues-
day next succeeding the first Monday in said month, under and b{ virtue of an act en-
titled ‘“ An act to provide for the registration of electors and the holding of elections,”
approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved February 19, 1870,
We do hereby cértify from the returns on filo in the oftice of the clerk aforesaid— ’

Thatthe whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was three hun-
dred and seventy-four, (374,{,:13 follows, viz: S, L. Niblack received three hundred and
fourteen (314) votes; J. T. Walls received sixty (60) votes.

State senator, none,

That thoe whole number of votes cast for lientenant governor was three hundred and
seventy-four, (374,) as follows, viz :-Wm, D, Bloxom received three hundred and twelve
(312) votes ; and Day received sixtz-two (62) votes,

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was three hun-
dred and nine, (309,) as follows, viz : Granville Bevell received two hundred and seventy-
thres, (273;) R. J. Kondrick received twenty-three (23) votes; James A, Cowdry re-
ceived thirteen (13) votes,

—. That the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: one hundred and seventy-
seven (177 5) T. Powell received ninety-five (93) votes 5 James Jones rocoived sixty
five (65) votes; J. W. Wade received sixteen (16) votes; A, C. Clarke received one (1)
vote,
Witness onr hands and seals of office, at Leeshurgh, in the county-aforesaid, this the
tenth duy of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
[sEAL.] A, J. CASSADY,
. Judge of the County Couwrt of Sumler County,
: 8, J. BOUKNIGHT,
Deputy Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of “Siwiter County,
[sEaAL.] JOHN F. JANES,
Justice of the Peace of Sumter County.

Nore.—-To all of these certificates that are printed appears the following instructions :

L. N. B.—The canvassers should meet at the office of the clerk on or betore the sixth
duy aftor the election to canvass the votes,

2. In case of absence, sickness, of other disability of the county judge or clerk, the
sheriff shall act in his place,

3. The certificato muss be signed in duplicste, and must contain in words and fig-
ures, written at full length, the whole nmnlbcr of votes given for each offics, the numes
of the persons for whonisuch votes were given for such office, and the number of votes
given to each person for such office, . .

4, The clerk of the circnit court should record the certificate in the book required
by law to Le keptfor that purpose, '

5. One of the vertificutes shall be immediately transmitted by mail to the secrotary
of State and the other to the governor of the State.

’

Certificate of the county canvassers, (Ses section 24, act of August 6, 1868,)

STATE OF FLORIDA, Sumter County :

We, the undersigned, Allen J. Cassady, judge of the connty court of the county
state(i, and 8, J. Bouknight, deputy clerk of the cireuit court of the county aforesaid,
aud John F. Jones, a justice of the peace of the connty sbove mentioned, constituting
tlie bourd of county canvassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certify that
we met at the office of the clerk of the circnit court of the county aforesajid on the 10th
day of November, A. D, one thousaind eight hundred and seventy, and publicly can-
vassed the votes given at a gencrul election held in the county of Sumter and State
aforesaid on the 8th day of November, A, D, one thousand sight hundred and soveunty,
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the same heing the Tuesday next succeeding the first Monday in said month, under
and by virtue of an act entitled * An act to provide for the registration of electors and
the holding of elections,” approved Aungnst 6, 18068, and an act amendatory thereto,
approved Fobruary 19, 1870, We do hereby certify, from the returns on file in the oftice
of the clerk aforesuid— . :

That the whole unmber of votes cast for Representative in Congress was as follows,
viz s theee hundred and seventy-four, (374;) S, L. Niblack received three hundred and
fourteen (314) votes; J. T. Walls received sixty (60) votes.

None for State senator,

That the whole number of votes cast for lleutenant governor was three hundred and
seventy-four, (374,) as follows, viz: William D, Bloxom reccived three hundred and
twelve (312) votes; 8. T, Day received sixty -two (62) votes,

The whole nnmber of votes cast for member of the assembly was three hundred and
nine, (309,) as follows; viz: Granville Bovell received two hundred aud seventy-thres
('f?:f 3) R.J. Kendrlek received twenty-three (23) votes; J. A, Condry received thirteen

3) votes, .

( That the votes east for constables were ar follows, viz: one hundred and seventy-
seven, (177 5) I Powell recoived ninety five (95 ;) James Jones recolved sixty-five, (655)
Jo WoWade recelved sixtoon (163) A C, Clark reeeived one (1) vote,

Witness onr hands and seals of oftice, at Leeshnrgh, in the connty aforvesaid, this 10th
day ot November, in the year of our Lord one thousund eight hnndred and soventy.

[SEAL] A, J. CASSADY,

Judge of the County Court af Sumler County,

8. J. BOUKNIGHT,
Deputy Clerk of the Civewit and County Conrts of Sumier County,

[sesL.] JOHN I, JONES,
Justice of the Peace of Sumter County.

No..—Muanatee County returns.
E.
Cerlificale of the county canvassers. (Seo seetion 24, act of Angust 6, 1368,)

S1are or Froniny, Manatee Counly :

“We, the undersigned, E, E. Mizell, judge of the connty eourt of the county stated,
John F, Bavtholf, elerk of the cirenit court of the connty aforesaid, and N. H, De Cos-
ter, 4 Justice of the pence of the county above mentioned, constituting the board of
county eanvassers in and for the county stated, do herehy certify that we met at the
oftice of the clerk of the cirenit conrt of the conunty aforesaid on the20th day of No-
vember, A, D 18370, and publieally eanvassed the votes given at a general election held .
in the connty of Muanates and State aforesaid on the 8th day of November, A, D, 1870,
the same heing the Tuesday next snceceding the first Monday in saidl month, nnder
and by virtue of an act entitled ¢ An aet to provide for the registration of electors and
the holding of elections,” up])ro\'(-(l August G, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, ap-
proved Febrinry 19, 1870, We'do hereby certify, from the returns on file in the oftice of
the clerk aforesaid —

That tho whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was one hun-

cdred and fifty-three (163 ;) Silas L. Niblack, one hundred and fifty-three (153.)

That the whole number of votes for lieutenant governor was one hundred and
forty-three (143 ;) W, D. Broxham, one hundred and twenty-nine, (120;) L. T, Day,
fourteen (14.) :

That the whole numberof votes east for sthte senator was one hundred and forty-nine,
(149,) as follows: Walter C. Malloney received one hundred and eight (108) votes,;
James D, Green received thirty-five (35) votes; and J, W, Locke received six (6)votos,

That the whole number of votes cast for member of assembly was one hundred and
forty, (140,) E. M. Graham,one hundred and thirty-three, (133;) A. W. Garner, five (5)
votes 5 J. W, Widden received two, (2.)

The votes cast for constables were as follows: ¥, W, Platt, sixteon (16) votes ; D,
Mizell, twenty-three (23 ;vntns; C. A. Turner, twenty (20) votes, :

Witness our hands and seals of oftice at Pine Level, iu the county aforesaid, this 20th
day vf November, in the year of our Lord 1870,

E. K, MIZELL,
Judge of the County Conrt of Manatee County.

[SEAL) ) JOHN F. BARTHOLF,
Clerk of the Circuit and County Court of Manatee County,

. _N. H. DECOSTER,
Justice of the Peace of Manatee County,
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I hereby certify the foregoing to Le a true copy of return of election held in Manatee
County on the 8th day of November, A. D, 1870, and of certitieate forwarded to the
governor and secretary of state, via the Manates post-office, December 1, 1870 ; and I
further certify that the cause of the deluy in eanvassing the returns was ocensioned by
the tailure on the part of the necessary officinls to attend when duly notified,

Given under my hand and seal, at Pine Level) this 4th day of Decomber A, D, 1870,

[SEAL.] J. F. BARTHOLF,

Bl Clerk Manatee County Court,

N. B.—Two precinets not represented 5 one hecanse of no election being held ; the
other, Fort Ogden, the veturns thrown out beenuse of irregularity in every respect.

State ov Fronrina, Office Sceretary of State, 88
I, Jonathan C. Gibbs, seerotary of state, do hereby cortify that the foregoing eertifi-
cate of the county ennvassers of Manatee County is o correct transcript of the original
now on file in this oftice,
Given under my hand and the great seal of the State of Flovida, at Tallnhassoe, the
capital, this 28th day of February, A, D, 1871,
JONATIHAN C. GIBRBS,

(skaL] Seeretury of State,

Cerlificate of the county canvassers,  (See seetion 24, act of Augyst 6, 186%,)

Srare or Fronina, Manatce County :

We, the undorsigned, E, E, Mizell, judge of the county court of the conuty stated, and
Joln 1%, Bartholf, clerk of the civenlt court of the county afovesnld, and N, i, DeCoster,
a justieo.of the pence of the conuty ubove montioned, constituting the board of connty
canvassers in and for the county stated, do horeby cortify that wo met at the office of
the clerk of the clrenit court of the connty ntoresaid on the st day of Decembor, A, D,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy, and publicly eanvassed the votes given at o
general election held in the connty ot Manateo and State aforesnid on the 8th day
of Novembor, in the year of our Lord one thousand ecight hundred and seventy, the
satie being the Tuesday noxt sneceeding the first Monday in said month, under and
by virtue of an act entitled ¢ An net to provide for the reglstration of electors nud the
holding of elections,” approved Aungust. 6§, 1364, and an - act amendatory theveto, ap-
proved Fobruavy 19, 1870, We do hereby certity, trom the returnson file in the otfice of
the clerk aforesaid—

That the whole' number of votes cast for Ropresentative in Congress was as fol-
lows, viz: one hundred and fifty-three, (153,) as follows, viz: Silas L. Niblack received
one hundred and fifty-three (163) votes.

That the whole number of votes cist for lieutenant governor was one hundred and
forty-three, (143,) as follows, viz: of which &, I\ Day received fonrteen (14,) amd Wil-
liam D, Bloxham received one hundred and twonty-nine (129) votes.

That the whole number of votes cast tor State senntor was one hundred and fifty-
nine, (169,) as follows, viz: Walter C, Mulloney* recoived one hnndred and cighteen
(118) votes; James P, Green received thirty-tive (35) votes; J. W, Locko recoived six

6) votes, i

( ’)l‘}m whole number of votes cast for member of assembly was one hundred and forty,
(140,) as follows, viz: E. M, Graham received one hundred and thirty-three (133) votes;
A. W, Garner received five (5) votes; J, W. Whidden received two (2) votes,

That the votes cast for constables wers as tollows, viz: T, M, Plette, sixteon (16)
votes; David Mizell received twenty-three (23) votes; C. A, Turner veceived twenty
(20) votes,

Witness our hands and seals of oftice, at Pino Level, in the connty aforesnid, this fivst
day of December, in the yo = of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and soventy,

[sBAL] E. B, MIZELL,

Judge of the County Court of Manatce County,
JOHN F, BARTHOLY,

) Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of Manatve County,
N. H. DECOSTER,

Juslice of the Peace of Manales County,
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No. 10.—Brevard County returns.
F.

Certificate of the county canvassers.  (See section 24, act of August 6, 18(38)}-‘

‘

STATE o Froriba, Brevard County :

We, the undersigned, James Paine, sr., judge of the connty court of the connty stated,
and Joseph Smith, clork of the cirenit court of the county nforesnid, and Joseph Smith,
a justice of the peacs of the connty above mentioned, constituting the bonrd of county
canvassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certify that we met at the ofiige of the
clerk of tha civenit court of the conuty aforesaid on the 11th day of November, A, D,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy, and publiely canvassed the votes given at o
general election held in the connty of Brevard and State aforesaid on the Sthiday of
November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, the same
being the Tuesday next sneceeding the fivst Monday in snid month, under and by virtue
of an act entitled “An act to provide for the vegistration of electors and the Yolding
of elections,” approved August 6, 1863, and an act amendatory thereto, approved Feb-
ruary 19, 1870, We do hereby certify, from the returns on file in the office of the elerk
atoresnid—

That the whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress was thivty thvee,
(33,) us follows, viz:  Silus L, Nibluek received thicty (30) votes; Josinh 1. Walls re-
ceived three (3) votes,

(State senator nong,)

That the whole nmher of votes east for lientenant governor was twenty-eight, S‘JH,)
as follows, viz: W. D, Bloxhim received twenty-five (256) votes; L. I Day received
three (3) votes,

The mumber of votes east for member of the assembly was thirty-five, (35,) as follows,
viz: Frank Smith received twenty-two (22) votes; Jumes Paine, sr., received thir-
teen (13) votes,

That the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: Willinm Gore received
thirteen (13) votes; Joseph M, Hopkinsg received twenty-two (22) votes; Allen Padgett
received twenty-three (23) votes; Augnst Pavk received twenty-three (23) votes,

Witness onr hunds and seals of oftice, at St, Lucie, in the county aforesaid, this cleventh
day of Novemher, in the year of our Lord one thonsand eight hundred aimd soventy.,

(No seal of county conrt or elerk of court,)

JAMES PAINE, Sr,

Judge of the County Court of Brevard County,

Three of the votes connted for member of Congress and leutenant governor were
written Niblack and Bloxham, no given nmne, which the county judge thinks is not
in accordance with the law,

No. 11.—F.xtract from senate journal,
A,

StTATE oF Frorina, Counly of Manatee:

I, John F. Barthoelf, clerk of the cirenit court in and for said county, do hereby
certify the following ix the result of votes polled at Fort Ogden, a precinet in snid
county, at un election held at said precinet on the 3th day of November, A, 1), 1870, as
per oviginal returns on file in this oftice :

The whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was as follows: 8.
L. Nibluck received 30 votes,

For lientenant governor, W, 1), Bloxham received 33 votes,

) For State senator, Walter C. Maloney received 338 votes; James 1), Greene received
2 votes,

. For member of the assembly @ E, M. Graham received 47 votes; A. W, Garner recoived
vote,

I further certify that the votes of said precinet were thrown out by the board of
conpty canvassers, and not ineluded in the return to the board of State canvassers, for
the following reasons, to wit.: .

1. It did not appear from the returns that the inspectora and elerk had heen sworn,

2, The ballots «‘i(l not agree with the certificate of result in this: one more vote
reported for Niblack than appears by the ballots; two votes less in the returns for
Bloxham than appears by the ballots; one vote less in the retyrus for E. M. Graham
than appears by the ballots; one vote more in the retnrns for Greene than appears by
the ballots. '
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3. The voters’ names on the registered list were not checked off, as required by law,

1 further certify that, from the appearance of the roturns and my acquaintance with
the inspectors and clerk, said errors were the result of ignorance, and not with
any frandulent intent or illegality, in mny opinion,

In witness whereof I have herennto set my hand and seal of offico, at Pine Level,
this 15th day of December, A. D, 1870,

{sBaL ] JOHN F. BARTHOLF,

Clerk Cirvenil Court,

B.

STATE oF Froripa, County of Manalee

Before me, elerk of the eirenit court in and for sald county, personally eame Samuel
P Youmnng, who, being duly sworn, deposeth and says that he was present at the
election held at Fort Ogden on the 8th day of November, A, D, 1870, and that he
knows, of his own knowledge, that the inspectors and elerk at sald election were regu-

Inrly sworn in according to lnw.
SAMUEL P. YOUMANS.

Sworn to and subseribed to before me this 14th day of December, A, 1), 1870,
JOHN I'. BARTHOLF,
Clerk Cirenit Court,

Stark or Fronioa, County of Manatee:

I, Jolm I, Bartholf, elerk of the civenit court din and for said county, do hereby
certify that I am well acqguainted with Samuel P, Yonmans, and that 1 know him to
he i\ respectablo citizen of Manatee County, and that his oath is entitled to full faith
and eredit.

Witness my haud and seal of oftice, at Pine Level, this 15th day of Decembor, A, D,
1570,

[sEAL] JOHN ¥, BARTHOLF,

Clerk Chrenit Court,
Starte oF 1FLorina, Ofice Seeretary of State, 8s

I, Jonnthan C, Gibhe. secrotary of state, do horeby certify that the foregoing is a
correct transeript of the ariginal now on file in this offee,

Given ander my hand and the great seal of the State of Florida, at Tallubassce, the
cupital, this 2dth day of Febrary, A, D, 1871,

[SKAL] JONATHAN C. GIBBS,

Secrctary of State.

No.12.—Testimony of Hon. Robert I, Gamble.

Thoe Hon, Roserr H, GaMiLE, being duly sworn, deposes and angwers as follows, to
the following questions, as follows, to wit:

Question first, Do yon know the parties to this contested election, to wit, Josiah T,
Walls nnd Silas L, Niblack ¢

He answers: I do, .

Question second, What is your ofiieial station, and with what duties wero you churged
by law then iun force in conneetion with the canvass of the votes east on the 8th duwy of
November lnst for the Representative in Congress from the State of Florida 7

He answars @ 1w comptroller of the State ot Florida, and waas a member of the board
of State canvassers of the election held on the 8th day of November lnst, and was
charged with the duties mentioned in section 28 of the act entitled “An act to provide
for the registration of electors and the holding ot elections,” approved Angnst 6, 1863,
and was present at the several megtings of the bonrd while engnged in canvassing the
vote, :

Question third, From what counties were the returns canvassed, and from what re-
jected, ituny 1 ‘

He answors: The returns were canvassed from the several counties mentioned in an
ofeind stutement of the returns of the goneral State clection held on the 8th day of
November, A, D. 1870, published in the Tullahassee Sentinel of Jannwry 14, 1871, re-
forred to in the testimony of the previous witness, and rejected from the counties of
Calhown, Tuylor, La Fayette, Suwanuee, Sumpter, Brevard, and Manatee. I am not
certain that the returns from Brevard were in, but think they wore. ‘

Qucs%i;m fourth, On what grounds were the returns from the counties last mentioned
rejecte
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He answers: Some of the returns wers rejected because of alloged informality as to
form, and some becuuse they were not in when the canvass commenced, to wit, on the
2Uth day of November, A, D. 1870, : .

Question fifth, Was their rejection the result of the unanimous aetion of the hoardf.

He answers: It was not; I objected to their rejection on mere technieal grounds,
when there were no allegations ot fraud and no evidence of' it on the face of the returns,
The majority persisting in rejecting the returns of the counties mentioned, I refused
to sign the official statement published in the Tallnhassee Sentinel of Junuary 14, A, D,
1871, ulready reforred to.

R. H. GAMBLE. -

StaTE oF Fronripa, Leon County : :

I, Charles K. Dyks, mayor of the eity of Tallnhassees, do hereby certify that the testi-
mony herewith teansmitted was tuken before me, nnd that the necompanying papers,
to wit, the notice of contest, answer of the returned member, notice of time of tuking
testimony, with proof of service, and subpena to withess, are true copies of the origi-
nals, and that the accompanying copy of the Tallnhassee Sentinel of January 14, 1871, iy
the copy of said paper identified by the witnesses as contnining the “official returns
for the State election held on the 8th day of November, A, D, 1870, as certifled to by the
State board of eanvassers,”

In testimony whercof T have herennto set my hand and aftixed the seal of said city
(l)f'l‘nllulms.-um, ut tho oflice of the mayor of ‘Tallnhassee, this 253th day of Febraary, A,

). 1871,

[skaL) C. E. DYKE,

. Mayor City Tullahassee,

No. 13.—Returns of the general State election,
{Ofitcial.]

Reterns for the generdl State election held on the 8th day of November, 4. D, 1870, as cerlified
to by the State board of canvassers,

We, Jonathan €, Gihbs, seeretary of state of Florida, Robert H. Gamble, comptrol-
ler of said State, and Sherman Conant, attorney general of said State, constitnting the
hoard of State canvassers, met at the oftice of the seceretary of state, at the capitol, at
Talluhassee, on the 27th day of Decombor, A, 1), 1870, pursuant to the several adjonrn-
ments as shown by the records, nnd proceeded to canvass the returns for the general
State election hold on the 8th day of November, A. D, 1870, from which canvass wo
find and certify that— -

SANTA ROSA COUNTY.,

Whole number of votes east for Represontative in Congress, five hundred and sixty,
(H603) of which Josinh T, Walls received two hundred and forty-six (246) votes, and
8. L. Niblack received thres hundred and fourteen (314) votes,

While number of votes cast for leutenanl governor, five hundred and sixty (H60)
votes; of which 8. T, Day received two hundred and Ii)rt-y-ﬂix (246) votes, mnd W. D,
Bloxham received threo hundred and fourteen (314) votes,

Whole number of votes east for State senator, five hundred and sixty-seven, (567 ;)
of which Willimin C. MceLean received two hundred and sixty-one (201) votes, and A,
L. MeCaskill veceived three hundred and six (306) votes,

Whole nnmber of votes cast for membor of the assembly, five hundred and soventy-
two, (h72;) of which John W, Butler received two hundred and eighty-six (286) votes
and R, R, Sheppard received two hundred and eighty-four (284) votes, and Hannibal
Rowe received two (2) votes; from which it is deggermined that John W, Butler has
been elected member of the ussembly from said county,

WALTON COUNTY.

Whole nutnber of votes cast for Ropresentative in Congress, four hundred and twenty-
two, (422 ;) of which 8. L. Niblack received three huudred and ninety-five (395) votes,
and J. T. Walls recoived twenty-seven (27) votes.

Whols number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, four hundred and twenty, (420;)
of which W, D, Bloxham received three hundred and ninety-three (393) votes, and 8.
T. Day received twenty-seven (27) votes.
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Whole number of votes east for State senator, four hundred and five, (405;) of which

A. L. McCaskill received three hundred and twenty-nine (320) votes, and Williaw C.
McLean received seventy-five (75) votes, and Robert (farett received one (1) vote.
. Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, four hundred and fifteen,
(415;) of which D, L. Campbell received two hundred and forty-four (244) votes, and
Daniel Campbell received sixty (60) votes, and Daniel McLeod received one hundred
and cleven Jlll) votes ; from which it is determined that 1), I, Campbell has been
elected member of tho assembly from said county, and from which two counties, Santa
Ross and Walton, the whole number of votes cast for State senator is nine hundred
and seventy-two, (972 ;) of which A, L. McCaskill received six hundred and thirty-five
(635) votes, and is determined elected Stato senator from the second senatorial dis-
trict, William C. McLean having received three handred and thirty-five (330) votes,
and Robert (larett one (1) vote,

ESCAMBIA COUNTY,

Whole number of votes cast for Repregentative in Congress, one thousand and nine,
(1,0093) of which Josinh T, Walls roceived five hundred and sixty-slght (668) votes,
snd 8. L. Niblack received four hundred and thirty-nine (439) votes, and Joseph 'T.
Walls recoivad one (1) vots, and N. L. Niblack received one (1) vote,

Whole number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, one thousand and thirteen,
(1,0133) of which Samuel T, Day received five hundred and seventy-two (572) votes,
sand W, D, Bloxham vecelved four hundred and forty-one (441) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, two thousind and four-
teen, (2,014;) of which James B, Roherts received four hundred and thirty-five (435)
votes, and R. A, Stearns received fonr hundred and twonty-eight (428) votes, and
Zoblum Elisha received four hundred and twenty-seven (427) votes, and Joseph B,
Vaughan received three hundred and ninety-nine (399) votes, and Asa B. Munn re-
ceived one hundred and eighty-six (186) votes, and 8, T, Pous recoived one hundred
and forty (140) votes; from which it is detertmined that James B, Roberts and R. A,
Stenrny have been elected members of the assembly for said county,

JACKSON (COUNTY,

Whole number off votes cast for Repressntadive in Congress, seventeen hnudred and
ffty-two, (1,762 ;) of which Josiah T, Walls received eight hundred and seventy-eight
(878) votes, und Silas L. Niblack received eight hundred and seventy-four (£74)
votes,

Whole number of votes cust for lieutenant governor, seventesn hundred and fifvy-
one, (1,761 5) of which W, D. Bloxham received eight hundred and seventy-seven (877)
votes, and &, 'T. Day roceived sight hundred and seventy-four (874) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for members of the assembly, five thousand two hun-
dred and forty-five, (5,245 ;) of which James C. McLean received eight hundred and
seventy-five (870) votes, and F. Barfield received eight hundred and eighty (880)
votes, and Benjamin ¥, Livingstone received eight hundred and seventy-two (372)
votes, and Jesse Robinson received eight hundred and seventy-two (872) votes; and
Andrew Scott received eight hundred and sixty-nine (869) votes, and William J.
Daniels recoived eight hundred and sixty-nine (869) votes, aud James W. McMillan
received oight (8) votes; from which it is determined that James . McLean and F.
Barfleld have been elected members of the assembly for said county, and that there ia
a tie vote for Benjamin F. Livingston and Jesse Robinsou,

HOLMES COUNTY.

Whols number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, one hundred and ninety-
nine, (199;) of which Silas L. Niblack received one hundred and uinety-three (193)
votes, and Joshua T. Walls received six (6) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for lisutenant governor, two hundred and five, (205 ;)
of which W. D, Bloxham received two hundred and one (201) votes, and Samuel T,
Day received four $4) votes.

Whole munber of votes cast for State senator, two hundred and six, (208 ;) of which
A. D. McKinnon received one hundred and nine (109) votes, and (James Paul received
ninety-seven {,97) votes.

" Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, two hundred and eleven
(211;) of which William F. Green received one hundred and twolve (112) votes, an
Daniel J. Brownell received seventy-two (72) votes, and Alhert Parish received
twenty-seven (27) votes; from which it is determined that William F, Green has
heen elected member of the assembly for said county.

H. Mis. 34 2
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WASHINGTON COUNTY,

Whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress, two hundred and sov-
enty, (270;) of which Silas L. Niblack recoived two hundred and soventy (270) votes,

Whole munboer of votos east for lisutenant governor, two hundred and seventy-three,
(2733 of which W, D, Bloxham received two handred and seventy-thres (273) votes,

W‘mln nutnber of votes cast for State sonator, two hundred and ssvonty-throe, (273 5)
of which A, D, MeKinnon received two hundred and sixty-two (262) votes, and Jamnes
Panl recsived eleven (11) votes,

‘Whole number of votes enst for member of assembly, two hundred and fifty, (230;)
of which Greenwood Worthington received two hundred and fitty (260) votes; from
which it is determined that Greenwood Worthington is elected a mumber of the assom-
bly for said county ; and from which two connties, Holmes and Washington, the whole
number of votes cast for State senator is four hundred and seventy-nine, (479;) of
which A, D, MeKinnon recoived three hundred and seventy-one (371) votes, and James
Panl received ons hundred and eight (103) votes; from which it is determined that A,
D. MeKinnon is elocted State senator for the fourth senatorial distriet.

FRANKLIN COUNTY.

Whole nnmber of votes enst for Represontative in Congress, two hundred and fiftoen,
215;) of whioch Silas L. Niblaek recoived one hundred aund thirty-four (134) votes, and
Josinh T, Walls recotved cighty-one (81) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for licutenant governor, two hundred and fourteen
(214;) of which W. D, Bloxham received one hundred and thirty-three (133) votes, and
Samuel T, Day received sighty-one (81) votes,

Whole numbeor of votes cast for membor of the asgembly, two hundred and twolve,
(212;) of which W, T\ Orman recoived ono hundred and thirty-eight (138) votes, and
Emanuel Smith received seventy-four (74) votes; from which it is determined that W,
T, Orman is slected membor of tho assetbly for said county.

GADSDEN COUNTY. -

Wholoe number of votes east for Representative in Congress, sixteen hundred and
olghty-three, (1,683;) of which Josiali I, Walls received eight hundred and forty-six
(846) votes, and Silas L. Niblack received eight hundred and thirty-seven (837) votes,

Whole number of votes east for lHeutenant governor, sixteen hundred-and eighty-
five, (1,6853) of which 8, T\ Day received cight hnudred and forty-eight (848) votes,
and Willimm D. Bloxham received eight hundred and thirty-seven (837) votes,

Whole numnber of votes cast for Stute sonator, sixteen hundred and eighty, (1,6803)
of which Fredorick Hill reccived eight hnndred and forty-seven (847) votes, and R.
H. M. Davidson recoived eight hundred and thirty-two (832) votes, and 8, Fleishman
received one (1) vote. .

. Whole number of votes east for members of the assembly, thirty-three hundred and

fifty-nine, (3,350 ;) of which M, L, Stearns receivod cight hundred and forty-eight (848)
votes, and Hwrry Cruiso received oight hundred and forty-six (846) votes, and 1, N,
Henley rocoived eight hundred and thirty-thice (833) votes, and J, Vanlapdingham
roeeived eight hundred and thirty-two (8332) votes; trom which it is determined that
M. L. Stearns and Harry Cruiso arve elected members of the assembly for said county,
and that Fredevick Hill is elected State senator for tho sixth sanatorial distriet,

LIBERTY COUNTY,

Whole numinber of votes east for Representative in Congress, two hundred, (200;) of
which 8, L. Niblack received one ldred and thirty-four (134) votes, and Josiah T.
Walls received sixty-six (66) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, two hundred, (200 ;) of whieh
W. D, Bloxhat received one hundred and thivty-four (134) votes, and Samuel T, Day
received sixty-six (66) votes,

Whole nnmber of votes cast for member of the assembly, one hundred and ninety-
ssven, (197;) of which W, R. Bradwaell recoived ninety-tive (95) votes and W. M, C, Nonl
received ons hundred and two (102) votes; from wlx]ch it is determined that W, M. C.
Neal is olected member of the assembly for said county.

WAKULLA COUNTY,

Whole number of votescast for Representative in Congress, four hundred and soventy-.
nine, (479;) of which Silas L. Niblack received three hundred and one (301) votes, and
Josinh T, Walls received one hundred and seventy-cight (178) votes.

Whole ntumber of votes cast tor lieutenant governor, four hundred and seventy-nine,
(4793;) of which W, D, Bloxham received thres hundred and one (301) votes, and
Samuel T, Day received one hundred and seventy-eight (178) votes.
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Whole number of votes east. for member of the assembly, four hundred and sixty,
(460 ;) of which William Mc¢Rae received two hundred and seventy-seven (277) votes,
and Rupert Charles received one hundred and seventy-eight (178) votes, and Almon
Levy received five (5) votes, from which it is determined that Willinm McRea is elected
member of the assembly for said county,

LEON COUNTY,

Whole numher of votes ¢ast for Representative in Congress, two thousand one hun-
dred and tive, (2,105 :? of which Josiah T, Walls received fifteen hnudred and forty-three
(1,543) votes, and Silas L. Niblack received five hundred and sixty-two (h62) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for lisutenant governor, twenty-one hundred and six,
(2,106:) of which Samuel T\ Day received fonrteen hundred and fifty-one (1,451) votes,
and Williamn D, Bloxham received six hundred and fitty-five (655) votes. .

Whols number of votes east for State senator, two thonsand and thirty-three, (2,033 ;)
of which Charles 1. Pearce received thirteen hundred and cighty-threo (1,383) votes,
und James Page received six handred and fifty (650) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, seven thousand four hun-
dred and fifty-three, (7,463 ;) of which John W, Wyatt reeeived thirteen hundred and
eighty-six, (1,386) votes, and Richard H, Wells recoived thirteen hundred and eighty-two
(1,38:2) votes, and Nonh Greaham received thirteen hundred and eighty (1,380) votes, and
John Wallaeo received thirteen hundred and twenty-two (1,322) votes, and Henry Sut-
ton received four hundred and eighty-four (484) votes, and Andrew DeCoursey received
four hundred and seventy-fives (476) votes, and John E. Proctor received four hundred
and soventy-two (472) votes. and Qadsden Twine vecelved four hundred and sixty-four
(464) votes, and Willinm Pells received fifty-eight (68) votes, and Alfred Cobb receoived
twonty-two (22) votes, nnd H. Graham received four (4) votes, and Honry Manego re-
ceived two (2) votes, and Philip DeCousey received ono gl? vote, and J. J, Williams
received one (1) vote; from which it is determined that John W, Wyatt, Richard H.
Wells, Noah Graham, and Jolin Walluee are elected members of the asssembly for said
county, and Cliarles 11 Pearee is elected stutesenator for the eighth senatorial distriet,

JEFFERSON COUNTY,

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, nineteen hundred and
twenty, (1,9205) of which Josinh T Walls veceived thirteen hundred and seventy-four
(1,374) votes, nnd Silng Nibluck received five hundred and forty-six (540) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lisutenant governor, nineteen hundred and twenty,
(1,920 ;) of which Snmuel 'I'Y Day received thirteen hundred and seventy-three (1,873)
votes, and William D, Bloxham recsived five hundred and forty-seven (547) votes.

Whole nnmber of votes east for members of the assembly, five thousand soven han-
dred and thirty-four, (5,734 ;) of which James W, Johnson received thirteen hundred
and seventy-four (1,371{) votes, and Washington Thompson received thirteen hundred
and seventy-three (1,373) votes, and Alfred H, MeCann receivedfive hundred and forty-
two (642) votes, and J, P, Gravtham recelved five hundred and thirty-nine (6539) votes,
and WllHum Norco received four hundred and forty-seven (447) votes, and Emory
Brooks received eighty-five (85) votes, and Ephraim Logan received thirteon hundred
and seventy-four (1,374) votes; from shich it is determined that James W, Johnson,
Ephraim Logan, and Washington Thompson ave elected members of the nssembly for
said county.

MADISON COUNTY,

Whole ninuher of votes cast for Representative in Congress, eighteen hundred and
sixty-four, (1,864 ;) of which Josiah T\ Walls received twelve hundred and thivty-nine
(1,239) votes, and Silas L, Niblack received six hundred and twenty-five (025) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, eighteen hundred and sixty-five,
(1,865;) of which Sumuel T, Day received twelve hundred and thirty-nine (1,239) votes,
and W, D). Bloxham received six hundred and twenty-five (626) votes, and H. 8. Har-
mon received one (1) vote,

Whole number of votes cast for State senntor, eighteen hundred and sixty-four,
(1,864 ;) of which Dennis Egan received twelve hnndred and thivty nine (1,239) votes,
and W, James Hines received six hundred and twenty-tive ((25) votes.

Whole number of vetes east for members of the assembly, thirty-seven hundred and
twenty-oight, (3,728;) of which Alfred B. Osgood received twelve hundred and thivty-
seven (1,237) votes, and -Oliver J. Coleman received twelve hundred and forty-two
(1,242) votes, and J. F. Bythwood received six hundred and twenty-five (626) votes,
and J, K. Williams received six hundred and twenty-four (624) votes; from which it is
determined that Alfred B, Osgood and Oliver J. Coleman are elected members of the
ussembly for said county, and Dennis Egan is elected State senator for the tenth sena-
torial district, .
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HAMILTON COUNTY.

Whole number of votes cnst for Representative in Cou;{ress, five huundred and sixty,
(560 ;) of which Silas L. Niblack reesived four hundred and thirty (430) votes, and
Josiah T. Walls rocoived one hundred and thirty (130) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for licutenant governor, five hundred and sixty-one,
(561 3) of which William D, Bloxham received four hundred and twenty-nine (429)
votes, and Samuel T, Day received one hundred and thirty-two (132) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for State senator, five hundred and fifty-six, (556;) of
which Robort W. Adams received tour hundred and twenty-two (422) votes, and Charles
T, Irwin received one hundred and thirty-four (134) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, five hundred and forty-
eight, SMS;) of which William P, Frink received four hundred and sixteen (416) votes,
and Williamn J. Lee received one hundred and thirty-one (131) votes, and J. H. Peterson
received ona (1) vote ; fromn which it is determined that Willinm P, Frink is elected
metber of the assemhly for said county.

ALACHUA COUNTY,

Whole numbor of votes cast for Representative in Congress, nineteen hundred and
sovonty-five, (1,975;) of which Jusial T. Walls received twelve hundred and eighty-
ono 81,281) votes, and 8, L, Niblack received six hundred and ninety-four (694) votes,

Whole nuinber of votes east for licutenant governor, nineteen hundred and seventy-
seven, (1,977;) of which Samuel 1. Day received twelve hundred and seventy-five
(1,275) votes, and W, D, Bloxham received seven hundred and two (702) votes,

Whole number of votes east for Statesenator, nineteen hundred and fifry-nine, (1,959 ;)
of which Leonard G. Daniels received twelve hundred and forty-eight (1,243) votes,
and James H, Ropor received seven hundred and eleven (711) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for members of the assembly, three thousand eipiht hun-
dred and eighty, (3,820 ;) of which William K. Cessna received twelve hnndred and
fifty (1,250) votes, and Theodore C, Gass received twelve hundred and fifty-six (1,266)
votes, and William Edwards received six hundred and ninety-two (692) votes, and
Archibald T. Banks received six hundred and eighty-two (682) votes; from which it

" is determined that Willinm K. Cessnn and Theodore ¢! Gass are eleeted members of
the assombly for said county. -

LEVY COUNTY,

Whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress, four hundred and one,
(4013) of which Silas I, Niblack received threo hundred and fifteen (315) votes, and
Josinh T. Walls received cighty-six (86) votes.

Whole numbor of votes cast for licutenant governor, four hundred, (400;) of which
W. D, Bloxham recoived three hundred and two (302) votes, and Samuel T, Day re-
coived ninety-eight (U8) votes. )

Whole number of votes east for Statssenator, three hundred and eighty-three, (333 ;)
of which J. H. Roper received two hundred and ninety-six (296) votes, and L. G.
Dennis received eigxlty-seven (87) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for member of thé assembly, three hundred and seventy-
seven, (377 ;) of which Charles F. Hiers reccived two hundred and eighty-one (281)
votes, and Washington Rogers received ninety-six (96) votes; from which it is doeter-
mined that Charley 1, Hiers is elected member of the assembly for said connty, and
L. ¢, Deunis is elected State senator for the thirteenth senatorial district, L. ¢t Dennis
having received thirteen hundred and thirty-five (1,335) votes, James H, Roper having
recoived ten hundred and seven (1,007) votes.

The whole nummber of votes cast for said offices of State senator for said distriet
being twenty-three hundred and forty-two, (2,342.)

COLUMBIA COUNTY.

Whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress, eleven hundred and
eighty-one, (1,181;) of which Silas L. Nibluck received six hundred and ninety-four
(694) votes, and Josiah T, Walls received four hundred and eighty-seven (487) votes,

Whole munber of votes east for lientenant governor, eleven hundred and ninety-
six (1,196 ;) of which William D. Bloxham received six hundred and eighty (680) votes,
and Samuel T. Day received five hundred and sixteen (516) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for State senator, ¢leven hundred and seventy-seven,
1,177;) of which Charles H. Ross received six hundred and eighty-six (686) votes, and
dlisha G, Johnson received four hundred and ninety-one (491) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, twenty-three hundred and

sixty-three, (2,363;) of which William M. Duke received six hundred and eighty-five
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(685) votes, sl Audrew J. Flowoets recoived six hundred and ecighty-one (631) votes,
and John P, Mahoney received five hundred and one (501) votes, and Isainh H. Arm-
strong received four hundred and ninety-six (496) votes; from which it is determined
that William M. Duke and Andrew J. Flowers are elected members of the assembly
for said county, and Charles H. Rosy is elected State senator for the fourteenth sena-
torial district.

BRADFORD COUNTY.

Whole number of votes enst for Representative in Congress, six hundred and one,
(601 ;? of which Silas 1., Niblack received four huandred and fitty-cight (468) votes, and
Josiah T Walls received one hundred and forty-three (143) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lleuntenant governor, six hundred and five, (605;) of
which Willilam D, Bloxham reesived four hundred and fifty-three (453) votes, and
Samuol T, Day received one hundred and fifty-two (152) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, five hundred and ninety-
six, (596;? of which Lemuel B, Rhodes received four hundred and forty-nine 3449)
votes, and J, B, Varne received five (5) votes, and Washington Ebron received one huu-
dred and thirty-four (134) votes, and Washington Bradwell received eight votes;
from whieh it is determined that Lemnel B, Rhodes i elected membor of the agsem-
bly for said county.

CLAY COUNTY,

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, two hundrved and thivty-
fonr §234 1) of which 8, L. Niblack recoived one hundred and eighty-seven (187) votes,
and J. T, Walls received forty-seven (47) votes,

Whole number of votes cast tor leutenant governor, two hundred and thivty-five,
(2353;) of which W, D, Bloxham recelved one hundred and seventy-seven (177) votes,
and 8. T, Day received fifty-eight (58) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, two hundred and twenty-
8iX, (226 ;) of which Wm. Hull received one hundred and three (103) votes, and W,
Decler received soventy-nine (79) votes, and Lewis Wilson received forty-two (42)
votes, and H, Bram received two (2) votes; from which it is determined that Wm,
Hull is elected member of the assembly for said county.

A

BAKER COUNTY,.

Whole nuuiber of votes east for Ropresentative in Congress, two hundred and twelve,
(212;) of which 8. L, Nibluck received one hundred and seventy-six (176) votes, and
J. T. Walls recoived thirty-six §36) votes,

Wholo number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, two hundred and eleven, (211;)
of which W, D, Bloxham received one hundred and seventy-five (175) votes, and 8. T,
Day received thirty-six (36) votes.

Whole number of votes east for State senator, two hundred and eight, (208;) of
which J, M, Bennett received one hundred and seventy-five (175) votes, and Liberty
Billings received thirty-three (33) votes, ' .

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, two hundred and eleven,
(211;) of which J. D, Chalker received one hundred and seventy-thres (173) votes,
and J. W, Howaell received thirty-cight (38) votes; from which it is determined that J.
D). Chalker is eleeted member of the assembly for said county.

NASSAU COUNTY.

Whole number of ‘votes cast for Represenfative in Congress, eight hundred and sov-
enty-nine, (8793) of which Josiah T, Walls recoived five hundred and ten (510) votes,
and Silas L. Niblack received thres hundred and sixty-nine (369) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for leutenant governor, eight hundred and eighty, (880;)
of which Samuel T. Day received five hundred and thirteen (513) votes, and W. D,
Bloxham recoived three hundred and sixty-seven (367? votes.

Whole number of votes cast for State senntor, eight hundred and seventy-four, (874;)
of which Liberty Billhigs received five hundred and eleven (511) votes, and Jumes
M. Bannett received three hundred and sixty-thres (363) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for membor of the assembly, eigli’ hundred and seventy-
five, (876;) of which Samuel Boyd received four hundred and ninety-nine (499) votes,
and John Owens roceived three hundred and sixty-four (364) votes, and Albert Roynolds
received eleven (11) votes, and W. D, Bloxham received one (1) vote; from which it
is determined thut Sainuel Boyd is elected member of the assembly for said county, and
that Liberty Billings i3 elected State senator for the sixteenth senatorinl district,
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ST, JOHN'S COUNTY.

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, tive huundred and
twenty-two, (H22;) of which Silas L. Niblack received three hundred and twenty-six
(326) votes, and 8. L. Niblack received thirteen (13) votes, and Josiah T. Walls re-
ceived one hundred and eighty-threo (183) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for licutenant governor, five hundred and twenty-two,
(622;) of which W, M, Bloxham received three hundred and thirty-nine (399) votes,
and William D. Bloxam received one (1) vote, and Samuel T. Day received oune hundred
and eighty-one (181) votes, and Sam. I'. Day reccived one (1) vote.

Wh(l;]c number of votes cast for member of the assembly, five hundred and twenty
three, (523;) of which B. F. Oliveros received three hundred and twenty-five (323)
votes, and Bartola Oliveros received one (1) vote; and Oliveros received one
(1) vote, and Andrew Anderson received one hundred and ninety-six (196) votes;
from which it is determined that B, F. Oliveros is eleeted member of the assembly for
said county.

PUENAM COUNTY,

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, four hundred and
twenty-two, (4223) of which Josiah I Walls received two hundred and twenty-nine
(229) votes, and S, L. Nibluck received one hundred and ninety-three (193) votes,

Whole number of votes east for lientenant governor, four hundred and twenty-two,
(422;) of which Samuel T\ Day received two hundred and twenty-nine (229) votes, and
W. D. Bloxham received one hundred and ninety-three (193) votes,

. Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, four hundred and twenty-
two, (422;) of which Calvin Gillis received two hundred and forty-three (243) votes,
and F, M, MeMeekin received one hundred and seventy-nine (179) votes; from which
itis determined that Calvin Gillis is elected member of the assembly for said county,

DUVAL COUNTY,

Whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress, thirteen hundred and
sixty-nine, (1,3693) of which Josinh 'I'. Walls received eight hundred and ninety-cight
(898) votes, and 8. L. Niblack received four hundred and seventy-one (471) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lientenant governor, thirteen hundred and sixty-six,
(1,366 ;) of which Sumuel T, Day reccived nine hundred and four (904) votes, and W,
D. Bloxham reeeived four hundred and sixty-two (462) votes,

Whole number of votes east for State senator, thirteen hundred and thirty-five,
(1,335 ) of which Willinm H. Christy received eight hundred and sixty-nine (869) votes,
and Horatio Jenking, jr., reecived four hundred and sixty (460) votes, and T, O, Allen
received six (6) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, thirteen bundred and forty-
five, (1,345 ;) of which John R, Scott received eight hundred and sixty-three (863) votes,
and Daniel MeInnes received eight hundred and thirty-nine (839) votes, and H, H. Hoeg
received four hundred and seventy (4709 votes, and Miles Price received four hundred
and sixty-four (44) votes, and Emanuel Fortune received forty-three (43) votes, and
C. B. Simmons received seven (7) votes, and J. Jackson received three (3) votes, and
E. B, Simmons received one (1) vote; from which it is determined that John R. Scotd
and Daniel MeInnes are clected members of (he assembly for suid county, and that
William H. Christy is clected State senator for the eighteenth-senatorial district.

MARION COUNTY.

Whole number of votes east for representative in Congress, fourteen hundred and
thirty-five, (1,435;) of which Josiah I Walls received ten hundred and tifty-eight (1,058)
voteys, and Silas L, Niblack received three hundred and seventy-seven (377) votes.

Whole number of votes east for lieutenant governor, fourteenhundred and thirty-four.
(1,434 ;) of which Sumuel T. Day received ten liundred and fifty-seven (1,067) votes, an(i
W. D. Bloxham received three hundred and seventy-seven (377) votes, ' Whole number of
votes cast for members of the assembly, twenty-six hundred and eighty-eight, (2,688;)
of which William H. Daniels received ten hundred and twenty-five (1,02(:} votes, and
Bcipio T. Jasper received ten hundred and forty-one (1,041) votes, and Samuel O.
House received four hundred and one (401) votes, and Henderson Harvey received two
hundred and twenty (220) votes, and Samuel Small received one (1) vote; from
which it is determined that William H, Daniels and Scipio T, Jasper are elected mem-
bers of the assembly for said county.
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ORANGE COUNTY.

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congroess, thres hnndred and forty-
one, (341;) of which Silas L. Niblack received three hundred and twenty-four (324)
votes, and Josinh T, Walls received seventeen (17) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lieutenant governor, three hinndred and forty-four,
(344;) of which W, D. Bloxham roeceived two hundred and ninety-nine (209) votes,
and Samuel T. Day received forty-five (45) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for State senator, three hinndred and twenty-three, (323 ;)
of which Arthur Ginn received two hundred and thirty-four (234) votes, and W, B.
Watson received forty-one (41) votes, and W, 8, Delk received forty-eight (48) votes,
Whole number of votes east for member of the assembly, three hundred and twenty-
geven, (327 ;) of which Willinm Mills received two hundred and fifty-one (251) votes,
and W. C. Ropor received suventy-six (76) votes; from which it is determined that
William Mills is elected member of the assembly for said county.

VOLUSIA COUNTY.

Whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress, two hundred and forty-
soven, (247 ;) of which Silas L. Nibluck received one hundred-and eighty-four (184)
votes, and Josiah T, Walls received sixty-three (63) votes, :

Whole number of votes cast for licutenant governor, two hundred and forty-eight,
(248;) of which W, D. Bloxham received one hundred and eighty-threo (183) votes,
and Samuel T. Day received sixty-five (65) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for State sonator, two hundred and twenty-five, (225 ;
of which Wm, B. Watson received one hundred and four (104) votes, and Arthur
Ginn received forty-five (45) votes, and Williaw 8. Delk received two (2) votes, and
James D, Stark received seventy-four (74) votes.

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, two hundred and thirty-
soven, (237;) of which A, H. Alexander reccived one hundred and seventeen.(117)
votes, and L B, Osteen received sixty-seven (67) votes, and Briston Goodin received
fifty-two (62) votes, and Henry G. Lemgren received one (1) vote; from which it is
determined that A, H. Alexander is clected member of the assembly for said county,
and that Arthur Ginn is elected State senator for the twentieth senatorial district.

]llLl;SB()ROU(Hl COUNTY.

Whole number of votes east for Representative in Congress, four hundred and sixty,
(460 ;) of which Silas L. Niblack received three hundred and seventy-three (373) votes,
and Josiah T\ Walls received cighty-seven (87) votes.

Whole number of votés cast for licutenant governor, four hundred and fifty-six,
(456 3) of which William D, Bloxham reeeived thres hundred and sixty-five (365) votes,
and Samuel I, Day received ninety-one (91) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for State senator, four hundred and fifty-five, (455;) of
which Jolm A, Henderson received three hundred and fifty-nine (359) votes, and J. S.
Coogler received fifty (50) votes, and B. T, Cowart received forty-six (46) votes.

Whole number of votes ‘cast for member of the asseinbly, four hundred and forty-
five, (445 ;) of which Joseph Brown received three hundred and tifty-cight (358) votes,
and James R. Hay received eighty-seven (87) votes; from whichit is determined that
Josoph Brown is elected member of the assembly for said county.

HERNANDO COUNTY.

Whole number of votes cast tor Representative in Congress, four hundred and fifty
(4503) of which Silas L. Niblack received three hundred and eighteen (318) votes, and
Josiah T, Walls rgceived one hundred and thirty-two (132) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for lieutonant governor, four hundred and forty-seven,
(447 ;) of which W, D. Bloxham received threo hundred and thirteen (313) votes, and
Samuel T. Day received one hundred and thirty-four (134) votes, :

Whole number of votes cast for State senator, four hundred and forty-three, (443;)
of which John A. Henderson received two hundred and filty-four (254) votes, and T,
8. Coogler recoived one hundred and cighty-seven (187) votes, and B, T. Cowart re-
coived two (2) votes,

Whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly, four hundred and thirty-
five, (435;) of which E. A Allen received two hundred and seventy-two 3272) votes,
and ¥, E. S8axon received one hundred and thirty-nine (139 votes, and William L, Fri-
erson received cightoen (18) votes, and H. Fabian recelved six (6) votes; from which
it is determined that E. A, Alleu is elected member of the assembly for said county, and
?l!l(i that John A. Henderson is elected State senator for the twenty-sccond senatorial

istrict.
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POLK (COUNTY,

Whole ntther of votes cast for Representatives in Congress, two hundred and eighty-
four, (284;) of which 8. L. Niblack received two hundred and eighty-four (284) votes,

Whole number of votes east for lieutenant governor, two hundred and eighty-four,
(2684 ;) of which W, D. Bloxham received two hundred and eighty-four (284) votes,

Whole number of votes cust for member of the assembly, two hundred and sixty-two,
(%62;) of which W. M. Hendry received ous hundred and twenty-three (123) votes;
and J. W, Bryaut received one -hundred and fifteen (115) votes, and R, K. Blunt re-
ceived fourteen (14) votes, and R. N. Pilant received cight (8) votes, and Johin McAu-
lay received two (2) votes; from which it is determined that W. M. Hendry is elected
* member of the assembly for said connty.

From which it also appears by the returns that the entire vote cast for lientenant
governor was twenty-four thousand two bundred and seventy-eight, (24,278,) of which
namber Samuel T. Day received twelve thousand four hundred and forty-six (12,446)
votes, and is hereby declared elected; and it further appears that for member of Congress
the entire voto cast was twenty-four thousund two hundred and fifty-one, (24,251)) of
which number Josinh T, Walls received twelve thonsand four hundred and thirty-nine
(12,439) votes, and is hereby declared elected, and we hereby certify the same,

Done this 27th day of December, A, 1 1870,

JONATHAN C. GIBBS,

Sceretary of State.,
SHERMAN CONAN'T,
. Atorney General,

OFFICE OF SBECRETARY OF STATE,
Tallahassee, Florida, December 29, 1870,
I, Jonathan C. Gibbs, seeretary of state, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a
correct transeript of the original now on file in this oftice,
Given under my hand and the great aenl of the State of Florida, at Talluhassee, the
capital, this 20th day of December, A, D, 1870,
: JONATHAN C. GIBBS,

[s1an.]
: Seerelary of Slale,

No. I4—Return from La Fayette County.
4
Cerlificate of the counly canvassers,  (Seve section 24, acl of August 6, 1868.)

State or Froripa, La Fayette County :

- We, the undersigned, William D, Seavs, sherift of the connty stated, and John C.
Ponchier, clerk of the cireuit court of the county aforesaid, and Reder B, Hill, a jus-
tice of the peace of the county above mentioned, constituting the hoard of county
eanvassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certify that we met at the office of
the clerk of tho circuit court of the county aforesnid, on the 234 day of December, A.
D. one thousand sight hundred and seventy, and publicly canvassed the votes given
at a general election held in the county of La Fayette and State aforesaid, on the eighth
day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
the same heing the Tuesday next succeeding the first Monday in said month, under and
by virtue of an act entitled “ An act to provide for the registration of electors and
the holding of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto,
approved February 19, 1870.  We do hereby certify, from the returns én file in the office
of the clerk aforesaid— .

That the whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress was one hun-
drel and fifty-two (162) votes, ns follows, viz:  Silas L. Niblack received one hundred
and fifty-two (1562) votes, N

That the whole number of votes cast for lieutenant governor was one hundred and
thirty-eight (138) votes, as follows, viz: William D, Bloxham received one hundred
and thirty-cight (138) votes, :

That the whole number of votes cast for State senator was one hundred and forty-
8ix (146) votes, as follows, viz: John N. Krimniinger received one hundred and five
(105) votes; John fButor received forty-one (41) votes,

That the whole nnmber of votes cast for member of the assembly was one hundred
and forty-two (142) votes, na follows, viz: Willinm 1), Bears received one hundred
(100) votes 5 Duniel M. McCalpin received forty-two (42) votes.
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That the votes cast for constubles were_us follows, viz: John Locklier received
seventy-seven (77) votes ; Stephen 1. Slade received seventy (70) votes ; John M.
Peacock received forty-two (42) votes,

Witness our hands and seals of office at Now Troy, in the county aforesaid, this 23d
day of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand cight hundred and seventy-one.

WM. 1. SEARS,
Sheriff of La Fayetle County.

Clerk of the Cireuit and County Cowrts of ~ Co’unty.
REDER B. HILL,
Justice of the Peace of Lalayette County.

N. B—Tho canvassers should meet at the office of the clerk, on or before the sixth
day after tho clection, to canvass the votes,

In case of the absence, sickness, or other disability of the county judgo or clerk,
the sherift’ shall act in his place.

The certificnto must be gigned in duplicate, and must contain, in words and figures
wrilten at full length, the whole nnmber of votes Ziven for each oftice, the names of the
persons for whom such votes were given for such oftice, and the numbher of votes given
to cach person for such office.

The clerk of the circuit court should record the eertificate in the book required by
law to be kept for that purpose.

One of the certificates shall be immediately transmitted, by mail, to the secretary of

state, and the other to the governor of the State,

StaTE o Froriba, La Fayelte County :

We, the undersigned, Willinm D. Sears and Reder B, Hill, do hereby cortify that thoe
within is a truo copy of the proceedings of the canvass under the mandamus issued by
his honor the judge of the third judicial circuit for the State of Florida, this the 13th
day of March, A, D, 1871,

WM. D. SEARS,
Sheriff.
REDER B. HILL.

Srare ov Froriva, La Fayette County : )
I, Howell Hawkins, clerk of the'cirenit court for the county of La Fayette, do certify
that the within is a true copy of the record as found in my offico, whercof I Liave

heveunto set my hand and seal of office, this the 18th day of Mareh, A, D. 1871,
HOWELL HAWKINS,

. Clerk of the Circuit Court.
H. Mis, 34——3
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42p CoNGRESS, | HOUSE OF REPRESEN TATIVES. { Mis. Doc. 34,
 2d Session. } Part 2,

5. Lo NIBLACK vy J0 T WALLS,

ADDITIONAL PAPERS

IN THE CASE OF

SILAS L. NIRLACK vs JOSIAH T. WALLS,

OF THE STATE O' FLORIDA,

EVIDENCE OF CONTESTANT,

Srary or Froriba, Duval County, ss:

To Frank B, Little, James M. Daniels, William H. Lo Cain, George W,
Calder, dohn Buckler, Eli Haworth, John IV, Rollins, John R. Hogans,
Charles L. Mather, Jerome C. Andrew, George 11, Johuson, George
W, Brice, and Benjamin Upton: .

You aud each of you are hereby commanded that, laying aside all
business and excuses, you and each of you appear in your proper per-
son before me, Joseph H. Durkee, a notary public in and for said State
and county, at the hour of 10 o’clock, a. m., on the 20th day of March
instant, to testify all and singular those matters and things which you,
or cither of you, know in the case of a contested clection, wherein Silas
L. Niblack, as contestant, contests the election and seat of Josiah T,
Walls, as member of the Forty-second Congress of the United States
from the State of Iflorida, and in order that yon may be then and there
examined respecting the said contested election in the manner provided
by the laws of the United States,

And this you shall in nowise omit under the penalty provided by
law. -
Witness my hand and seal of office this the 15th day of March, A, D,
1872,

[S1EAL.] JOSERPH H, DURKEE,

Notary Public.

Served the within writ by stummoning the following parties: John
F. Rollins, F. K. Little, Eli Haworth, George H. Johnson, J, C. Andrew,
Charles L. Mather, George W. Brice, John R. Hogans, J. M. Daniel,
(ieorge W. Calder, and Benjamin Upton, this 20th Mareh, 1872,

W. M. LEDWITH,
Sherift of Dueal County, Floridu.

S8TATE OF FLORIDA, County of Duval, ss: : .
Before me personally came Wilkingon Call, of the firm of Call &
Bassnett, attorneysatlaw, who, being duly sworn, deposes and says,
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that Silas L. Niblack, contestant for a seat in the House of Representatives
of the United Statesof Americs: for the Forty-second Congress, in which
Silas L. Niblack is contestant and Josiah T, Walls is incumbent, gave
notice to said Walls that he should take testimony in the above-entitled
case at Jacksonville, Florida, on the 20th of March, 1872, and from day
to day thereafter until the witnesses subpanaed were examined ; that
said notice was sent to this deponent by the said Niblack, and wag
presented to Joseph I Durkee on the 15th day of March, 1872, and the
said Durkee was requested to issue subpeenas, as a notary publie, for
the witnesses named in the said notice; and that, on the 20th day of
March, 1872, when the examination of withesses was begun, the said
notice could vot be found by this deponent, it having been lost or mis.
laid in the mean time,
WILKINSON CALL.

Sworn to and sahserihed before me this 7th day of April, A, D. 1872,
[MEAL FRANK E. LITTLE,
Notary Publie, Duval County, Flovida.

S1AaTE oF Frowina, Dural County :

Be it remmembered that, on this 20th day of March, A, D, 1872, 1, Joseph
11, Durkee, a notary publie, duly appointed and commissioned by the
governor of the State of Florvida, in licu of Houn, William A, McLean,
county judge of Duval County, Florida, unable to be present, did call
and causesto be and personally appear before me, at my oftice in Reed’s
new block, in the city of Jacksonville, Florida, Eli Haworth, to testify
and the truth to speak in behalt of the contestant for a seat in the
tiouse ot Representatives of the United States of America for the
Forty-second Congress, wherein Silas L. Niblack is contestant and
Josiah T Walls incumbent; and the said Err HAaworerir, being duly
sworn, deposes and says, in answer to contestant’s questions @

Question 1. What is your name and residenco ?—Answer. My name
is Kli Haworth, [ reside at Mayport, Duval County, Florida,

Q. 2. Were you present at Mayport precinet, in Duval County,on the
Sth day of November, 1370, at an election for Representative in Con-
gress!—.N\. 1 was present at said election, :

Q. 3. Did you act in any ofticial capacity at said election, and if so,
what -— A, 1 acted as one of the inspectors of eleetion at Mayport pre-
cinet, Duval County, Florida, on that day.

Q. 1. Do you recolleet the number of votes east at said precinet for
member of Congress, and for whom cast 2—A. I cannot state exactly
the number of votes cast, but according to my recollection there were
between 35 and 38 votes east, [ think 36 or 37 was the number, and
according to my recollection 8 or 10 of those votes were for Josiah T.
Walls tor member of Congress, and the balance were for Silas L.
Niblack for member of Congress. I think 8 is the exact number of
votes cast for Josiah T, Walls for member of Congress,

Q. 5. Was the return of the votes cast at said precinet made out and
returned-to the county judge and clerk of the circuit court in duplicate,
as required by law ?—A, 1 suppose that it was, and 1 know nothing to
the contrary up to this time.

Q. 6. How many inspectors were there at said precinct, and what
were their names ?—A, There were three—Eli Haworth, John F. Rol-
lins, and John R, Hogans. :
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Q. 7. Was theve a clerk of said election, and if so, what was his
name ?—A. There was a clerk of said election. His name was Jerome
. Andrew.

Q. 8. Were you a legally. registered and qualified voter of said
county at the time of said election —A. 1 was.

Q. 9. Were the election returns made out in duplicate, and directed
to the county judge and clerk of the circuit court each a copy, and de-
livered into the charge of a proper person to be delivered to saul judge
and clerk, and if so, into whose charge were they so delivered?—A., I
know that the election returns were made out, and according to my be-
lief they were made out in duplicate, and a copy addressed to the
county judge and clerk of the circuit court, and 1 know they were de-
h\('re;l l{:tn the hands of Jerome C. Andrew, to be given to said judge
and clerk. . ‘

Cross-examined by incumbent’s counsel ;

Q. 1. You said in your direct examination that you believed dupli-
cate copies of certificates of the result of the election were made out,
and a copy sent to the circuit clerk and another sent to the county
judge.  Have you any other grounds for so believing than that you had
the laws before youat the tmw and that you saw the law required it?—
A. L know that we went to work and filled up the papers., Tam certain
that the returns were made out according to our instructions. I mean
that the number was according to our instructions, and that the returns
were made to the best of our knowledge and ability at the time.

FLI HAWORTH,

STATP or FLorivA, Duval County:

e it remembered that, on this 20th day of March, A, D, 1872, I,
Joseph H. Durkee, a. not.n',\ public, duly appomtud and commissioned
by the governor of the State of Flovida, in lieu of the Hon, William A.
Meles i, county judge of Duval County, unable to be present, did call
and cause to be and personally appear before mo, at my oflice in Reed’s
new bloek, in the City of Jacksonville, Florida, Charles L. Mather, to
testify and the trath to speak in behalf ot the contestant for a se: \t in
the House of Representatives of the United States of Amerien for the
TForty-second Congress, wherein Silas L, Niblack is contestant and Jo-
siah T, Walls incumbent.

And the said CHARLES L. MATHER, being duly sworn, deposes and
says in answer to contestant’s interrogatories :

Question 1, Did you hold an ofticial position durving the month of
November, 1870, in the county of Duaval, Florida ; and if so, what was
it !——Anw er, I \\ as clerk of the cirenit (onrt for Duval County at that
time,

Q. 2. Were you a member of the board of county eanvassers of the
election held on the 8th day of November, 1870, in said county, for a
Representative in Congress —A. I was.

Q. 3. Did you reccive the returns of the election held at Mayport
precinet, in said county, on said day, from the inspectors at said pre-
cinet, or fromn the clerk of said election 1—A. 1 did; I think I received
them from Jerome C. Andrew, clerk of said election.

Q. 4. Are those returns in your poasession, and can you furnish a cer-
tified copy of them !—A. They are not in my possession ; I cannot far-
nish a certified copy of them.
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Cross-examined by incumbent’s counsel :

Q. 1. Did you reccive the certificates of said election in person ; if
not in what manner did you receive them ’—A, The ballot-box from the
\l.l) port precinet was left in my office by Jerome C, Andrew, clerk of

said election at Mayport precinet. 1 opened the box in presence of the
county judge and county solicitor, and found in the box two copies of
the returns of the election held af that precinet, together with the bal-

lots, inspectors’ oaths, and registration list,
- Q. 2. Was the ballot-box upunc(l on the day it was lett at your office
by you; it not, when was it opened 2—A, It was not opened on the day
it was left at. my office; to the hest of my recollection, it was opened
three days afterward,
Redirect exantination by contestant :

1 Did your certificate of the rvesult of the election held in said
'mmt\, as certified by the board of county canvassers to the board of
State canvassers, include the votes polled at Mayport precinet, or were
they rejected; and it they were 1('ivct(-(l by the. board of county can-
VASSers, on what grounds were they rejected 7—A, T hey were rejected
tor the l(‘.l.\()ll tlmt the returns were not wmade as required by law, the
county judge not being turnished with a certificate of’ the result ot the
eleetion at Mayport precinet.

Q. 2. Were the returns off the votes cast at the precinets of Yellow
l»luﬂ and Baldwin, in s.\ul county, included in yvour certificate of the
result of the eleetion in said county, as certified by the board of can-

vassers to the board oft State canvassers, or were they rejected by the
board of county ('lll\d‘s%(_‘l'.\; and, it rejec ted, on what grounds were
they rejected ? . The returns from the precinets of Baldwin and Yel-
low Bluft were w_ (*('tod by the board of county canvassers for the reason
that they were not made out to the county « anvassers, as required hy
law. The rveturns from DBaldwin were made out in figures, and not in
writing at full length, as required by law.  The return from the
\ollm\ Blufl’ precinet was not delivered to me in accordance with law.

Q. 3. Are those returns now in your possession, and can you furnish
a certitied copy of them '—A, ’l‘ho are not in my possession, and I
cannot furnish a eertified copy of them.

CHAS, L. MATHER,

CHARLES Lo MATHER re-eximined Maveh 21, 1872, hy eontestant :

Question 1. Tn your certificate of the '(».snlt of the election held in
Duval County, J“londa, on the Sth day of November, 1370, for member
of Congress, as eertified by the board ()['('(mnt\ cam\«m.«w S to the board
of Stdte canvassers, did yor include the votes polled at the Jackson-
ville precinet, in suitl county; or were they rejected, and, it" they were
rejected by the board of county canvassers, on what grounds were they
rejected 2—Answer, The votes polled at the Jacksonville precinet were
received, canvassed, and ineluded in the ecertificate of the county can-

rassers to the State canvassers,
SJHEAS, Lo MATHER.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Dural County, ss:

Be it remembered that on this 20th day of March, { 872, 1, Joseph H.
Durkee, & notary public duly appomted and commnssnoned by the gov-
ernor of the State of Florida, in lieu of Hon. William A. McLean, county
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judge of Duval County, unable to be present, did call and cause to be
and appear personally before me, at my oftice in Reed’s new block, in
the city of Jacksonville, Florida, Benjamin Upton, to testify and the
truth to speak in behalf of the contestant for a seat in the House of Rep-
resentatives of the United States of America, for the Forty-second
Congress, wherein Nilas L. Niblack is contestant and Josiah T. Walls
incumbent. .

And the said BENJAMIN UprToN, being duly sworn, deposes and says, in
auswer to contestant’s interrogatories ;

Question 1. What is your name and where do you reside ’—Answer.
My name is Benjumin Upton. T reside in Baldwin, in the county of
Duval, State of Torida.

Q. 2. Were you present at Baldwin precinet, in Duval County, on the
8th day of November, 1870, at an election for Representative in Con-
gress 7—A, 1 was,

Q. 3. Did you act in any ofticial capacity at said election; and if so,
what?’— .\, Tacted as clerk at said election.

Q. 4. Do vou recollect the number of votes cast at said precinet for
member of Congress, and for whom cast ?—A. I do. There were 34
votes cast in all; 30 for Silas I, Niblack for member of Congress, and
4 for Josiah T\ Walls for member of Congress.

Q. 5. How many ingpectors were there at said precinet, and what were
their names '—A. There were three inspectors, viz: George W, Brice,
George Johmson; the third. [ think. was Joseph Smith, 1 will not be
positive as to his name,

Q. 6. Were you a legally gqualificd and registered voter of said county
at the time of said election ’— A, | was,

Q. 7. Were the election returns made out in duplicate and directed to
the eounty judge and elerk of the cirenit court, each a copy, and deliv-
eredh into the charge of a proper person to he delivered to said judge
and clerk @ and if o, into whose hands were they so delivered ?— AL They
were made out in duplicate, and delivered by me to George Johnson
and another inspector of sajd election, by name, I think, Joseph Smith,
to be deliverad to the county judge,

Q. 8. Were the returns made oat to the best of your information at
that time, as required by law 2—A\, They were.

Cross-examined by counsel for Josiah 1. Walls, incumbent :

Q. 1. Into which of the inspector's hands, George Johnson or Joseph
Smith, did you deliver the certificates of election >—.\. 1 do not recol-
feet, but 1 think Joseph Smith's, : ‘

Q. 2. Did you place any other papers in the hands of these inspectors ;
and it so, what papers 7—\, 1 de not think I did, except the ballots,
and they were in the ballot-box.

Q. 3. Did the inspectors ot election at said precinet, and you as elerk
of said election, take and subseribe to the oath vequired by law 7—A.
We did. _

Q. 4. Were the certificates of said election made out in the form pre-
seribed by law ; if not, how otherwise 2—A., They were, except that the
number of votes was put down in figures, in place of being written at full
length in words.

Redirect examination :

Q. 1. At the time the returns were made out did you know the law
required that the number of votes cast should he written at full length
in words, as well as to be put down in figures 2—A. I did not. .

BENJAMIN UPTON.
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’

STATE OF FLORIDA, Duval County, ss:

Be it rcmembcred that on this 21st day of March, A, D. 1872 1,
Joseph 1I. Durkee, 2 notary publie, duly appointed and LOIIIIII]bSlOlle(l
by the governor of the State of Ilorida, in lieu of Hon. William A,
McLean, unable to be present, did call and cause to be and personally
appear before me, at my office in Reed’s new block, in the city of
Jacksonville, Florida, (zeorge H. Johnson, to testify and the truth to
speak, in behalf of the contests urt, for a seat in the House of Repre%nt
.lthOS of the United States of Amonca for the IForty-second Congress,
wherein Silas L. Niblack is contestant and Josiah T, Walls incumbent,

And the said GEORGE H. JOHNSON, being duly sworn, deposcs and
says, in answer to the contestant’s mtm'mgatorws'

Question 1. What is your name and where do you reside ’—.Answer,
My name is George H. Johmson; 1 reside in Jacksonville, Duval
(Jmmty, Florida.

Q. 2. Were you present at Baldwin precinet, in Duval Couuty,

Florida, on the Sth day of November, A.D. 1870, at an election for Rop
rosont.ltlve in (,on«rmm T—AL I was,

Q. 3. Did you ae ¢t in any oflicial capacity at said eleetion ; and, it so,
what was it ’—A. I was chairman of the hoard of inspectors at said elec-
tion.

Q. 4. Do you recollect the number of votes cast at said precinet
for member of Congress, and for whom cast ?—A\, There were thirty-
four votes cast for nwml)er ot Cougress at that precinet.  To the best
of my recollection thirty-two of those votes were for Silas L. Niblack for
member of ongress, .ln(l two for Josiah T. Walls for member of Con-
gress.

Q. 5. Were yvou a legally quahhod and registered voter of Duval
County at the time of nud election 7— AL T was.

GO, 11 JOIINSON.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Duval County, ss:

Be it remembered tliat on this 21st day of Mareh, A, D, 1872, I,
Joseph . Durkee, a notary publie, duly appointed and commissioned
by the governor of the State of Florida, in licu of ITon. William A.
“\[cLe.m, unable to be present, did call and cause to be and personally
appear before me, at my ofiice in Reed’s new block, in the c¢ity of
Jacksonville, blomd.\, G. W. Calder, to testify and the truth to speal,
in behalt of tlnc contestant, for a Se‘lt in the House of Representatives
of the United States of Americ ca, for the IForty-second Congress, wherein
Silas L. Niblack is contestant and Josiah T, Walls incumbent.

And the said G. W. CALDER, being duly sworn, deposes and says, in
answer to the contestant’s direct interrog gatories, as follows :

Question 1. What is your name and where do you reside 7—Answern.
My name is George W, Calder; I reside at Yellow Bluft, Florida, in the
countv of Duval.

Q. 2. Were you pre esent at Yellow Bluft' precinet, in Duval County,
on thc Sth day of November, 1870, at an election for Representative in
Congress 1—A. I was.

Q. 3. Did you aet in any official capacity at said election; and, it so,
what?—A. I was one of the inspectors at that precinet on that da)

4. Do you recollect the number of votes cast at said-precinet for
member of Congress, and for whom cast 7—A. There were from 160 to
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164 votes polled at that precinct at said election, I do not know the
proportion of said votes which were cast for Silas L. Niblack for mem-
ber of Congress or the proportion cast tor Josiah T, Walls for member
of Congress. -

Q. 5. How many inspectors were there at that precinet, and what were
their names {—A. There were three, viz: Isadore Voun Balsam, W, R.
Toombs, and (reorge W, Calder.

Q. 6. Was there a clerk of said election, and, if so, what was his
name ?—A. There was a clerk. His name was John Buckle.

Q. 7. Were you alegally registered and qualified voter of said county
at the time of said election7—A. I was.

Q. 8. Were the election returns made out in duplicate, and directed
to the connty judge and clerk of the cireunit court, each a copy, and de-
livered into the charge of a proper person to be given to said judge and
clerk, and, if so, into whose charge were they so delivered 7—A. The
electionreturns were made out induplicate on the 9th day of November,
1870, and lett by me in the possession of W. R. Toombs, one of the in-
spectors of said election. 1 do not know whether they were delivered
into the hands of any person to deliver to the county judge and clerk
of the cireuit court, _

Cross-examined by counsel for Josiah T\ Walls, incumbent :

Q. 1. Do you know whether the returns signed by you of said elec-
tion were ever delivered to the county judge and clerk of the circuit
court of Duval County >— A, I do not,

GWL CALDER,

STATE OF FLORIDA, Dweal Counly, ss:

Be it remembered that on this 21st day of Maveh, .\, D, 1872, 1, Joseph
L Durkee, anotary publie, duly aj ; sinted and commissioned by the gov-
ernor of the State of Iflorida, in liew of Hon Wllliam AL MeLean, county
judge of Duval County, unable to he present, did call and cause to be
and personally appear before me, at my oftice in Reed’s new bloek, in
the city of Jucksonville, Florida, Frank 1 Little, to testify and the
truth to speak in bhehalf of the contestant for a seat in the House of
Representatives of the United States of America, for the Forty-second
Congress, wherein Silas L. Niblack is contestant and Josiah T. Walls
incumbent,

And the said FrRANK I3, Lrrrik being duly: sworn, deposes and says,
in answer to contestant’s interrogatories :

Question 1. What is your niune and where do you reside ’—.Auswer.
I reside in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida.

Q. 2. Were you present at Jacksonville precinet, in Duval County,
Florida, on the 8th day of November, 1870, at an election for Represent-
ative in Congress ?—A. I was,

Q. 3. Did you act in any official capacity at said election, and, if so,
what ?—A. 1 did act as one of the inspectors of said election.

Q. 4. Do you recollect the number of votes cast at said preecinet for
member of Congress, and for whom cast?—A., I do not recollect the
number of votes cast, nor the number either candidate for member of
Congress received.

Q. 5. How many inspectors were there at said precinet on that day,
and what were their names 7—A. There were three inspectors: I, E.
Little, C. B. Simmons, The name of the third I do not remember.
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Q. 6. Were you a legally qualified and vegistered voter at said elee-
tion ’— A, 1 was.

Q. 7. At what hour of the day of said eleetion did the inspectors of
the election at said precinet close the polls of xaid election 7—A. At
-about nine o’clock p. m.

Q. 8. Did the inspectors of said election malke a certified return of the
votes polled at said precinet to the elerk of the circuit court and-to the
county judge of said county, as required by law ?—.\. They did.

Q. 9. You say the polls of said election were closed at about nine
-o’clock p. m. on the day of the election. lHow long after sunset was
it hefore the polls were closed 7—A., From two and a half to three hours,

Q. 10. Were there any votes received by the inspectors after sunset,
and, if 50, were they included in the certified return made by the m.spu,t
ors of said election to the clerk of the civcuit court and county judge of
said county ?—A. There were votes received by the inspectors after sun-
set, and they were included in the certified returns.

Q. 11, Did the inspectors of said clection continue to receive votes
after sunset up to the time the polls closed 7—A. They did.

Cross-examined by counsel for Josiah T\ Walls, incumbent:

Q. 1. Do you know what plopoltion of the votes ree eivml (lt't(-rmnm.\tr
were for each candidate for Congressman ?7—A, 1 cannot s

Q. 2. Did the inspectors understand that the polls .\ll()lll(l he closed at
sunset, or did they understand that the law required that the polls
slx()uld not be closed until sunset ?—A\. They did not so construe the
faw that the polls should he closed at sunset, They understood that
the Taw required that the polls should not be elosed il sunset.

FRANK . LITTLE.

STATE oF I'Loripa, Durcal Covnty, ss:

Be it 1(-nwmlu-|ul that on this '_’2(1 day of March, A DU IST2, 10 Jo
seph 11 Durkee, @ notary public duly appointed and <0mm|“>\mn(‘<l hy
the governor of the State of Florida, in leu of Ton, William A, MeLe: m,
unable to he present, did call and ‘canse to be and personally appeat
hefore me, at my office in Reed’™s new block, in the City of Jacksonville,
IFlorida, John 1. Rollins, to testify, and the truth to \[)O{l]\. in behalf 0[
the contestant for L.smt in the House of Representatives of the United
States of America for the Forty-second Congress, wherein Silas L. Nib-
lack is contestant and Josiah "I\ Walls incumbent; and the said Joun I,
Rovrins, being duly sworn, deposes and says, inanswer to the contest-
ant’s direct interrogntories, as tfollows:

Question 1, What is your name and address 7—Answer. John I, Rol-
lius I reside at Fort George, Irlorvida, in Duval County.

. 2. Were you pl('.s('nt at M.\\pmt precinet, in Duv al County, on the
Sth day of Nm'emhpr 1870, at an clection for Representative in Con-
gressi—A. I was, .

Q. 3. Did you act in any ofticial capacity at said eleetion ; and, it so,
what was it ?-——A. I was one of the inspectors of the election, and was
-chairman of the board of inspectors,

Q. 4. Do you recollect the number of votes cast at said precinct for
member of Congress, and for whoin cast ’—A. | think the number of
votes cast for member of Congress was 37; 6 or 7 of that number were
for Josiah T. Walls for member of Congress; the balance for Silas L.
Niblack for member of Congress.

Q. 5. How many inspectors were there at said precinet, and what were
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their names '—.A. There were three inspectors at said election, Kli Ha-
worth, John R. Hogans, and John I, Rollins,

Q. 6. Was there a clerk ot said election: and, it so, what was his
name !—A, There was a elerk : I think his name was Andrew,

Q. 7. Were you a legally registered and qualified voter of said county
ab the time of said election 2—A. I was,

Q. 8. Were the election returns made out in duplicate and directed to
the county judge and clerk of the cirenit court, ¢ach a copy, and deliv-
ered into the charge of & proper person to be delivered to said judge and
clerk; and, it' so, into whose charge were they so delivered ?—A. They
were made out in duplicate. 1 cannot say whether a copy was directed
to the circuit clerk and the county judge or not.  They were given into
the hands of the clerk of the election to take to be delivered to the county
CANVASSCTS, '

('ross-examined by counsel for Josiah 8. Wally, incumbent :

Q. 1. Were the returns made out as required by law, in words at full
length or in figures '—A. T think part of the returns were made out in
figures and part in words.

JOHN . ROLLINS.

BTATE OF Frowiva, Cowndy of Tniral

I hereby certify that the annexed depositions of” the followingasuned
persons, viz.: Fli Haworth, Charles .. Mather, Benjamin Upton,
George T Johnson. G, W, Caltder, Frank I Little, John 17, Rollins, in
hehalf of the contestant for o seat in the House of Representatives of
the United States of America, for the Forty-second Congress, in which
Silas 1. Niblack is confestant amd Josiah 1. Walls incambent, werve
taken at Jacksonville, IFlorida, beginning ou the 20th day of March,
13723 upon notice, and by uuthority of such notice, subpenas were
issued for the witnesses examined; that service of such notice was
accepted by said Joxialh T, Walls and by him so indorsed upon the
original notice; that said notice was presented to me by Messes, Call-
& Bassnett, attorneys at law, of Jacksonville, Tlorida, on the 15th
day of March, 1872, and retained by them ; and that on the 20th day
of March, 1872, when the witnesses appeared for examination, said
notice was not produced, having been_lost or mislaid by said Call &
Bassnett.

I further certify that Silas L. Niblack was represented at the taking
of the foregoing depositions in propric persona ; that Josiah T. Walls
was represented by R. I, Archibald, attorney at law, Jacksonville,
Florida, during the taking of all the inclosed depositions.

I further certify that 1 have made application to A. A. Knight, esq.,
of counsel of the said Josiah T. Walls, for a copy of said notice, which
request was refused, he having at the time, as attorney tor said Walls,
the original notice served upon said Walls in his possession.

Given under my hand and seal this 4th day of April, A. D. 1872,

[SEAL.] JOSEPIT H. DURKEE,

Notary Public.



10 NIBLACK VS. WALLS,

In the matter of the contested election, wherein Silas L. Niblack con-
tests the election of Josiah T. Walls, returned member of the Forty.
second Congress of the Congress of the United States,

To the Hon. Josiax T, WALLS:

SIR: You will take notice that 1 intend to take the testimony of the
following-named persons, to be used in my behalf in the above case;
their testimony to be taken hefore the on. David R. Townsend, (,ouuty
Judfre of La Fayette County, at his office in New Troy, in said (~0unr3 ;
or, in case of Dis absence, before some other magistrate authorized by
hw to take such testuuonv at said town of New Troy, on the 1st (Ln
of April next, commencing at 10 o’clock a. m., to wit: Joln C. Rouse,
James A, .\lm'm' Randell P, Langston, William Hankins, Bethel ]l.\n-
king, James J. I“mfrtoul Isaac A, Copeland, James Robuck, George 11,
Hicks, Howell ”.l\\l\lll\, William 1. Sears, and Redden 2. i, Al ot
them residents of caid county of La IFayette, and State of Florida.

SILAS L. NIBLACK,
Contestant,
R. B, HILTON,
Attorney for S, Lo Niblack.,
TALLANASSEE, FLoripA, Varceh 7, 1372,

Iaceept and ackuowledge sevvice of the within notice, this Sth diy
o! March, 1872, at Tallahassee, Plorida.

A AL KNTGITER,
Attorney for J.T Walls.
Approved : ’

JOTOWALLS,

STATE 01 FLORIDA, La Fayette County :

To John . Rouse, James A. Shiver, Randell I'. Langston, William
Hankins, Bethel Hankins, James I. Langford, Isanc A. Copeland,
James Robuek, George H. Hicks, Towell Hawking, William 1)
Sears, and Redden 1B, Hill;

You are hereby commanded: that, laying aside all business and
excuses, you and each of you be and appear in your proper persons
before me, at the court-house in New Troy, La Fayette County, at the
hour of 10 o'clock a. m.,, on the 1st day of April, A. D. 1872, to testify
all and singular those matters and things which you or citlier of you
know in the case of a contested olu,tlon wherein Silas L. \lbhcl\, as
contestant, contests the election and seat of Josiah T, Walls as mem-
ber of the ]< orty-second Congress, of th(, Congress of the United States,
from the State of IFlorida, .md in order tlmt you may be then and
there examined, respecting the said contested election in the manner
provided by tho laws of the United States. And this you shall in no
wise omit, under the penalty prescribed by law.

Witness my hand and seal this 18th day of March, A. ). 1872,

[SEALL.] DAVID R, TOWNSEND,

County Judge of La Fayette County.

-~To JEFFERXON J. PAINTER :

You are hereby appointed to execute the within, this March 18, 1872,
D. R. TOWXNSEND,
County Judge.
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I certify that a copy of the within subpena was this day served on
the within named: William W, Hankins, March 19, 1872 ;- B; H. Hankins,
March 19, 18725 G. W, Hicks, March 21, 1872; J. A. Copeland, March
22, 18725 Jawmes I. Langford, March 22, 1872; James A. Shiver, March
22,1872; J. C. Rouse, Mareh 25, 1872; R. P. Langston, March 22, 1872;:
H. Hawkinsg, March 23, 1872; Williamn 1). Sears, March 25, 1872; R..
B. Hill, March 25, 1872, James Robuck not to be found in the county..

This Ist day of April, 1872,

JoJ0 PAINTER, Deputy.

STATE 0F FLORIDA, La Faycette County, New Troy :

Testimony taken before ITon. David R. Townsend, county judge of
La Fayette County, in the case of Silas 1. Niblack, contestant, vs..
Josiah T, Walls, contestee, as Representative to the Forty-second
Congress of the United States trom the State of Tlorida, April 1,.
AL DL 1872,

WILLIAM D, SEARS, Deing sworn, answers as follows

Question. What iy your name aud place of residence 2—Answyer..
William 1), Sears, of’ La Ifayette County, Iflorida.

Q. Were you a citizen of La Iayette County in the year 1870; and, it”
s0, did you hold any ofticial position, and what was it 7—A. 1 held the
oftice of sherift of La IFayette County during the year 1870,

Q. Were you a member of the board of county canvassers of the
election held on the Sth day of November, 1870, for a Representative
to Congress in said county Y—A. T was.

Q. Who else composed the board of county canvassers besides
vourself7—A. Myself, Redden B. Hilly justice of the peace, and John C.
Ponchier, clerk of the cirvenit court.

(The certified copy of the proceeding of the canvass under the man-
damus issued by his honor the judge of the third judicial circuit of
Florida was here exhibited to the witness, as follows. See paper at-
tached, marked Itxhibit A.)

Q. Is thisa correct and true copy of the veturn made by yourself and
Redden B, Hill t—A. 1t is. '

Q. In yourcanvass of the several returns made by precinet inspect-
ors of the election, did yon c¢ount in all the returns made from the sev -
eral precinets of' the county ?—A. We did not.

Q. Please state the returns rejected and trom what precinets.—A.
Cook’s Hammock, California, Governor’s Hill precinets were rejected,
and not counted in,

Q. Please stato the returns received and the votes counted.—A, New
Troy precinet and Summerville precinet.

Q. Please state whether the votes cast at the precinets of Cook’s
Hammock, California, and Governor’s Hill are embraced in the certi-
fied copy of the return made by yourself and Redden B, Hill, as just
exhibited to you.—A. They were not.

Q. Were certified copies in duplicate of this return sent to the secre-
tary of state and governor of -the State?—A. To the best of my knowl-
edge, there were.

Cross-questioned : -

€. Why were not the returns from Cook’s Hainmock, California, and:
“Governor’s Hill not canvassed by the board of canvassers 1—A. The-
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returns from Coolk’s Hammock and California were rejected for infor-
ili.llllxt\, and there wis no return signed by the inspeetors for (overnor's

i

Q. What were the informalities in regavd to the returns from Cook’s
Hammock and California !—A, The two returns, one to the clerk and
the other to the |ml;,o differed,

Q. Who hrought in the returns from those fwo precinets '— AL The re-
turns were lnolwht from California by John W, Owens and the returns
from Governor’s Hill by James J. lmnnfmd

Q. Were these men democrats or wpuhlw s ?

(Objected to by contestant, and the court sustained the objection.)

Q. Do you know of any frand being committed at the election at
Troy precinet, or any other precinet in the county, at said election 7—A,
I do not,

Q. Do you believe, from the best information you have, that the elee
tion was fairly conducted ?

(Objected to by contestant and the objection sustained by the court.)

Q. Did the return from Troy precinet give Josiah T, Walls, the con-
testee, any votes; and, it so, what nnmber ?—A., The returns signed by
the inspectors did not give J, T, Walls, the contestee, any number of
votes.

Q. Have you a reason for believing that any number of votes were
cast on the Sth d: v of November, 1870, for Josiah ‘T, Walls for member
of Congress at the Troy precinet !

(The contestant agrees that the gquestion of beliet may come in this
particular question.

\ I huve, ' ‘

Please state your reason tor believing as you do.—N\. | was pres.
mxt, \\h.m the vote was counted out of the hallot-box, and to the best of
my recollection there was forty-two votes counted tor Josiah T, Walls
for Congress.

(). Do you or not know that one John €', Ponchier had charge of the
refurns at one time ?—A, 1 think he did.

Q. Are you acquainted with John €. Ponehier's eeneral character for
honesty and integrity of purpose ?

(Ohjected to, and ruled out by the court.)

Q. Who were the inspectors at the Troy precinet — A Johin €, Rouse,
James A, Shiver, and Randal P, Langston.

Q. What were the polities of these several men !

(Question objected to, and ruled out by the court.)

Q. At what time did John C. Ponchier have charge of the returns 2 —
A. Directly after the election, in his capacity as clerk,

(). What party does Mr. Ponchier belong to?

S()bjected to, and ruled out by the court.

Permission way asked to file a protest against the further taking of
testimony, on the ground that five days has not yet elapsed since the
parties were engaged in taking testimony-—to wit, the 30th day ot March,
1872—at Lake City, and that the contestant was present on said occa-
sion at said point, and that the examination to be resumed this instant.

Protest ruled out, on the ground that the examination had already
commenced at Trog, La Fayetbe( ounty, and, for further objection, that
the contestant had served contestee w ith notice that he, the contestant,
would take testimony at New Troy, La Fayette County, on the 1st day
of Apn! 1872, before the contestee served him, the contestant, with
notice that he, the contestee, would take testimony in Lake City, on the
30th day of March, 1872.)
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‘Q. Did you ever see a return of any kind showing torty-two votes for
Josiah T. Walls 7—A, Yes, sir; on the day we met to canvass there was
areturn that John C. Ponchier had, showing torty-two votes for J. T.
Walls.

Q. Was it certified to?7-—.\. It was not,

Q. Was there any kind of w certificate in relation to it 7—A., It only
had words purporting that they were east in Suwannee County on the
25th ot December, or September, which was without signature.

Re-direct question :

Q. Did you see on any of the returns from the other precinets of the
county votes cast for J. T, Walls 7—A. T did not.
WM. D. SEARS.

RevpeN B, HinL, being sworn, testifies as follows:

Question. Were you a member of the board of county canvassers
for La Fayatie County of'an election held for Representative to Congress
on the Sth day of November, 1870 /—Answer, I was,

(The certified copy marked A is exhibited to witness, W, D, Sears
was here presented to witness,)

Q. Please state it said exhibit is a correct copy of return made hy
board of county canvasers.—A\, It is,

Q. Were copies in duplicate of this return sent to secretary of state
and governor !—A, I mailed them. | gave them to the postmaster
myself. ~ :

Q. Did your return to the secrvetary of' state and governor of the re-
sult of the election embrace all the precinets of the county or were any
of the precincts rejected ! And, it so, please state the precinets the return
of which were rejected and those that were canvassed and certified to.—
A, They did not. New Troy and Summerville precinets were em-
braced in the returns and certified to.  Cook’s Hammock and California
were rejected, and no returns from Governor’s Hill,

). Please .smto ground of rejection of the retwrns from California and

Jook’s Hammock, Z A ]ntnrlmhtw.\ in the returns.

ross-(questioned :

Q. What were the informalities in tlw returns from Cook’s Haummock
and Calitornia?—A. The two returns, one sent to the clerk’s oftice and
the one sent to the county judge, did not corrvespond.

Q. How great was the dl.qumm\ and what was it 2—A. One ot tlw
California returns was not signed by the inspectors, and one of the re-
turns from Cook’s Hammock~lid not have the nameot the county. One
had no votes put down for senators and the other had,

Q. Do you know of any fraud being committed, either in the voting ov
in the returns of the result, at any precinet in the county *—A. I know
of none,

Q. Do you know whether or not J. T. Walls, candidate for Congress,

received any votes at Troy precinet or any other precinet in the county #—
A. 1 was present at the counting of the votes at Troy precinet on the
8th November, 1870, and heard the inspectors of the election calling
out votes for Walls,

Q. How many times did you hear VVallsq name called out by the in-
spectors, as well as you c¢an remember?!—A. The inspectors counted
ap tethe votes, and, to the best of my recollection, there were forty-two
voles.
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Q. Were:these votes certified to the board of county canvassers with
ithe other votes !'—A. They were not,
REDDEN B, HIL.

JIowELL HAWKINS, being sworn, answers as follows:

Question. Do you hold an official position in La Fayette County at this
time; and, if so, what is it '—Answer. Yes, [ am clerk of the cirvenit
«court,

(A paper marked .Exhibit I} was here presented to witness,)

Q. Please state whether this paper is a correct copy of the original
.on file in your oftice.—A. It is a correct copy.

Oross-questions:

Q. At what time was the original, a ¢copy of which has been exhibited
‘to you, filed in your office, and by whom ?—A. 1 entered upon the duties
.of my oftice January 6, 1871, and found the paper on file at that time,

Q. Were there any other papers of the same nature filed with it?—
A. There are other returns from other precinets of the same clection.

Q. What other precinets?—A, Cook’s Hammock and Summerville
iprecinets,

Q. Is there any mark upon the original showing that they were
«officially filed; and, if so, by whom were they signed as elerk 2—.\. There
is no mark shownw that tlw\ were uﬂi('mll\ filed by any one as clerk.

Q. From what you know of the man: wgement or l\eepmg} of the oftice
heretofore, would it not be possible tor any one to place papers in the
oﬁi(:c?—A. Po not know how the oftice was managed prior to my
going in.

Re-direct question:

Q. In what condition did you find those returns and were there any
indorsements onthem 2—A, They were inan envelope, with indorsement
“ Returns of the election,” not marked filed by the clerk or signed by
him,

HOWELL HAWKINS.

JAMBs J. LANGrFORD, being duly sworn, answers as follows:

Question, Were you one of the inspectors of the election held at Gov-
-ernor’s Hill on the S8thoday of November, 1870, for Representative to Con-
aress I—Answer, Yes, 1 was,

Q. Do yon recollect how many votes were cast at said prpeinet for
Representative to Congress and for whom they were cast 2—A. 1 do not,
the exact number of votes ¢: ist, but recollect within five votes, Ior
‘Congress it was 30, 33, or 35, Of these 8. L. Niblack received all with
the exception of one wte, to the best of my.recollection.  J. T, Walls
-did not receive.any votes at said election.

Cross-questions:

Q. Were these votes certified .to the board of .county canvassers by
the inspectors{—A. The inspectors knew very little about making
returns, There were no blanks. The votes were placed in the ballot-
box, sealed up, and I brought them to this place (Troy) myself.

Q. BPid you bring them direcet A, Yes, sir; 1.only. stopped at my
shouse .to take dinner.
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Q. Who sealed up the returns and how were they scaled?—A. Wal-
ter Woodson sealed them up. Woodson was keeping store. The hole
of the box was sealed with sealing-wax,

Q. Where were the returns deposited the night ot the election and
by whom!—A, At William Copeland’s house, and next Aday [ carried
the returns, or box, to Troy., Mr. Ivins had charge of the key that
night (the night of the olection) and returned the l\m to me next morn-

“ing about 9 o'clock.

Re-diveet question:

Q. Were there any returns made of the vote7—.\. The inspectors, my-
self, James Roebuck, and Isaac Copeland, and the clerk, James Ivins,
were not acquainted with making returns,  Mr. Woodson said he un-
desstood making returns, and made up a statement, which the inspectors
signed, supposing it to be correct, which was pl.wed in the hox with

“he ballots, and so returned.
JoJ0 LANGEEORD,

INAAC COPELAND, being sworn, answers as follows:

Question. Were you one of the inspectors of the election held at Gov.
ernor's Hilly in La Fayette County, on the Sth day of November, 1870,
for Representative to bonwrcss.-— Answer. Yes, sir,

Q. Do you recolleet the number of votes (.N; at said precinet for
Representative fo Congress and for whom east7—A, Yes, sir; 34 votes
were cast, 8. L, Niblack receiv ing the entire number: J. T, Walls, none,

ISAAC COPRLAND,

WinLiay WL D IANKINS, being sworn, answers as follows:

Question, Were yvou one of the inspectors of the eleetion held on the
Sth day of November, 1370, at Cool’s Hammock. La IFayette County,
for Representative to Congress —Answer, U was,

Q. Were the returns of the election at said precinet made in duplicate
and delivered to the elerk of the court and county judge ot La Fayette
County !—A. They were.

Q. By whom were they delivered 7—A\. By myself, in person, to the
clerk ot La Fayette County, at New Troy, in his oflice.

(Paper marked Iixhibit € was here presented to witness as a certified
copy of the returns from Cook’s Hammock.)

Q. Is this a correct copy of the original veturn?— A, 1t is.

Cross-question:

Q. How are you enabled to say that the paper, after the lapse of time,

isa correet copy '—A. From my recollection.
Re-diveet question:

Q. By whom was the return to the county jiidge delivered 2—A. The

indge ot the county court, being one of the inspectors, retained a copy

himself,
WILLIAM W. HANKINS.
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BETHEL H. HANKINY, being sworn, answers as follows:

Question. Were you one of the inspectors of the election held at
Cook’s Hammock on the 8th day of November, 1870, in La Fayette
County, for Representative to Congress '——Answer, 1 was,

Q. Were the returns ot the election at said precinet made in duplicate
and directed to the clerk of the court and the county judge of La
Fayette County !—A. They were,

Q. To whom were they delivered I—.A. To W, W, Hankins, one ot the
inspectors of said precinet,

(The same exhibit, marked €, rhat was shown W, W, Hankins, was
presented to witness.) g

Q. From the best of your recollection, is this a true copy of’ the orig-
inal return 1—A, It is,

Cross-questions:

. How are you enabled, atter the lapse of time, to recognize the
p.lpm as a true copy of the orviginal return?— A, l\nu\\m«r the ciream.
stances all around, there is no way to be fooled in it it is very plain to
my mind.

Q. Did you keep a memorandum of the votes cast!—\. Kept no
memorandum, but recognize the handwriting of the oviginal return in
oftice, of whieh this is a capy,

B H HEANKINS,

Exminrr A,
Certificate of the comnty cancassers.—NSee seetion 24 aet of” August G, 1868,

STATE 0F FLORIDA, L« Fuyette County :

We, the nmlmslglwd William 1), Sears, sherift’ of the county stated,
andd Julm ¢, Porchier, clerk of the circuit ('omt of the county lfore%'ud
and Redden B. ]llll, a justice of the peace of the county above men-
tioned, constituting the board of county canvassers in and for the county
stated, do hereby certify that we met at the office of the clerk of the
eirenit court of the county atoresaid, on the 23d day of December, A.D.
1870, and pnhlwlv canvassed the \oto.s given at a gencral election, held
in the county of La Fayette and State atoresaid, on the Sth day ot No-
vember, in the year of our Lord 1870, the same l)mnp; the Tuesday next
succeeding the first Monday in said month, under and by virtue of. an
act entitled * An act to provide for the '(*gi.struti(m of electors and the
holding of elections,” approved Aungust 6, 1868, and an act amendatory
tlmwto, d))])l()\'(}(l February 19, 1870. We do lwn by certify, from the
returns on file in the oftice of the clerk aforesaid, tlmt tlm whole number
of votes cast for Representative in Congress wzm 152 votes, as follows,
viz: Silas L. Niblack received 132 votes; that the w]nole number of votes
cast for lieutenant governor was as fnllm\ s: 138 votes, as viz: William D.
Bloxham received 138 votes; that the whole number of votes cast for
State senator was 146 votes, as iollows, viz: John N. Krimminger re-
ceived 105 votes, John Sutton received 41 votes ; that the whole number
of votes cast for member of the assembly was 142 votes, as follows, viz:
William D. Sears received 100 votes, Daniel M. McAlpin received 42
votes; that the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: John
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Locklair received 77 votes, Stephen IV, Slade received 70 votes, John
M. Peacock received 42 votes. :
Witness our hands and seals of office, at New Troy, in the county
aforesaid, this 23d day of December, in the year of our Lord 1870.
WM. D. SEARS,
Sheriff of the County of La Fayette.
‘ REDDEN B. HILL,
Justice of the Peace of La Fayette County.

N. B.—The canvassers should meet at the office of the clerk, on or
before the sixth day after the election, to canvass the votes.

In case of the absence, sickness, or other disability of the county judge
or clerk, the sherift shall act in his place. '

The certificate must be signed in duplicate, and must contain, in words
and figures written «t full length, the whole number of votes given for
each office, the names of the persons for whom such votes weie given
for such office, and the number of votes given to each person for such
office.

The clerk of the circenit court should record the certificate in the ook
required by law to be kep# for that purpose.

One of the certificates shall be immediately transmitted, by mail, to
the seevetary of state and the other to the governor of the State.

STATE 0¥ FLORIDA, La Fayette County :

We, the nndersigned, William D, Sears and Redden B. Hill, do hereby
certify that the within is a true copy of the proceeding of the canvass
under the mandamus issued by his honor the judge of the third judicial
circuit of the State of Florida.

This the 13th day of March, A. D. 1871,

WM. D. SKARS, Sheriff.
REDDEN B. HILL.

STATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayctte County :

I, Howell Hawkins, clerk of the circuit court in and for the county ot
La Fayette, State of Iflorida, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a
true copy of the original on file in my oftice.

Witness my hand and the seal of said court, at New Troy, in said
county, April 1, A. D. 1872, )

[SEAL.] HOWELI, HAWKINS,

Clerk Cireuit Court,

’ Exmsir .

Certificate of the result of election to be signed by inspectors and clerk of
election.—Nee section 23 of general election laic, '

SBTATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayette County :
We, the undersigned, inspectors and clerk of an election held at Cal-
. ifornia, in the county of La Fayette and State aforesaid, on the 8th day
of November, A. D. 1870, under and by virtue of an act enticled ¢ An
act to provide for the registration of electors and the holding of elee-

H. Mis. 34, pt. 2—2
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tions,” approved August 6,1868,and an act amendatory thereto, approved
February 19, 1870, do hereby certify that the result of the election was
as follows, viz: For Representative in Congress, Silas I, Niblack received
18; for lieutenant governor, Bloxham received 18, Day received 7; for
State senator, J. N. Krimminger received 7; John Suttor received 18;
for member of assembly, Williamm D. Sears reccived 75 Dan MeAlpin
received 17; for constable, John M. P’eacock received 15.

Witness our hands at California, in the county aforesaid, this Sth day

of November, A, D, 1870,
JOHON W. OWENS,

Inspector of” Klection.,
THOMAS GREEN,
Inspector of Klection.
JOIN ¥. McCOLLOUGH,
Inspector of Blection. --
JOIIN W. HAGAN,
Clerk of Election.

STATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayette Countj):

[, Howell Hawkins, ¢lerk of the circuit court of the county and State
aforesaid, do hereby certify that the within is a true copy of the returns
of election held at California precinet, in the county and State aforesaid,
and on file in my office.

Witness my hand and seal of oftice this the 1st day of April, A. D,
1872,

[SEAL.] HOWELL HAWKINS, Clerk.

Exmprr (.

Certificate of the result of election to be signed by inspectors and clerk of
election.—See section 23 of general election laics,

STATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayette County:

We, the undersigned, inspectors and clerk of an election held at Cook’s
Hammock precinet, in the county of La Fayette and State aforesaid, on
the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870, under and by virtue of an act
entitled ¢ An act to provide for the registration of clectors and the hold-

"ing of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory
thereto, approved Iebruary 19, 1870, do hereby certify that the result
of said election was as follows, viz: Whole number of votes polled, 16;
lieutenant governor, Bloxham received 15, Day received 1; for Con-
gress, Silas L. Niblack received 16; for member of the assembly, Daniel

-MecAlpin reeceived 15, William D. Sears received 1; for constable, John
Lockair received 1.

Witness our hands at Cook’s Iammock, in the county aforesaid, this
8th day of November, A, D, 1870. :

. WILLIAM W, HANKINS,
Inspector of Election.
B. H. HANKINS,
Inspector of Election.
D. R. TOWNSEND,
Inspector of Hleotion.
A. J. LEWIS, :
Clerk of Election.
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STATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayette County :

I, Howell Hawkins, clerk of the circuit court for the county and State
aforesaid, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of returns
of election, held at Cook’s Hammock, in the county and State aforesaid,
and on file in my office.

Witness my hand and seal of office this the 1st day of April, A, D.

1872,
[SEAL.| HOWELL HAWKINS, Clerk.

STATE OF FLORIDA, La Fayctte County :

I, David R, Townsend, judge of the county court of La Fayette County,
Florida, do hereby certity that the foregoing evidence, contained on
eighteen pages of paper, with the exhibits attached, were taken before
me, and that the witnesses, William D, Sears, Redden B. Hill, Howell
Hawkins, James J. Langford, I. J. Copeland, W. W. Hankins, and D.
H. Hankins, were all duly sworn before me and their testimony taken
down in ny presence,

Witness my signature and seal of oflice this 1st day ot April, 1872,

[sBAL.] DAVID R, TOWNSEND,

County Judge.

e e s e—

LAKE Crry, Fronripa, April 8, 1872,
Testimony taken in behalf of contestant.

GiLEs W. ELLIg, being duly sworn, says:

Question 1. Were you present in Lake City, Ilovida, on the Sth day -
of November, 1870, at an election held on that day for Representative
to the Congress of the United States ?—Answer. I was, Icame to Lake
City on the afternoon preceding the day of said election.

Q. 2, State whether, in coming to Lake City the afternoon before the
election, you saw any one on the way coming to Lake City armed.—
A. 1 did; I saw several.

Q. 3. State how many, and whether they were white people or eolored
people, and what kind of arms did they have.—A. In coming with Mr.J. J.
Bunch on that day I saw a great many colored people coming, and we
counted seventeen with guns, They stated they were coming to the
election. I did not ask them what they were going to do with their
guns,

Q. 4. State at what time you arrived at Lake City.—A. I arrived
about half an hour, by sun, the day before the election, and remained
there all night.

Q. 5. Did you see any one armed with guns after youn arrived at
Lake City, and before the election?—A. I did. -We heard there was to
be a speech in town at night, so Colonel Elder and I thought we would
walk up. Well, when we got within seventy-five or eighty yards, or
abeut that, of where the speeches were being made, we were halted,
and we told the sentinels, ¢ This is a strange arrangement. We are civil
men, and want to go on and hear the speeches.” Their answer was,
“You can’t go there” Well, we didw’t go; we went to Dr. Luther’s
and went to bed. The sentinels were armed; they were colored. I do
not know who was at the house where the speaking was, as we could
not see in the dark at that distance. There were two sentinels, one
standing on each side of the road; they were armed with guns; both
sentinels were colored, I went within five or six feet of them. It was



20 NIBLACK VS. WALLS.

at a house lying cast or south of cast of the depot, and about two hun-
dred yards or two hundred and fifty yards from tho depot, but don’t:
know what the house is used for nor what it is. called.

Q. 6. Was there any disturbancein town that night 2 And, if so, state
what you know about it.—A. We heard a firing of guns dll(l yelling,
unusual for this place or any peaceable plau at that time of night,
There were four ot us, Colonel Elder, Mr. Buneh, Doctor Lefters, .md]
We said we would come down and see what the firing was, and we came
down. After coming down town Marshal Stephenson asked {for some
one to go up with hlm to where the colored people were congregated,
I saw lingering, it appeared, among the men, so I said I would go with
him, and we went up.  IHe said he wanted to reconcile this difficulty
that had got up. After we got there it was a little clondy. Ile com-
menced making a speech; some of the people gathered around him, and
some of lny old stock gathered around me. (This was not in the house
but in the yard.) I advised with them. 1 told them it would not do for
the races to be getting up difficulties; that this thing must be set-
tled, and that it ¢ ould 1ot go on in that way. Two of the colored men,
to wit, I'red and York Martin, talked to me and told me they would do
all in tlleu- power to stop it,  Others wero cursing and going on with bit-
ter oaths. 1thought I was foolish to go in sucha crowd, as some of them,
1 thought, were intoxicated. About ‘That time a train came in, and they
held up their guns, (I saw a great many guns then, but did not count
them,) and waved their guns and yelled, and took after the train that was
then Lll(‘( king its sp(-e(l as it neared the depot.  IFred and York Martin
and some others of them remained near me, and we walked together to
near the depot. At that time I heard a man say, ¢“there was a hundred
armed troops came on the train”  Mr, btoplwnmn and 1 went to per-
suade the colored people to remain where they were, telling them to do
s0. I advised them to do so, and told them that, if they staid wheve they
were, the white people were not coming to tl()lbl(‘ them. I then came
dowu town again, and saw a crowd of w]nto men on the street., T left
them, some lying and others sitting, on MeLauren’s store piazza—after
[ told them that the colored ])(*opl(, worc going to stay where they were,
Then 1 went hack to Dr, Luther’s, and went to bed again. The white
people agreed to remain wheére they were and not go near the colored
people. , :

Q. 7. Did you on the afternoon before the election, while coming to
towir; or after you arrived in town, and before the disturbance took
pl.tu' that night, see the white people armed with guns or any other
kind of arms?—A. I did not. I was busy till mnht, and after supper I
went to hiear the speaking and back to Dr. Luther’s to bed, before the
disturbance, but saw no white men with arms,

Q. 8. \Vds there any disposition manifested, on the part of the white
people, to prevent the colored people from votmrr, or from voting for
whom they pleased —A. None that I'saw. I vi isited the different places
of voting several times that day; there were, I think, three places for
voting. -

Cross-examined by 6 B. McLin, for Walls:

Q. 1. When did you come to town the day before the election, how
many white men were with you and were th(,y armed 1—A, Only one,
Mr. Bunch ; he had no gun; I was not armed.

Q. 2. When halted by the sentinels the night Lefore the election,
what demonstrations were made —A. One sentinel only raised his gun
from the ground, the other did not even do that; we asked if there was
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any countersign required; they said: ¢ You can’t go dar,” but they made
1o effort or demonstration to shoot.

Q. 3. What did you or-Colonel_Elder. say to the sentinels 2—A. The
colonel did most of the talking. "When told we could not go there, he
said, in his usual style of talking: ¢ Well, we can’t go there; well, you
can all go to hell, then, and I will go to bed.” 1 felt indignant at being
halted.

Q. 4. Did you not understand, when you started to the speaking that
night, that it was at the colored people’s chureh or meeting-house, and
that it was a colored people’s political meeting 7—A. I did not know
what the house was used for. 1 was told it was a radical meeting, and
I wanted to go and see what occurred ; I supposed the blacks were there
to receive instructions from the whites.

Q. 5. Was not the house located near the suburbs of Lake City and
in the part of town principally inhabited by colored people 2—A. It
was in the suburbs, but I don’t know who lives in that part of town,

Q. 6. When you were aroused from your bed at Dr. Luther’s that
night, by the fiving of guns, and came out in town, did you meet any
white men and how many¥—A. I met about twenty-five or thirty men;
there might have been more or less; I was excited at the time. They
were under considerable excitement, and then and there L saw guns.

Q. 7. Did you then hear any threats 2—A. I did; I heard the white
men say they would have satisfaction for what the colored men had
done; that the colored men had fired first.

Q. 8. Do you know who fired first 2—A. Idonot; I wasin bed, about
three hundred yards off,

Q. 9. Do you know or not whether the disturbance that night cansed
colored voters to go home the next day without casting their votes t—
A, I do not know it. :

Q. 10. Ifrom the best of your judgment, was the crowd of colored
voters as great the morning of the election as the night previous 2—A.
As far as I could see, it looked like the number was greater in the
worning, because I could sece them better,

Q. 11. Did you hear the colored people make any threats against the
white people that night ?—A. I saw them; some were cursing the rebs;
said they would have satisfaction, and that one of them had been shot.
Their language was threatening,

Q. 12. Did you have any trouble in quicting them 7—A. I did not, try
with any but those around me. Wae staid about twenty or thirty min-
utes before the train came in, and they promised to do all in their power
to reconcile the rest, and I brought the news to the white men, These
were the only ones I talked with, and was satistied, from what I saw
and heard, that they would remain where they were and be quiet.

G. W, ELLIS.

Sworn to and subscribed before me April 8, 1872,
W. M. IVES, Jr,,
Notary Public.

APRriL 8, 1872,
NiBLACK ,
V8. JTorty-second Congress.
WALLS,
GEORGE M. WHITSTON, sworn, says:
Question 1. Were you present at an election for Representative to
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Congress, held in Lake City, Florida, on the 8th day of November,
1870 ?—A. I was,

Q. 2. Did you hold any official position in connection with that elee.
tion in Lake City on that day, and if so what was it?7—A. I was an
inspector of election at the probate otfice precinct.

Q. 3. Who were the other inspectors at that precinet, and who the
clerk of clection 7—A. George (. Keene and —— Shuler, a colored
man, were inspectors, and a Mr, Caldwell was clerk.

Q. 4. After the polls of said election were closed, did the inspectors
make out a return, in duplicate, of the votes polled dt said precinct, as
required by law, and if so, were {hose returns signed by all the in %pu,tors
of that precinet 7—A. We made out the returns as required by law, and
the returns were signed by all the inspectors but one; Shuler, the
colored inspector, left before the votes were counted. "He had no cause
that I know of, for leaving, as none of the members had spoken w harsh
word all day.

Q. 5. Was Mr. Shuler present daring the canvassing of’ the votes {—
A. He was there part of the time, but was not present when we finished
counting. We had him called three times, but he did not answer; then
one of the other inspectors went out to where Shuler’s horse h.\d been
hitched, and came back and said he was gone.

Q. 6. How long was Shuler absent before you concluded the counting
of the votes ?—A. About a half hour.

Q. 7. Please examine this [Exhibit A shown w1tness] copy and say
if it is a correct copy of the original return, made out by the inspectors
of that election at that precinet 2—A. I cannot say positively, but from
memory 1 believe this 1xhibit A to be a correet copy of our return,

J. 8. Did or did you not see, in the morning of the day of that election,
aflax'ge number of colored people armed and marching up toward the
place of voting, before the polls of the eleetion were openvd and if so0
state pdrhcnlfuly what you saw and heard ?—A. I saw a l‘n'no number
of colored people marching up toward the polls; some of them had gunsg
and some had pistols. J went out to them .md said: ¢« If they went
down town that way, it would be a demonssration of fighting or of a row,”
or words of that effect; I prevailed on them to put up their guns and
go down town in order, which they did, after my calling upon some of
them that I was aquainted with, referring them to my intentions to keep
the peace. At the same time I advised them to put a guard over their
arms, s0 that they could not be taken advantage of in that way, as-
suring them at the time that there was no intention of doing so.  They
aft(*r\\ ard came down town in order without their arms,

Q. 9. Did you see any demonstration on the part of the white people
on the day ol election to molest or interfere with the (()]m'cd people in
any manner whatever?—A, No. None whatever.

Q 10. ‘Was the dectlon, at the precinet where \ou were an inspeetor,
a peaceable and quict one 7— A, It was; as much so0 as any olection 1
ever saw,

Cross-examined by 5. B, Mclax, for Walls:

Q. 1. What was the manner of these colored men that you saw
with guns on that day of clection; were they demonstrative with their
gunb?—A They were so much so that T had some difficulty in stop-
ping them; thoy went round me instead of halting, till I found some
I was aoqudmfod with, and called them to my assistance, to get them
to hear what I had to say to them. After I bad spoken a few words
to them, they agreed to put their arms down.
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Q. 2. Was there anything threatening in their manner of carrying
their avms ¥—A. No. I don’t recollect that they made any threats at
the time, or tlmt there was anything threatening in their manner of car-
rying their arms.

Q. 3. Did you hold a commission as a peace ofticer at the time, that

caused you to halt them 27— A, Noj I did it for the purpose of prevent-
ing a difficulty.

Q1. 4. Did you have much difficulty in getting them to put up their
guas, and if so what reasons did they assign for Tiot putting themap 2—
A. At first I did. They scemed to think there were white men down
town with arms, but when I assured them there were not they put up
theirs.

Q. 5. Do you know whether or not white men were armed that day,
with either guns or revolvers ’—A. I do not.

Redirect:

Q. 1. Was it customary for persons to attend an election armed with
pistols and guns, as you saw those colored men on the morning of that
election ?7—A. It was not.

Re-crossed :

Q. Is it not very common, and almost a universal practice, for white
men to carry secret arms in this county?

(Ol)Je(,tO(l to as not relating to the day of election, and not pertinent
to the issue.  Question 1‘1110(1 out as not in response to redirect exami-

nation.)
GLEORGI M. WIIITSTON.

Sworn to and subseribed before me April 8, 1872,
W. M. IVES, Jr,,
Notary Publie, Columbia Counh/

APRIL S, 1872,
NIBLACK
8, Forty-Second Congress United States.
WALLS.

WiILLIAM I, PASCIHALL sworn for contestant.

Question 1. Did you attend the election held in Lake City on the 8th
da\ oi November, 1870, for Representative to'Congress ?—Aunswer. I did.
7 Did you hol(l an ofticial position on that day, and if so what was
it°?-—A I did. I held the position of' an Inspector at the precinct east
of the public square. I think it was called the assessor’s precinet,

Q. 3. Who were the other inspectors at that precinet 7—A. Norman
Ives was one, and a colored man named Carvter the other.

Q. 4. Was there any disturbance at your precinet, or any effort or
attempt made on the part of the white people to prevent the colored
people from voting %—A, None whatever that I saw or heard.

Q. 5. State whether or not the colored people were not allowed the
same privileges in voting that the white people were, and whether there
was not a disposition on the part of the white 1)001)1@ to allow the col-
ored people to vote.—A. They were allowed all the privileges that the
whites were, and the whites gave way to let the colored liave their turn
‘at voting, except early in the morning, when there was a great, crowd,
and the colored people seemed loath to (,x'owd in, - I then had the door
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opened, with a sentinel at it, and admitted a great many of the colored
people inside of the house, who voted inside.

Q. 6. Was or was it not stated to you by a colored man, a few days
before the election, that the colored people had been advised to bring
their guns to the election with them 2—A., It was stated to me by a
colored man, by the name of Green Hutchingson. I asked him a few
days before the clection “if he was going to the election.” Ile said,
¢ Yes, Mass Bllly They say we must carry oar guns, but [ am not
going to carry mine.”

Not crossed.

W. ., PASCHALL.

Sworn to and subscribed before me April 8, 1872,
W. M. IVES, Jr,,
Notary Public, Columbia County.

NIBLACK 1 ,

4, Forty-second Congress United States.

WALLS. S

JayMis M. KueN sworn for contestant.

Question 1. Were you present at the election for Representative to
Congress, held at Lake City, Florida, on the Sth day of November,
1870 %—Answer. I was.

Q. 2. Did you hold an official posntu)n on that day; if so, what 2—A.,
I held the position of inspector of election, at precinet called City Hall,
if I recollect correctly.

Q. 3. Who were the other inspectors of election at that precinet, and
who the clerk of election ?—A. A.J. Hutehinson and Alfred Holland,
colored, were the other inspectors, and J. L. Mitchell, clerk.

Q. 4. Was it a fair and peaccable election 2—A., so far as I know, it
was., I saw nothing to the contrary.

Q. 5. Were the same facilities afforded the colored people for voting
that there were to the whites t—A. There were.

Q. 6. Did the white people try or attempt in any way to prevent the
colox;zd people from voting at your precinct?—A. Not that I saw or
hear«

Q. 7. Did J. L. Mitehell, the clerk of election, vote at said election *—
A, He did.

Q. 8. Did his name appear as a legally registered voter on the regis-
tration list furnished you as inspectors 4—A. It did.

Q. 9. Did you have any evidence other than the registration list fur-
nished the inspectors that J. L. Mitehell was or was not a legni voter
of the county?—A. We did not.

Not crossed.
J. M, KILiN.

Sworn to and subscribed before me April 8, 1872, ‘
"W. M. IVES, Jxr.,
Notary Public Columbia County.
(Exlnblt B introduced as part of the testimony, being a certificate
of clerk’s office circuit LOllPt )
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LAxe Ciry, FLORIDA, April 8, 1872,
S. L. NIBLACK
V8. - ¢ Forty-second Congress United States.

JosiAll T. WALLS. S

JosirH M. ToLBERT sworn for contestant, ,

Question 1. Were you present at Take City, Florida, on the 8th day
of November, 1870, at an election held that day for Representative to
Congress !—Answer, I was,

Q. 2. Where do you reside 7—A. I reside in Columbia County, State
of Tlorida, about cleven miles south of Lake City. o

Q. 3. Did you come to Lake City, on the 8th day of November, 1870,
to attend said election 7 If not, what day did you come?—A. 1 came
the evening before, which was the 7th day of November.

Q. 4. In coming to Lake City the day before the election, did you see
any persons coming armed to the election? If so, state whether they
were colored people or white people, and how many ?—A. I do not rec-
ollect seeing any persons coming to the election with arms, either white
or colored.

Q. 5. After you arrived in town the evening before the clection did
you see any persons with arms? and, it so, state whether they were
white people or colored people—A. I saw some colored people with
guns in their hands going in the direction of the chureh, which is ¢
little north of this place—there were between eight and fifteen—and
afterward I saw some with guns in their hands at the church,

Q. 6. Was there a disturbance in town the night before the election ?
If so, state how it occurred, and all the circumstances attending the
difficulty that came under your personal knowledge.—A. After I left
the church where the speaking had been going on, in company with
several other white men, we came from the church down in town and
stopped in the neighborhood of Joe Baya’s store, and I thought the ex-
citement or exercises of the evening were all over with. Some of the
young men who were in company with me proposed to have a dance,
and some talked of sending for Ridgell and his fiddle to play for them.
I'think I was then sitting on the door-steps of Joe Baya’s store. Some
of the others were standing on the plank-walk, near where I was sitting.
Somy, I think, were patting their feet on the walk as if they were going
to have a .jig there. The next thing that attracted my attention was a
noise on the plank-walk up the street. I got up from where I was sit-
ting and looked to see what it was, and I found it was a column ‘of col-
ored men, in double file, marching down- the plank-walk. There I saw
a great many more guns in the hands of those colored men, but I did
not recognize them, as I am not acquainted with many colored people:
I'stepped a little to one side of the plank-walk, and just as the front of
the column passed me I recognized Mr. Mahoney, who called to me to
fall in with them. About that time, a little further up the plank-walk,
I heard some pretty rough language being used by some of the parties.
I'went immediately to the place in order to keep down a fuss, if possible.
When I got there I saw a colored man draw his gun down to about the
position of present arms, or lower. He and a white man, it seemed,

-were in dispute. I stepped up to the white man and put my hand on
his shoulder, and endeavored in the name of the State to command the
peace. The colored man then turned his gun and took it by its muzzle .
and struck twice at the white man, the breech of the gun hitting the
plank-walk pretty hard both times. About that time another white
man caught .this man, upon whom I had my hand, around the waist
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and ran backward with him, and one or two colorcd men caught this
colored man who had struek with his gun, and kept him from making
further demonstrations,  Tlre colored men then passed down the plank-
walk, and most of them turned off to the right in front of Reuben Hart’s
stables.  Some of the white men came down toward the center of the
town. The colored people, a good many of whom seemed to be drink-
ing, were cursing pretty loud, and 1 went to them in front of Reuben
Hart’s stables, and I found that most of them seemed very indignant
toward the whites; but one colored man that I recognized I found en-
deavoring to ]).ulfy them, and I joined in with him in order to keep
them from making further demonstrations. 1 had not been there long
before Mr. Stephenson, the deputy marshal, and Mr. Cline came, who
joined us in endeavoring to keep the peace.  After talking a little whilc
most of the colored men started back up town, and 1 walked across the
street, to the plank-walk,  About the time I reached the walk T heard
the firing commence up the street a little ways, A\ good many balls 1
heard w hmtlm(r over and striking the houses, and 1 thou"ht I wasina
dangerous ])Lu'e ; so 1 took wluuu hehind one of the stores till the firing .
Ce lsml, after which I heard one, two, or threg making threats that they
would birrn the town to ashes. 1 was certain they were coloved people,
I was acting as deputy sherift’ at the time. I was acting on the night
before and the day of the election. 1 sent oft to see it I could get Mr,
Bush. He was absent, and I did not know where lie was, and I came down
town to where Joe Baya then lived and got him to go with me up to his
store, and told him I wanted all the guns he had in his store, and am-
munition to load them. Mr, Bush still had not arrived.  After I got
the guns out of the store I met Mr, Stephenson againg he was United
States deputy marshal; he was in company with Major Giles U. Ellis.
1 told them I wanted them to go up to where the colored people were
and try to paeify them. They said they would go. I then formed what
white men I could into line in the street in front of Baya’s store, and
marched them out in a westward direction some-three hundred yards
from that place and halted them, and in my feeble manner made them
a little speech, the sum and substance of which was that they must
keep the peace, that they must act only on the defensive, but that if the
colored people nn(lcltook to burn the town I should call on every one of
them to assist in defending the town.  We then broke ranks and came
down town to the pul)lic square, I still didd not find Mr. Bush, who
was the sherifts.  Afterward Mr, Stephenson, the United States deputy
marshal, and Major Ellis returned trom where the colored people were,
and, as I recolleet, said that the colored people had agreed to be quict.
I dow’t think there was any more disturbance during the night,

Q. 7. Do you know of your own knowledge who ()l‘l"l!hllC(l the diffi-
cull,\ or disturbance, the white people or the colored ])L*()ple”—-—A I cant
say that I do.

Q. 8. Ifrom yonr knowledge of the difliculty that occurred, which
were o blamo, the white 1)(‘01)10 or the colored people, for its origina-
tion 2—A. From what I saw, after I went to the parties quarreling on
the walk, 1 think the mlorcd man was to blame lm' the difticulty, - 1
think he was drinking. I don’t know what his name is.

Q. 9. At the time the difticulty oceurred were the white people armed
with guns I—A, They were not,

Q. 10. Did you see the white people armed with guns at any time
durnw the night previous to the time you got the guns from Baya's
store, “after the difliculty had occurred 2—-A, I dow’t recollect of seeing
them with any guns until I got the guns out of Baya’s store.
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Q. 11. Were there any unfriendly demonstrations on the part of the
white people toward the colored people that night, before the difficulty
occurred ?—A. T did not see any or hear any.

Cross-examined by 8, B, MclLan for Walls:

Q. 1. Were there many white voters who came to the clection on the
afternoon before the day of election !—A. T think there were several;
there were probably between fifteen and fifty.

Q. 2. Is it customary in Florida for parties to go to an election the
day previous I—A. It was the first clection that I recolleet of having
gone to previous to election day. DBut on account of the precincts
being held only in Lake City, I think it is customary for those who live
from fifteen to twenty-five miles off, who go to elections in wagons, to
start to the election the day previous, and of times a great many get to
the town on the day previous to the election. 1 have known several
instances where the precinets were held only in Lake City.

Q. 3. Were you captain of a company at the time of the election ?—
A. T was not; I did not belong to any company; T was not even @
private.

Q. 4. Did you receive any notification from any one to come to the
election the day previous; and it so, whom ’— A, I did not. As I recol-
lect, Mr. Bush had told me previously he wanted me to act as deputy
sherift on the occasion.

Q. 5. Did you see white people armed with guns or repeaters in Lake
City on the night before the election I—A. 1 don’t recollect of seeing
any till I got the guns out of Baya’s store.

Q. 6. Were you halted while en route to the church to hear the speak-
ing that night, or did you see any sentinels?—A. 1 was not halted;
neither did I sce any one 1 would have termed a sentinel,

Q. 7. Were you interfered with in any way either while going to, at,
or returning from, the chureh ?— A, I was not.

Q. 8. What class of people composed the meeting 2—A. While I was
there they were mostly coloved, but a good many whites. There was
no disturbance at the c¢hurch that I recolleet.

Q. 9. Was the procession testified to in your direct examination a
political procession, or was it formed for warlike purposes 7—A. I do
not know for what purpose the procession was formed,

Q. 10, Were you a republican at that time 2—A. 1 was not.

Q. 11, Were you not invited by the leader of the procession {o join
it?—A. I was invited by Mr. Mahoney, who was near about the frong
file, but I don’t know who was the leader,

Q. 12, Did the parties who engaged in the difficulty on the plank-walk
(referred to in your direct examination) belong to the procession or
not ¥—A. One of them did, the other did not.

Q. 13. Did the procession halt while the difficulty went on?—A, A
good many that were in the procession made a halt.

Q. 14, Did the larger number go on?—A. They made «a slight halt,
but after the fuss went in front of Reuben Hart’s stable.

Q. 15, What did you see after you came up to the parties in the difii-
culty, that led you to think the colored man was to blame #—A. I saw
him draw his gun down, and 1 think he cocked it. 1 commanded the
peace as deputy sheriff, and after I did he took hold of the muzzle of
his gun and strack at the white man twice. 1 saw no demonstrations
on the part of the white man, whatever, to fight. This led me to believo
the colored man was to blame.
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Q. 16. What reason did the colored people give, when you went to
them in front of Ileub Hart’s stable, why they were indignant at the
whites 7—A. None that I heard.

Q. 17. Where were the persons you heard threatening to burn the
town, so that you could see them or not?—A. They were up street some
thirty or fifty yards; I dow’t recollect seeing them just at the time.

Q. 18, At the time the difficulty commenced, do you know whether or
not the white people were armed, and could not they have been armed
with repeaters without your knowledge t—A. 1f they were armed it was
in such a manner 1 did not see them,

Re-examined :

Q. 1. Was there at the church where this public speaking took place
anything in the conduct of the white people to give oftense to the
colored people’—A. [ did not see anything and 1 do not know of any-
thing.

Q. 2. Is it customary for men marching in a political procession to be
armed with guns and pistols?—A. I never saw anything of the kind
before. ‘

Q. 3. Was or was not the marching of the colored people in proces-
sion that night, armed with guns and pistols, calculated to create alarm
and apprehension on the part of the white people t—A., 1 thought then
and I think yet that it was out of order and uncalled for.

Q. 4. At the time the difficulty occurred that night was there a greater
number of colored people present than whites; and, if so, what was the
relative proportion of each ?—A., There was a greater number of colored
people present. To the best of my recollection there were fifty, seventy-
five, or perhaps a hundred colored people in the procession, and from
twelve to twenty-five whites,

Re-cross-examined :

Q. 1. From the best of your knowledge, were there more whites than
colored in the town of Lake City that night !—A. From my information
I judge there were a great many more colored men than whites in Lake

Sity that night. _ 7
J. M. TOLBERT,

Sworn to and subseribed before me April 8, 1872,

' W. M. IVES, Jr,
Notary Publie, Columbia County.

LAKE C11y, FLORIDA, April 9, 1872,
The court was opened at 8 a. m., in pursuance to adjournment, and
_the witnesses called in the case pending, to wit:

Hon. 8. L. N1BLACK, Contestant. 2 Contesting seat in the Jorty-
4, _ -gecond Congress of the United
Hon. Josianm T. WALLS, Contestee. S States.

ABEL J. HUTCHINGSON sworn for contestant : .

Question 1, Were you present at the election for Representative to
Congress held at Lake City, Florida, on the Sth day of November, 18701
Answer. I was, ,
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Q. 2. Did you hold an official position on that day ; if so, what ?—A.
1 was inspector at the City Hall precincet.

Q. 3. Who were the other inspectors of election at that precinet, and
who the clerk of election 7— A, Mr. James Keen, and a colored man
pamed Alfred Holland were the inspectors, and—Mitchell—I belicve his
pame is J. L. Mitchell-——was the clerk.

Q. 4. Was it a fair and peaceable election 7—A. Yes, so far as I saw;
I saw nothing to the contrary.

Q. 5. Were the same facilities afforded the colored people for voting
that were to the whites t—A., Yes.

Q. 6. Did the white people try or attempt in any way to prevent the
colored people from voting at your precinet 2—A, I saw no attempt to
hinder, nor no intimidation whatever.

Q. 7. Did J. L. Mitchell, the clerk of election, vote at said eleetion 1—
A. Yes; I am pretty certain he did.

Q. 8. Did his name appear as a ]egully registered voter on the regis-
tration list furnished you as inspectors?—A. Yes; if his name had not
appearced we would not-have allowed him to vote, as we were very par-
tienlar, and only one or two attempted it.

Q. 9. Did you have any evidence, other than the registration list fur-
nished the inspectors, that J. . M itehell was or was not a legal voter of
the county ?—A. That was all the evidence we had.

Q. 10. Was the registration List mentioned furnished you by the sherift
of the county, and certified to by the clerk ot the court 7—A. 1 do not
remember whether the clerk, Mr. Easton, or the sherift; Mr. Bush, handed
it to me, but I think Mr. Bush did. It was certified to by the clerk.

Not cross-examined.
A J. HHUTCIHINGSON,

Sworn and subscribed before me April 9, 1872,
. W. M. IVES, Jr.,
Notary Public, Columbia County.

TioMAs M. MickLir sworn for contestant, Niblack :

Question 1. Were you present at an election for Representative to
Congress held in Lake City, Florida, on the 8th day of November,
1870 2 — Answer. I was.

Q. 2. Were you present at the precinet held at the probate office,
and, it so, who were the inspectors of clection,and who the clerk of
election at said precincet ?—A. I was; but don’t know all the inspectors.
Mr. George (+. Keen, Mr. Mike \thtqtone, and a colored man, whose
name I do mot know, were inspectors. The clerk 1 don’t know; don’t
recollect.

Q. 3. After the polls were closed, were you present at the counting ot
the votes at said precinet, and were you present at the conclusion of the
counting of said votes I—A. I was. 1 went there in the morning, and
remained all day till after the polls closed and the votes were counted
ﬂufl At the request of the inspectors, I announced the closing of the
polls,

Q. 4. Was the colored man, mentioned by you as one of the inspectors,
present ac the counting of smd vote, and was he present at the con-
clusion of the counting of the votes 1A, He was present at the com-
mencewnent of the counting, but was not present at the conclusion ; the
Gouutm«v was about half through when he left.
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Q. 5, Were you present when the inspectors made up their returns of
the clection at that precinet I—A. I was there.

Q. G, Was the colored man (one of the inspectors mentioned) present
at that time, and did he sign the return !—A, Ile was not, and did not
sign the return. e remarked to Mr. Mahoney, who was in the oflice,
“T will go and put up my horse.” Tle then left, and did not return that
night,

Q. 7. Were you in Lake City the evening before the election day 1—
A. T was,

Q. 8. Did you see any colored people armed, in Lake City, on the
evening before the election, and, it' so, how many I—A., I did. I saw
quite & number at dusk pass by Mr. McLauren’s; in that party I saw
twenty-three with guns, I intercepted them and met them at Colonel
Ives’s oflice, (law office.) Knowing a number of them, I asked them’
¢“what they meant by coming to town with their guns,” and advised
them to put up their guns, They said they were going to the churchto
stack their guns, as they were directed to do.

Q. 9. Did you see any white people with arms on that evening 3—A,
I did not; nothing more than is usual in this place.  Quite a numberof
men in this place carry their pistols, and I see them. T saw nothing
unusual,

Not cross-examined.

T. M. MICKLER.

Sworn to and subscribed before me April 9, 1872,
W. M. IVES, Jr.,
Notary Public.

NIBLA(,‘KI o
8. Forty-second Congress United States.
WALLS, S

WiLLiaM T, NiBLACK sworn for contestant :

Question 1. Were you present at an election held in Luke City, Florida,
for Representative to Congress on the 8th day of November, 1870 3—
Answer. I was,

Q. 2. State whether you were told by any one on that day ¢ that they
had been advised to bring their guns with them to the clection.,” State
all you know about it.—A. I was told by a colored man-~—he gave me his
name as Frank Morgan—¢ that he had been to hear Dr, Johnson make
three or four speeches to the colored people, and every time he advised-
them to bring their guns, and, yesterday evening, there came along a
gang with their guns to my house to get me to come with them to the
election. I told them if they were fools enough to come to Lake City
with their guns and run against the white people and get their brains
knocked out that they could do so, but he (Morgan) should not come;
and sure enough this morning when I got here they had had a row and
some of them shot, and I went to a white man and told him to take Dr.
Johnson’s name off my ticket, for he was te blame, and I would not vote
for him.” That is all I heard him say,

Q. 3. Was Dr. Johnson, mentioned by you above, a candidate for any
oftice at that election; if 8o, what political party was running him as ity
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eandidate I—A. Tle was running as the republican ecandidate for the

State senate,

Not cross-examined.
W. T, NIBLACK.

Sworn to and subseribed before me April 9, 1872,
W. M. IVES, Jr,,
Notary Public, Columbin County.

ArrinL 9, 1872,

Hexry P, EasToN sworn for the contestant, Mr. Niblack :

Question 1. Did you hold an official position in Columbia County,
Florida, during the year 1870 If so, what?—Answer. I did. 1 was
clerk of the cireuit court.

Q. 2, Were you a member of the hoard of county canvassers of an
election held on the 8th day of November, 1870, for a Representative to
Congress in said county?—A. I was.

[Exhibit A shown to witness,| )

Q. 3. Is Exhibit A a true copy of the original return of the inspectors
of the election held at the probate office precinet 7—A. Trom the best
of my recollection it is. I can’t say positively, unless I could see the
original,

Q. 4. Was the original return from said precinet signed by all the in-
spectors ! If not, by how many 7—\. I think it was signed by only
two inspectors and the clerk.

Q. 5, Was or was not J. 1., Mitchell o registered voter of the county
at said election 2—A. Yes, he was a registered voter. I registered him.

Q. 6. Were you the proper registration oflicer of the connty at thut
time?—A. I was,

[Exhibit B shown witness.]

Q. 7, As the keeper of the public records and files of the county at
that time, state whether Exhibit B, a certificate of the record, is a cor-
rect exemplification of said record and files.—A. Yes; from the best of
my recollection I think it is,

Q. 8. Did you administer the oath required by law to J. .. Mitchell at
the time of his registration ?——A. I did. I asked him, and he said he
had been in the State twelve months and in the county six months, It
was my duty to ask.

Not cross-examined,

H. I, KASTON.

Sworn to and subseribed before me April 9, 1872,

W. M. LVES, Jr.,
Notary Public, Columbia ("nunty.

Exmipir A,

Certificate of the vesult of election to be signed by inspectors anid
clerk of election.
(See section 23 of the general election law.)
STATE OF FLORIDA, Columbia County : ,
We, the undersigned, inspectors and clerk of an election held at Lake
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City, in the county of Columbia, and State aforesaid, on the cighth day
of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eloht hundred and
seventy, under and by virtue of an act entitled “An act to provide for
the registration of electors, and the holding of elections,” approved Au.
gust 6, 1868, and an act amendatory th(‘l(}fO, approved Tebruary 19,

1870, do hercby certify that the result of the said elecetion was as 10]
low s, viz: For Representative in (! longress, S, L. Niblnek received forty.
four votes, and Josiah Walls received four hundred and thivty-cight
hallots,

FFor lieutenant governor W. D, Bloxham forty-one votes, and Samuel
T, Day four lmmho(l and fifty-one votes,

For State senator Charles 11, Ross received forty votes, and Elisha
(i, Johnson received four hundred and forty-five hallots,

IFor member of the assembly, J. I, Mahony received four hundred
and fifty ballots; \\’m. M. Duke received forty-two votes; J. I Arm.
strong reccived four hundred and forty-six votes; and A Flowers
received forty-two votes.

For constable, 1. J. Wells received four hundred and forty-eight
votes; Peter me\, four hundred and forty-seven votes; J, C. Miller,
four lumdlv(l and forty-six votes; Henry I Wilson, four hundred and
forty-six votes; Don, Tompkins, 1mn' hundred and eighty-nine votes;
Robert Smith, four hundred and fortyv-six votes; W, 1L Paseh: W, tmt\
votes; W, J. Raulerson, forty votes; €. P, Parnell, forty votes; ) \\
’I‘mnpkm.s one vote.

Witness our hands at Lake ¢ ity, in the county aforesaid, this eighth
day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand ('wht hundred
and seventy,

Josiah L. Walls, eight votes; and A, DeMott, two votes,

G. M. WHITSTON,
Tuspector of Elections.

GLEORGE G, KEEN,
Inspector of Flections.

]ns'p(('tor of Ilcctions.
JOTIN M. CALDWELL,
Clerk of Iuicetions.

N. B.—All of the blanks in the above certifieate must be filled up in
words written at full length.

The certificate must be signed in duplicate.  One of the certificates ‘
must be delivered by one of the number signing it without delay, se-
curely sealed, to the clerk of the circuit court, and the other to the
county Judg,(, of the county. The poll-list and oaths of the inspectors
and clerk must be transmitted, with the certificate, t() the clerk of the
circuit court, to be filed in his ()ﬂwo

STATE OF FLORIDA, Columbia County :

I, Keightley S. Waldron, clerk of the circuit court in and for the
(-ountv of Columbia, State afor esaid, do hereby certify that the foregoing
is a correct copy of ‘the original on file in my office in Lake City.

Witness my hand and seal of office this the 8th day of Apul, A D

ISFS)
[SEAL.] 4 K. 8. WALDRON, Clerk.
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Exuisir B.

STATE OF FFLORIDA, County of Columbia :

1 do hereby certify that the name of J. L. Mitchell appears on the list
of the registered voters of the county of Columbia, and his name ap-
pears also on the registration list furnished to the inspectors of election
at the election held in Lake City on the eighth day of November, A. D,
1870. I do also certify that the election returns from the probate oftice
precinet in Lake City, of the election held on the eighth of November, A.
D. 1870, was signed by no more than two inspectors and by the clerk.
Witness my hand and seal of oftice this the 8th day of April, A, D.
1872,

[SEALL.] K. 8. WALDRON,
Clerk Circuit Court, Columbia County, Florida.

Laxe Crry, March 18, 1872.
Hon. JostAn T. WALLS: .

Sir: You will take notice that I shall, on the Sth day of April next,
before the Hon. A. B. Hagen, notary publie, at his office in Lake City,
Columnbia County, take the testirony of the following-named persons,
viz: James Stephenson, Henry P. Easton, A. J. Huchingson, Henry J..
Kerby, Joseph M. Tolbert, Charles H. Ross, William T, Niblack, James
M. Keen, Thomas M. Mickler, George M. Whetstone, George W, Keen,.
Benjamin F. Monroe, George M. Cline, Frank Morgan, William Pas-
chall, Norman M. Ives, Herbert B. Elder, Giles U. Ellis, and Benjamin
Niblack, as witnesses in my behalf, in the matter of the contested elec-
tion between you and myself, as Representative to the Forty-second
Congress of the United States from the State of Florida, and in case of”
the absence or inability of the said Hon. A. B. Hagen, notary public, to
take said testimony,it will be taken before some other officer authorized.
by law to take the same.

S. L. NIBLACK,

Contestant.
StATE OF FLORIDA, Alachua County :

Before me personally appeared J, H. Roper, who, being duly sworn,,
says that he served a true copy of the within notice on Josiah T. Walls
by leaving the same at his usual place of abode, with his wife, on this
the 20th day of March, A. D. 1872, :

J. H. ROPER.

Sworn to and subscribed before me the 20th day of March, A. D, 1872,
[SEAL.] R. W. ROBERDS,
Jastice of the Peace.

_ Laxe Ciry, Froripa, March 30, 1872,

Hon. Josiax T. WALLS: :
SIR: You will take notice that I intend to take the: testimony of the
following-named witnesses, on the 8th day of April next, at Lake Oity,.
in Columbia County, before the Hon. A. B. Hagen, notary publie, viz:.
Robert . Martin, Benjamin McNish, and Alfred Williams, All of said®

witnesses reside in Columbia County, Florida.
‘ S. L. NIBLACK.
H. Mis, 34, pt. 2—3
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'X ’

STATE OF FLORIDA, Columbia County :

Personally appeared before me, Reuben I. Charles, who, being duly
sworn, says that he served the above notice by delivering a true copy
of the same to Josiah T, Walls, in person, on March the 30th, 1872,

R. H. CHARLES.

Sworn to and subscribed before me April 3, A. D. 1872,
[SEAL.) GEORGE G. KEAN,
Justice of the Peace.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Columbia County :

To James Stephenson, Henry P. Easton, A.J. Huchingson, Henry J.
Kerby, Joseph M. Tolbert, Charles H. Ross, William T. Niblack, James
- M. Keen, Thomas M. Mickler, George M. Whetstone, George W.
Keen, Benjamin IF. Monroe, George M. Cline, Frank Morgan, William
Paschall, Norman M. Ives, Herbert B, Elder, Giles U. Ellis, Benjamin
Niblack, Robert C. Martin, Benjamin McNish, and Alfred Williams:
You are hereby commanded that, laying aside all business and excuses,
you and each of you be and appear in your proper persons before me, at
the court-house in Lake City, on the 8th day of April, 1872, at the hour of
10 o’clock a. m. of said day, to testify all and singular those matters and
things which you or either of you know in the case of a contested elec.
tion wherein Silas 1. Niblack, as contestant, contests the election and
-seat of Josiah T, Walls as member of the Forty-second Congress of the
Congress of the United States from the State of Florida, and in order
that you may be then and there examined respecting the said contested
-election, in the manner preseribed by the laws of the United States, and
this you shall in no wise omit, under the penalty prescribed by law.
Witness my hand and official seal this the 3d day of April, A.D. 1872,
[SEAL,] A. B. HAGEN,
‘ Notary Public.

I certify that a copy of the within subpena was this day served on
the within-named James Stephenson, H. P. Baston, A. J. Huchingson,
Josephr H. Tolbert, William T. Niblack, James M. Keen, Thomas M.
Mickler, George M. Whetstone, George M. Keen, Benjamin I, Monroe,
‘William Paschall, Norman M, Ives, Giles U. Ellis, Benjamin Niblack,
Robert C. Martin, Benjamin M¢Nish, and Alfred Williams.

WARREN S. BUSH, Sherif.

APRIL 4, 1872,

8, L. NIBLACK, :
V8. % Contested election case.
J. T. WALLS.

Now comes the contestee, and protests against any testimony being
taken in this case at this time, and, for grounds of protest, says that on
the 9th day of March, A. I). 1872, he perfected service on the contestant,
and notified him he would take testimeny in this case at Jacksonville;
in the county of Duval, on the 4th day ot April, A. D. 1872, '

He further says that he did commence to take testimony on that day,
and that said.case is still for hearing in said county, and unfinished,
.and that five days have not elapsed,;as required by law,
' J. T. WALLS..
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LAxE C1ry, April 8,1872,

In answer to the protest of contestee against contestant’s taking tes-
timony in said case, stated by contestee, the contestant says that he’
served said contestee with notice that he, the said contestant, would
take testimony in La Fayette County on the 1st day of April, 1872; that
said notice was served on said contestee either on the 7th or 8th day of
March last, and that after the service of said notice the contestee served
the contestant with notice to take testimony at Jacksonville, in Duval
County, on the 4th day of April instant. The contestant alleges and
claims that the notice of said contestee was illegal and void, for the
reason that five days had not elapsed from the time contestant took tes-
timony in La Fayette County on the 1st day of April instant, and the
taking of testimony by the contestee in Jacksonville, Duval County, on
the 4th day of April instant, and that contestant has filed his protest
against said contestee taking testimony at said time and place.

S. L. NIBLACK, Contestant.

————— et

S, L. NIBLACK
8. Contested-election case.
J. T, WALLS.

Now comes the contestee and protests against any testimony being
taken in this case before Washington Ives, notary public, and for
grounds of protest says that the notice served upon contestee by con-
testant states that the testimony to be taken at this date was to bLe
taken before A, B. Hagen, notary publie, without mentioning any other
person as officer, or providing for the absence of A. B. Hagen,

‘ J. T. WALLS,
Per attorney, S. B, McLIN.

—n

LAKE Crry, April 8, 1872,
In answer to the protest of contestec in the case, stated by said con-
testee, the contestant says, notice was duly served on contestee that
contestant would take testimony of certain witnesses named in said no-
tice, on this day, in Lake City, said testimony to be taken before the
Hon. A. B. Hagen, notary public, or in his absence or inability to
attend, the testimony would be taken before some other officer authorized
by law to take the same; that said A. B. Hagen is not able to attend
the taking of said testimony, and that Washington M. Ives, a notary

public, has been called in to act in the place of said A. B. Hagen.
S. L. NIBLACK, Contestant.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Columbia County :

. I, Washington M. Ives, jr.,, a notary public in and for the county and
State aforesaid, duly commissioned and gqualified, do hereby certify that
the foregoing testimony ot the following-named witnesses—Giles U.
Ellis, George M. Whetstone, William H, Paschall, James M. Keen, Jo-
seph M. Tolbert, Abel J. Hutchingson, Thomas M. Mickler, William T..
Niblack, and Henry P. Easton—was taken before me, in due form of
‘law, on. the 8th and 9th days of April, 1872, at Lake City, Columbia
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County, Florida, in accordance with the notice served by the contestant
upon the contestec; the same being taken before me owing to the in-
ability of Andrew B. lagen, notary public, to attend; and the following
abstracts were admitted as evidence, to wit: abstracts A and B, (certifi.
cates,)

Witness my hand and ofticial seal, at Lake City, Florida, this 9th day
of Aprily A. D, 1872,

[SEALL] WASH. M. IVES, JRr.,

Notary Public, Columbia County.

To Hon. 8. L. NIBLACE: ‘

You are hereby notified that I intend to take the depositions of the fol.
lowing-named persons, to be used as evidence for me and against you
in the matter of the contested election in the Iforty-second Congress of
the United States for the State of Florida, in which contest I am con.
testee and you centestant. It is my intention to take all of said deposi-
tions before C. I{, Edwards, mayor ot Tallahassee, tender, or in default
of his taking said testimony or depositions, then T will apply to some
other officer anthotized by law to take the same. I will, first, on the 27th
day of February, A. D. 1872, at the office of said Edwards, in the city of
Tallahassce, county of Leon, State of Florida, at 10 a. m., take the depo-
sitions of the following persons, residents of Jackson County, Florida;
Washingtoa Pope, Homer Bryan, Benjamin F, Livingston, Richard Poun-
sery, W, K Robinson, Charles Walker, Henry Beckwell, John Livingston,
Daniel Kempt; also, the following witnesses rexiding in Leon County:
Thomas Blount, Pete Hays, Emanuel Pope, Nopolun Pittman, Brouse
Nichols, Hon. J. C. Gibbs, Hon. Sherman Conant, and Hon. A, R. Meek,
Duval County ; the following from La Fayette County: Wm. Vaughn,
Pete Ashly, Columbus Snead, Anderson Jackson, Isom Thinos, William
Sears; and you are further notified, at the same time and place I shall
continue the taking of depositions of .said witnesses from day to day,
Sundays excepted, until completed. .

J. T. WALLS,

TALLAHASSER, FLORIDA, February 16, 1872,

STATE oF FLORIDA, County of Columbia :

I hereby certify that T served the original, of which this is a true copy,
on 8. L. Niblack, in person, at Lake City, Florida, on the 17th day of
February, A. D, 1872,

~ . A. HOLT.

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA, February 20, 1872,

Hon, 8. L. NIBLACK: ‘
Sik: In the matter now pending between us as to who is entitled to
represent the State of Florida in the Forty-second Congress, you will
take notice that I withdraw the service made upon you by the Hon.
P. A, Holt, to appear at Tallahassee on the 27th of the present month,
and substitute in its place thé notice served upon you by Sheriff Busli,
‘of Columbia County, to the effect that I shall, on the 2d day of March,
A. D. 1872, be in the city of Tallahassee, Florida, for the purpose of
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taking depositions to be used in the case of 8, L. Niblack vs, Josiah T,

Walls.
JOSIAH T, WALLS,
Duly executed, by serving a true copy on S, I, Niblack, this February

91, 1872,
W. S. BUSH, Skerif.

To Hon. S. L., NIBLACK :

You are hereby notified that I intend to take the depositions of the
following-named persons, to be used as evidence for me and against you
in the matter of the contested election-in the Forty-second Congress of
the United States for the State of Iflorida, in which contest I am con-
testee and you contestant. It is my intention to take all of said depo-
sitions before C. H. Edwards, mayor of Tallahassee, tender, or in de-
fanlt of his taking said testimony or depositions, then I will apply to
some other officer authorized by law to take the same. 1 will, first, on
the 2d day of March, A. D. 1872, at the office of said Edwards, in the city
of Tallahassee, county of Leon, State of Florida, at 10 a. m., take the de-
positions of the following persons, residents of Jackson County, Florida :
Washington Pope, Homer Bryan, Benjamin F. Livingston, Richard
Pouser, W. K. Robinsoun, Charles Walker, Henry Beckwell, John Living-
ston, Daniel Kempt; also the following witnesses, residing in Leon
County : Thomas Blount, Pete Hays, Emanuel Pope, Nopolun Pitman,
Bouse Nichols, Hon. J. C. Gibbs, Hon. Sherman Conant, and Hon. A. R.
Meek, Duval County ; the following from La Fayette County: William
Vaugn, Pete Ashly, Columbus Snead, Anderson Jackson, Isom Thimos,
William Sears. And you are further notitied at the said time and place
I'shall continue the taking of depositions of said witnesses, from day to
day, Sundays excepted, until completed,

J. T. WALLS.

TALLADASSEE, FLORIDA, February 16, 1872,

STATE OF FLORIDA, County of Columbia : ' -

I hereby certify that I served the original, of which this is a true
copy, on 3. L, Niblack, in person, at Lake City, Florida, on the 21st day
of February, A. D. 1872,

W. S. BUSH, Sheriff Columbic County.

Duly executed, by serving a true copy of this original on 8. L. Nib-
lack, February 21, 1872, |
W. S. BUSH, gtheriff.

S. L. NIBLACK
J.T. WALLS, |

The contestant in the above-entitled case moves that the usual notice,
as far as it affects the following-named witnesses, and consents that
subpenas in these cases may be made returnable forthwith: Simon
Morris, Shack Pridgitt, Barney Nichols, Alex. Sims, Clem. - Pridgitt,
Lewis Evans, Washington Williams, Moses Baker, Anderson Baker,
Jesse Robiuson, Daniel W, Bryan, John Clements, Neptune Pitman,
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Moses Baker, Lewis Glover, Jacob Gamble, William Anderson, Willig
(Gxibson, Joseph Baker, Anderson Baker, Jmm s A, Shiver,
S. I. NIBLACK, Coentestant.
TALLAUASSER, FLORIDA, March 2, 1872

st ey

Testimony in the matter of the contested election hetween the Hon,
Josiah T, Walls, sitting member of the Forty-second Congress of the
Congress of the Umted States from the congressional district of
Flon(lu, and the Hon. Silas I. Niblack, ('ontost.mt taken before

Jharles H. Iidwards, m‘lyor of the city of Td“dll«\S‘a(’L, in said con-
gressional distriet, on the 2d day of March, A. 1. 1872

The parties met agreeable to notice, and by consent ad'ourne(l until
A 8 ) 1CC, )
12 o'clock m. on March 4, A, 1), 1872, .

MonbDAY, March 4, 1872—12 m.

The parties met pursu.mt to adjournment. 'l‘he conte.stee having an-
nounced that he would proceed to take testimony under the fifth para-
graph of his answer to contestant’s notice of contest, the contestant offers
the following, and prays that it may become a part of the record :

In the matter of the contested election between Silas L. Niblack, con-
testant, and Josiah T, Walls, sitting member of the Forty-second Con-
gress,

The contestant, the said Silas 1. Nlblaok, by protestation, denying
the truth of all and every of the allegations <ot forth in paragrlph
fifth of the answer of the sitting member to the notice of the con-
testant, upon the grounds of which said allegations the sitting member
asks for the rejection of the votes of the county of Jackson, and not
admitting the truth of all or of any of the said al]og;\tlonv neverthe-
less he, the contestant, concedes the demand of the said sitting member
that the votes of the said county of Jackson be altogether rejected, with
a'view to avoiding the expense and time required to take testimony in
regard to the issues involved in respect to the election in said county ;
he thuotorc, and on the tmwomg grounds, objects to the examination
of any witness or witnesses in regard to the election held in said county

of Jackson,
SILAS 1. NIBLACK,
Contestant.
TALLAUASSEE, FLORIDA, March 4, 1572.

Whereupon the contestee ofters the following, and prays that it may
become part of the record:
In the matter of the contested election between Silas L. Niblack, con-
testant, and Josiah T. Walls, contestee, Forty-second Congress.

Now comes the contestee, Josiah T. Walls, and, in reply to the propo-
sition of the contestant “that the votes of the said county of Jackson
be altogether rejected,” declines said proposition, and says that he does
not ask in paragraph ﬁfth that all the votes in the aid county of Jack-
son be rejected, but that a fair construction of said paragraph will only
reject such votes of said county as were illegally or improperly cast, or
concerning which fraud can be clearly proven,

J. T. WALLS, Contestee.

TALLAHASSEE, I'LORIDA, March 4, 1872,
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. Hereupon the contestee gives notice that he will waive taking testi-
mony under paragraph fifth for the present, in order to accommodate
witnesses now present, and will proceed to take testimony under para-
graph tenth,

Hereupon the eontestant introdnced the following ohjection :

The contestant objects to the introduction of any testimony under
paragraph 10th of the answer of' the contestee to the notice of the con-
testant, on the ground of the vagueness, indefiniteness, and want of
certainty in the allegations set forth in said paragraph, and the absence
therein of all specification of counties and precinets the votes of which
are proposed to be rejected.

Objection overruled and exception taken.

HowmER BRYAN, of Jackson County, State of Florida, was then sworn
on the Holy Evangelists, Deposeth and answers to the following ques-
tions as follows, to wit:

Question 1. What is your name and where do you reside 2—Answer.
Homer Bryan is my name, and I reside in Jackson County, near Mari-
anng, in the State of IFlorida.

Q. 2. Was that your place of residence on the 8th day of N ovember,
A. D, 18707 —A. Yes, sir; it was.

Q. 3. Did you hold any State or county office at that time?—A., I was
county treasurer during that year, or a portion of it,

Q. 4. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th
day of November, A, D. 1870 —A.. T was, :

Q. 5. Did you vote on that day at Marianna?—A. I did. :

Q. 6. If during the hours of clection on the day above specified you
noticed any disturbance in the immediate vicinity ot the polls, or saw
any violence committed by any party or parties, which was calculated
to intimidate or frighten people from the poll, please state the nature of
said disturbance or violence, when an@t how it oceurred ; and if any par-
ties lett the poll, or the immediate vicinity of said poll, so state. .

(The contestant objects to this question, and to any answer being given
thereto, on the ground that the contestee, in his answer, makes no ob-
jection to the vote at the precinet of Marvianna, in Jackson County, or to
the proceedings on the election day at that precinet; aud on the further
ground that he, the contestant, has already concedéd the demand of the
contestee, as made in paragraph fifth ot his answer, to have the vote of
said county of Jackson rejected. Objection overruled. Contestant ex-
cepts.) '

A, I did see at one time a disturbance between the voters and an offi-
cer appointed to keep the peace. The men living the farthest from Ma-
rianna seemed to be the most anxious to vote first. Some were attempt-
ed to be carried to the polls, and the police officer seemed to be clearing
the way for them, but those around did not desire to give way for these
parties. The police officer then assaulted the parties who refused to
yvield or make room for the new-comers, I'he man the police officer
struck bled pretty smart, which made those that did live far off leave
the polls for a short distance and get out of the way; and they did not
get a chance to get back to the polls, and in a short time left for home.
All this occurred at about 1 or 2 o'clock during the day. Does not
distinctly rémember the number of the poll. It was either No. 1. or No.
2. The parties left the pell and remained around there a short time, and:
were there when Ileft the poll. I then went to poll No. 3, and saw
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these people on their way home. I staid at No. 3 poll about an hour;

then returned to No. 1 or 2, and there saw a big fuss, but don't know
how it raised.  Some men unknown to me had hold of Mr. Coker, among
whom was young Jim Baker, trying to get a pistol out of Mr. J. P, Co-
ker’s hand,  To the best of my knowled"e at least one hundred and fifty
voters went oftf then from all the 1)0115. Ml' Coker and a colored man
had a row about something, and were fussing when I arrived there,”
The colored man was Jerry Robinson. 1 staid there until the polls closed,

There was no further fuss thatI saw. About one hundred and fifty peo-
ple then left, having been unable to get in their vote. The polls closed
between 4 and 5 o’clock p. m.; the sun was not down. I voted at No,
3, being the last man to deposit a vote there. Having went to No. 3 to
get my horse, after the disturbance with Mr. Coker, and seeing a chance
to vote at No. 3, I voted. There were fully {ifty men at No. 3 who had
not voted. Pais fifty is a part of the one hundred and fifty above men-
tioned. I was at No.1or2 when the judge ordered the poll to be closed.

There were three polls in Marianma.,  Poll No. 1 was tifty f(*et, more or
less, from No. 2, No. 1 being in the court-house and No. 2 in Captain
Dickerson’s office. No. 3 was in the judge of probate’s office, being
about one hundred and fifty yards from Captain Dickerson’s otﬁce. After
the fuss with the police oﬂl('u' some went away, and lots of people went
away after the fuss with Mr, Coker. I live thirteen miles from Mari-
anna, and did not get home until a good while after dark. Do not know
whether No. 2 poll was closed before sundown, and is not certain whether
No. 3 poll was closed before sundown or not. Had proceeded a right
smart distance after voting, before dark; was then on the road home.

Is positive that No. 1 poll was closed betm e sundown,
HOMER BRY AN,

The next witness called was JESSE ROBINSON, who, being duly sworn,
deposeth as follows: :

Question 1. What is your name and where do you reside —Answer,
My name is Jesse Robinson ; resides in Jackson County, State of Florida.
Q. 2. Were you present m Marianna on the 8th day of Wovember, A

D. 1870 7—A. Yes, sir.

Q. 3. Were you a candidate for any office on that day ; if so, what
office 7—A. Was a candidate for the assembl y of the State.

Q. 4. State what you know of any disturbance ocenmving at or near
the polls in Marianna on that day ?

(The contestant objects to this question and to fmv answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer
to a Similar question on the part of the witness Homwer Bryan., Objec-
tion overruled and exception taken.)

A. On that same day I wasat precinets Nos, 1 and 2 , walking between
them. While walking, Dr, Tennell slapped me in the mouth and at the
same time kicked me. I looked back then, and saw Mr, Coker and Jerry
Robinson fighting, and Mr, Coker was fixing to shoot; Robinson. I then
saw a good many people.going home. Then I asked to be let vote, and
was refused, so I did not vote at all, but staid there during the day.
The bltrgost disturbance I saw was when they struck me and Jerry ;
this caused the rest to scatter.

Q. How many went away at the time of the disturbance between Dr.
Tennell, Mr, Coker, Jerry, and yourself?—A. I think about two hun.
dred, or one hundred and fitty at the lowest.
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Q. Were they mostly colored men?—A. Yes, sir; they were all
colored.

Q. Do you know or do you not whether they voted before leaving ¥—
A. They did not vote.

Q. Whichof the two, Mr. Niblack or Mr. Walls, would you have voted
for had your vote been allowed 2—A. 1 should certainly have voted for
myself and Mr. Walls,

Q. Did you see poll No. 1 or 2 closed, or both of them closed?—A.
Yes, sir; saw No. 2 shut down.

Q. Were you at No. 1 after it was closed 7—A. Went to No. 1 and saw
that it was closed.

Q. About what time were these two polls closed?7—A. I think it was
between the hours of 4 and 5 o’clock.

Q. Are you positive that both Nos, 1 and 2 were closed before sun-
down 7—A. T am not positive that they were.

Q. How long before dark were these polls closed?—A., I think it was
about an hour and a half.

Q. How do you get the idea that it was about an hour and ahalf7—
A. Because I know how far I can walk in an hour. I can walk 5 miles
an hour, and I walked at that time 8 miles before dark. T can walk b
miles an hour all day long.

Q. When the polls were closed at No. 1 and 2, how many were wait-
ing to vote?—A. About one hundred and fifty ; the window was shut
down on a man’s hand. We voted through a window:.

Q. Were you a registered voter in that county 7—-A. Yes, sir,

Q. Had you not 101‘ two years prior to this election, held on the Sth
day of November, A. D. 1870, been a member of the’ assembly of the
State of Florida, from Jackson County ?

(Objected to as leading and not pertinent. ()bjection overruled and
exception taken.)

A, Yes, sir; I was a member.

JESSE ROBINSON,

The next witness called was DANIEL W. BryAN, who, being duly
sworn, deposes as follows :

Question, What is your name and where do you reside ! ’—Answer.
Dmm,l W. Bryan; and I reside in Jackson County.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near
the polls in l\Lu‘nmm, on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870. :

(The contestant objects to this quostmn and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer
to a similar question on the part of the witnesses Homer Bryan and
Jesse Robinson. Objection overruled and e\(,eptlon taken.)

A, I saw little Jim Baker hung to Mr. Coker, trying to get his pistol
from him; and Dr. Tennell struck Jesse Robinson in the mouth. This
Isaw. Dr.Tennell then came on and kicked me and said, ¢ Forty acres
of land, God damn you, without a wule” I turned around and said,
“ Doctor I want you to let me alone.” I then went off to my home,

Q. State it it was owing to this disturbance that you went off and
others,—A. Yes, sir; it was owing to this disturbance,

Q. About how many went off this time?—A, I thought about one
hundred left then.

Q. Were these colored or white men that went off?—A. They were
colored men,



42 NIBLACK -V8. WALLS,

Q. State if you had any trouble in voting.——-ﬁ. I had to push right
hard to get in, there being a large crowd there, all trying to get to the
polls. -

Q. Did these men have a chance te vote that went off?—A. No, sir;
they could not get there,

hi
DANIEL W. + BRYAN.

mark.
NoTE.—The contestant declines to ask any questions,
Both parties counsenting, they adjourned until 9 o’clock to-morrow,

TUESDAY, March 5, 1872—9 a. m,

The parties met pursuant to adjournment.

The first witness called was WAsHINGTON PoPE, who, Leing duly
sworn, deposes as follows:

Question. What is your name; where did you reside on the 8th
day of November, A. D. 18702—Answer. Washington Pope; Jackson
County, in the State of Florida. .

Q. Were you present at the election held in Jackson County on the
8th day of November, A, D. 1870, at Marianna, in said county }—A. I
was.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day. ,

(The contestant objects to this question, and to any answer to the
samo, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the
apswer to a'similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan
and others. Objection overruled, and exception taken.)

A. The first T saw was a fuss with Jesse Robinson and Dr. Tennell
and Jerry Robinson and Mr. Coker; in that disturbance a great many
voters left for home, After the fuss was quieted down, the voting
went on again until about between 4 and 5 o’clock in the atternoon; the
polls then closed. Also, a good many voters were shut out by the polls
being closed,

Q. What kind of a disturbance was it between Mr. Coker and Rob-
inson?— A, Coker was trying to fight, and had a pistol. _

Q. Did you hear Mr. Coler or Dr. Tennell say anything during the
fuss?—A. They were talking loud, and I heard Dr. Tennell say,
“Trorty acres without a wule.”

Q. Did you hear Dr. Tennell say anything else?—A. Yes, sir; he
said, “Forty acres without 3 mule, God damn you.”

Q. If you heard Colonel Uoker say anything during the row, say
g0.—A. I could not understand what he was saying, but he had his
pistol drawn on Jerry Robinson, Do not recollect, specifically, what
was said at the time. : ,

Q. Did you, or did you not, hear either Colonel Coker or Dr. Tennell
say, “ We want you niggers to get out of the way, as it is ‘getting late
in the day, and let'us white folks vote, as you have trampled on us
long enough??” '

(The coutestant objects to this question as leading, and suggesting
words to the wituess. The question objected to, and objection
sustained.) _ :

Q. State if you heard either Dr, Tennell or Colonel Coker say any-
thing that you have not repeated, at the time of this disturbauce.
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. -(Objected to Ly the contestant, on the ground that the witness has
already stated all the conversation that he recollects.) ‘
A. T don’t recollect hearing-them say anything else.

Adjourned until 2 o’clock p. m.

Two o’clock p. m. the parties met pursuant to adjournment.

Q. State what occurred when the disturbance above referred to took
place—A. There were a great number of persons went oft from the
poll on account of the disturbance.

Q. What class of people were they ?—A. They were colored people.

Q. Did they go away without voting 3—A. They went away without
voting.

Q. How many would you judge left without voting 2—A. About oue
hundred or one hundred and fifty ; somewhere along there.

Q. State if you were a registered voter at that time.—A. I was.

Q. State if you held any official position at that time.—A. I was
county commissioner at that time.

Q. If theie is anything further connected with that disturbance which
you have mnot recollected, so state.—A. There is nothing turther that I

can recollect.
. WASHINGTON POPE,
The contestant did not cross-examine or question the witness.

4

The next witness called was HENRY BLACKWELL, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as tollows:

Question. What is your name, and where do you reside 2—Answer,
Henry Blackwell; reside in Jackson County, State of Florida.

- Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A. D. 1870 2—A. I was,

Q. State what you know of any disturbance occuring at or near the

polls in Marianna on that day. ,
- (The contestant objects to this question and to any answerto the same,
on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer to
a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan. Objection
overruled and exception taken.) )

A. Well, I saw Mr. Coker have his pistol and going to shoot Jerry
Robinson, and if it had not been for little Jim Baker he would have
shot him, I also saw Dr. Teunell kick Jesse Robinson, and hollered
out “ Forty acres and a mule, God damn youn.,” Thisis all I saw or recol-
lect about the row. : ’

Q. Were Jesse and Jerry Robinson colored or white mem 3—A. They
were colored men,

" Q. Are you a registered voter in that county —A. Yes, sir.

Q). State whether or not you voted on that day.—A. I did not vote.

Q. Why did you not vote —A. Because they said they could not find
my name, ' - -
~ Q. What did you do when yon found that you could not vote ¥—A. I
did not stay at the poll; I went down the street. :

Q. Was this before or after the row that you found you could not
vote I—A. It was betore the row, _ '

Q. After the row happened, what did you do¥—A. I said, at the row,
after I left the polls, ¢ Look yonder at that man; he is going to shoot
Jerry Robinson.” Then that frightened me and I left. ' '
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Q. Did you see other people leave at the‘smn'c time 2—A. I saw two
leave.
e his
HENRY + BLACKWELL.

mark.

The contestant did not <ross-exawine or ask the witness any ques-
tions.

~ The next witness called was JouN CLEMONS, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows : :

Question, What is your name and where do you reside }—Answer,
John Clemons; live in Jackson County.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A, D. 1870 7—A. 1 was.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the same,
on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer to
a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan, Objection
overruled and exception taken.)

A. 1 heard Mr, Coker say, as Jesse Robinson passed by him—some
more colored men were standing with him—he said, “That is a delegate,
now, that comes by here,” and said, ¢ He may watch me, God damn him,
him and all the rest of them ;” and I left him then and went to poll No.
3, and heard Mr. Lawrence say, if the niggers didn’t vote the way he
was going to vote, they would have but a bad chance to vote to-day; and
I went to Mr. McLean, James McLean, (one of the men who came to
the assembly from Jackson County,) to let him fix a chance for me to
vote; and he said, “I will,John, you are a good fellow;” and as he made
the colored people give back to carry in some white men, I followed on
behind, voted, and went home. Whilst on my way home, I saw some
men from Marianna going home—about fifty men. This was about 3
o’clock, or between 3 and 4 four o’clock. I believe this is all that I can
think of right now.

Q. If you know from which poll these men came, say so.—A. They
came from No. 2, 1 saw them leave there. ‘

Q. At which poll was this disturbance you saw ?#—A. At No. 2 poll.

Q. How soon after the oceurrence between Jesse Robhinson and My,
Coker was it when these men went home ?%—A. About twenty minutes.

Q. Is the Mr, Lawrence you spoke of a white man?—A. Yes, sir; he

was a white man.
JOHN CLEMMONS.

The contestant did not ask the witness any questions or cross.
examine.

The next witness called was BENJAMIN F. LIVINGSTON, who, being
duly sworn, deposed as follows :

Question. What is your name and where do you reside i—Amnswer.
B;anjamin F. Livingston, and I reside in Jackson County, State of
Florida. :

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 3th day
of November, A, D. 1870 1—A. I was. ' :
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Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the same,
on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer to
a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan, Objection
overruled and exception taken.)

A. At precinet No. 1, several times during the day, I saw parties tak-
ing men, white men tukmg white men and carrying them up to the
polls, and said, “You niggers get out of the way, and let white folks vote.”
Sometimes they would punch them with stlek%, and I called the atten-
tion of the peace officers to what these men were doing, taking in their
party and making others get back; and Mr. Lawrence “and two or three
other young men said that ¢“This i 1% a white man’s country, and we intend
to rule,” and that I had better dvy up and leave there; and I said that I
was here for the purpose of voting, and was told to do it and shut my
damn gab. I soon left there and went to plocmct No. 3, and
remained most of the time afterward at precinet No. 3, and passed
back to Nos. 1 and 2, but did not stay at either place long. I saw Mr.
Baker have Mr. Coker ahd try to get his pistol out of his hand. Mr.
Baker asked Mr. Coker for his pistol, and told him to go and make up
with that negro, or it might cost ]mn a great deal of trouble., He (Coker)
said, “I won’t do i6; I would rather kill him;” and I left then and went
bd(,k to No. 3. That was all that I saw or lecolle(,

Q. Did you see any people leave precinet No. 2% If so, how many, at
the time of the disturbance referred to 9—XA. 1 thmk to t;he best of my
knowledge, that 150 or 200 people left,

Q. Where did they go ?—A. The most of them left town.

Q. Did any go to No. 3 poll? If so, what for ?—A. Some went to No.
3 to try to vote there,

Q. How many, do you think, went to No. 3 with you?—A. I think 50,
at least, went,

Q. Dld you see them vote or try to vote?—A. They challenged pretty
nearly every one until the polls were closed, and cursed them; but some
I know vo’ced whilst others could not vote.

Q. What time did the poll close at No. 3 2-—A. I don’t know at what
hour, but it closed before sundown.

Q. Were any people waiting to vote when the polls closed =—A. At
least 756 or 100 were crowded avound the window and some had their
hand in the window waiting to deposit their vote, and I ur,ed the in-
spector to allow those to vote who had their hand in the window.

Q. Do you know when the polls closed at the other places?—A. Yes,
sir; 1 think they closed 15 or 20 minutes socner than No. 3 closed.

B. F. LIVINGSTON,.

The contestant did not ask the witness any questions or cross-ex-
amine.

The next witness called was JOHN H S. LIVINGSTON, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question. What is your name and where do you reside 7—Answer.
%(l)lde S. lemgston is my name and I reside in J.u,kson County,
Mlorida.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Mauanna ou the 8th day
of November, A. D. 1870 7—A. 1 was.
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Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the answer
to a smnl.u' question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan. Objec-
tion over-ruled and exception taken.)

A. The first disturbance that I saw was at poll No, 1. Dr. Tennell
was kicking Daniel Bryant and said, ¢ TForty acres of land without a
mule, God damn youj” this was about 12 o’clock in the day; then
I left for a while, and in leturning back saw considerable confusion, [
passed on swiftly to poll No. 2, and saw Colonel Coker running after
some one or at some one with his hand behind him, under the coat, as
if getting something, and Jim Baker after him. Jim Baker overtook
him and seized him around the waist, and Coker labored hard to get
away from him. 1 passed on down the way and asked, “Where is the
sherift ?” and, * What is the reason he don’t stop the row ?  Aund as the
people were g,,omg away from the polls I said fo them to stay and vote or
we will lose the election ; some left and some remained. That is about
all that I saw of the row, This, to the best of my memory, was about 2
o’clock; did not see any more disturbance,

Q. Wue you present at any of the polls when thoy closed? If so, state
it.—A. 1 was at No. 1 when they closed, and just as they were closing
| askvd it I could vote.

. Did you get a chance to vote ?—A. No, sir.

Q Was the sun down when No. 1 poll closed 1—A., No, sirj it was
not, down,

Q. If you had had an opportunity would you have voted for M.
Nll)lack or Mr. Walls ?—A. Mr. Walls. 1 saw some men trying to vote
when the poll closed ; several had their hands in the window.

Q. Did you see if the men who had their hands in the window had
tickets in their hands?—A. Yes, sir; there were two men who had tick-
ets in their hands; but 1 don’t know whose name was on the ticket for
Congress ; these men were coloved ; after the closing of No. 1 I passed
to No. 2 'md asked to vote there, .md they would not allow me to vote.

Q. Why not?—A. Because the poll was closed.

Q. Was the sun down when you got to No. 21—A. No, sir.

Q. Were there others at Mo, 2 besides yourself trying to vote 7—
Yes, sir; I passed from here and went to No. 3.

Q. What happened at No. 32—A. The voting here was 8 or 10 minutes
longer; but I did not get a chance to vote,

Q. Did this poll close before sundown —A. Yes, sir, to the best of
my judgment it closed 10 or 15 minutes before sundown.

Q. Who ordered these polls closed I—A. Judge Anderson. I heard
him give the order at No. 1 and 2.

Q. Were most of the men colored whom you saw trying to vote when
the polls closed t—A. Yes, sir.

Q. From your knowledge of the colored pecople in Jackson County,
would they, as a class, it all had an opportunity of voting, have c.lst
their b.lllots tor Mr, Walls, in preference to Mr, Niblack ?

(The contestant objects to this question, on the ground that the man-
ner in which these persons would have voted cannot be proven by this
witness, either from hearsay or from a knowledge of their character,
Objection sustained and exception taken.)

JOHN LIVINGSTON.

The contestant did not ask the witness any questions and did not
cross-examine, :
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The next witness called was RioiiARD Po0OSER, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. What is your name and where do you reside I—Answer.
Richard Pooser, and I reside in Jackson County, State of Florida.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A. D, 18707—A. I was.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan.
Objection overruled and exception taken.)

A. I was at poll No. 1. Dr. Tenunell came up to poll No. 1 and said,
“God damn you, forty acres of land without a mule,” and kicked Daniel
Bryant, and said, “God damn you, we want you to vote a white man’s
ticket.”  Bryant said, “I want you to let mealone.” Tennell then said,
“If you don’t vote as we want you to vote, you will repent of it after
the election is over.,” Tennell then came to me whilst I was standing
ab the poll with my ticket in my hand and said, “Pooser, God damn
your radical soul to hell, forty acres of land without the mule” The
next thing he said was that “This has been a negro Government, bhut
now it is going to be a white maw’s Government. You have been vot-
ing for niggers, carpet-baggers, and scalawags, and we white men are
going to put a stop to it.” I'e then took a hickory stick, which he had
in his hand, and waved it over their heads, telling them to get back
from the polls, that they wanted whitemen to vote. The colored men
at poll No. 1 said they would die before they would give up their
rights. Tennell then left the polls and came across Jesse Robinson,
between polls Nos, 1 and 2, and said to Robinson, “ What are you doing
here 7 Robinson answered, “T have come to do my duty; to vote for
my people and myself;” and he told him, “Forty acres of land without
the mule, God damn you,” and struck him in the mouth and kicked him.
Tennell then said to Robinson that ¢ You have come here to influence
the negroes and tell them how to vote,” and kicked Robinson again.
Colonel Coker came to poll No. 2 with a crowd of white men and told
the colored men to stand back ; they replied that they had not voted,
Coker then said that he did not care a God damun, and told them to get
back. He then commenced punching the people with his walking-stick ;
but finding this did not do any good, he took the stick and commenced
beating them. I was standing within ten feet of the poll. And the
colored people said, “Mr. Coker, we have not voted yet, sir.”  Coker told
them that they had been there long enough, and if they did not give
way he would clear the very last one of them out. The colored people
seemed to think this was foul play and unfair. Coker said, ¢ Fair play
or foul play, if you don’t give way I will have blood or guts—one.” They
replied, ¢ Mr. Coker, there is a law allowing us to vote.” Coker then
said, ¢ God damn the law,” and that he didn’t ask the law any odds;
that it was not a white man’s law; that it was a nigger’slaw. He then
rushed in with the white men and carried thewm to the polls, This caused
the colored people to fall back. The colored men then thought that they
would not all give back, and a good many of them crowded in. Coker
finding they would not give back for the white men, he told them that, if
they did not fall back, % God damn you, I won't leave enough of you to tell
the tale, let alone to send the news to Reed.” Then they did fall back sure
enough. Then Coker pulled out his pistol. Jerry Robinson was stand-
ing behind his back. Coker wheeled around and asked Robinson what
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he was doing there. Robinson replied that he was there to vote,
“ Didw’t you hear me give the order for you God-damn niggers to leave
the poll?” Robinson told him that he had not yet voted, and was not
going away until he voted. Then Coker said he would kill him, and the
voting then entirely ceased for a half hour. This was at poll No. 2,
This is all I believe that I saw Coker do. At that time there must
have been 170 leave the poll during the row. I was right at the poll
and saw it all, This 170 that left were colored men. The colored peo-
ple cried out,

Q. Did you sce some of these 170 people trying to vote before the
row —A. I did, sir.

Q. Did you see them have ballots in their hands 2—A. I did, sir,

Q. When they left the poll, during the row, had they still the ballots
in their hands #—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did they have a chance to get back to the polls to vote —A. No,
sir; they scattered and did not come back.

NQ. Do you know of any going to any other poll I—~A. Some went to

0. 3.

Q. Do you know of any who went off home ?—A. Yes, sir. Mr. Dan-
iel Kemp, Emanuel Pope, John Livingston, went home.

Q. Did you see any of this crowd vote at No. 3?7—A. No, sir. I did
not go to No, 3. When the row stopped, and polls Nos. 1 and 2 were
closed, No. 2, where I was standing, there were a great many that had
not voted ; I think there were 50. No. 1 closed after No. 2. Both
polls were closed before sundown. At No. 1, 25, to my best judg-
ment, were left who had not vo.ed; some had their hand in the win-
dow, intending to vote. Isaw three men with their hand in the win-
dow, and one got his hand mashed ; bat I don’t know whether he voted
or not.

Q. What was the color of the tickets 2—A., Saw tickets with the
United States flag on them—republican tickets in their hand ; white
paper with a blue flag on them.

Q. Do you remember anything further about the disturbance at polls
1, 2, and 3 %—A. Colonel Coker said that the niggers were obliged to
vote the democratic ticket; if they did not do so, they would have to
leave Jackson County. This was at poll No. 2, He further said that
they intended to carry the election; that he had men enough to carry
it out. 1 believe that is all I recollect.

Q. State what kind of a color the ticket had that the 170 men above
referred to had in their hand when they left the polls—A. They had the
ticket with the flag on it.

Q. When Dr. Tennell said you had voted for carpet-baggers, niggers,
and scalawags, did you understand it to refer to you individually or to
the people; or, in other words, to whom did he address that remark 9—
A. He said it to the whole crowd of colored men.

Q. Was that statement, that you had voted for carpet-baggers, &c., a
correct one ¢

(The contestant objects to this question as not pertinent to the issue
involved. Objection overruled and exception taken.)

A. It was correct.

hi
. RICHARD + POOSER.

mark,

" The contestant did not cross-examine or ask any questions,
By consent, the partiesadjourned until to-morrow morning, at 9 o’clock.
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WEDNESDAY MORNING, March 6, 1872—9 o’clock a. m,
The parties met prrsnant to adjournment.

The first witness called was DANIEL KEMP, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows

Question. What is your name and where do you reside -——Answer.
Daniel Xemp is my name, and I reside in Jackson County, Florida.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna, Jackson County,
on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870 ?—A., I was.

Q. State what you know ot any disturbance occurring at or near the
polls in Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to an an-
swer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan.
Objection overruled and exception taken.)

A, When I was going from No. 1 to No. 2 polls, at about 3 oclock, 1
saw Mr. Coker running .ltter Jerry Robinson, and Mr. Baker ran after
Mr. Coker and took his pistol away. After that I turned back home,
As Mr. Coker was running after Jerry 1 saw a great many people leave
No. 5 polls.  After I went home 1 staid there some considerable time,
and then went back to the polls; and on my way back to the polls I
met about twenty men, and I staid around the polls & while, trying to get
a- chance to vote, and whilst waiting they shut down the door, and 1
could not vote. Several others stood around trying to vote when the
polls ¢losed. When the polls closed I looked at a friend’s wateh, and it
was a little after 4 o’clock. This is all I know.

Q. Do you know who the managers of the election at Marianna
were #—A., No, sir.

Q. Did you have a chance to vote ¥—:A\. No, sir; the polls closed be-
fore I could vote, |

Q. If you had a chance to vote, who would you have voted for for
Congress; Mr. Walls or Mr. Niblack 2-—A. T should have voted for Mr.
Walls.

Q. Were the men who you saw that failed to vote white or col()re(l
men #—A. They were colored men.

Q. How many were they 2—A. There were four or five standing where
I was.

Q. Which class of peopnle number the most it Jackson County ; the
white or colored 2—A. From the congrega tlon, I think the colored peo-
ple number the most.

Q. Mo which political party do the (:0101'0(1 voters in your county be-
long ?

(Objected to as not pertinent to the issue involved.  Objection over-
raled and exception taken.) :

A To the republican party.

). Were the managers of the election white or colored men?—A,
Somo were white and some were colored, This was at Ne. 1 poll.

Q. Were the managers of the clection at No. 1 mostly white or col-
ored 2—A. They were white, except one, who was colored. I saw three
nen as managers.

ross-examination :

The contestant presented the face of a wateh to the witness and asked

him what time it indicated. The witness replied, a little after 7 o’clock,

whereas the actual time shown on the watch was ten minutes past ]0.

Another watch shown the witness, belonging to the contestee, which
' H. Mis. 34, pt. 2——4
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indicated 10 o'clock , the witness’s reply was correct when asked what
the time was by the contestee’s watch, A third watch was shown to
the witness, on which the time marked was 7 o’clock. Witness looked
at the watch and said it was 6 o'clock. The clock in the room was
shown the witness, and in answer to what time it indicated, replied 10
o'clock, a3 he had but a few minutes ago heard the bell on the town
clock strike ten; and he further said that some of the watches must be
wrong, but the clock says 10, and it is right.

Explanation: When I said 1 looked at a friend’s watch, 1 meant
that I asked o friend what time is it; and he replied, a little after 4
o'¢lock., The friend’s name was Frank White,

. s
DANIEL -+ KEMP,
mark,

The next witness called was Prrer HAvs, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows :

Question, What is your name and where do you reside 3—Answer,
Peter Hays, and I live in Jackson County,

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marinnna on the 8th day
of November, A. D), 18701—A, I was,

Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polls in
Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to an an.
sawer to n similar questiont on tho part of the witness Homer Bryan,
Objection overruled and exception taken,) )

A. When I got to poll No, 2, there was a very large majority there
trying to vote, and Mr, Robert Baker told them to stand back and let
the white people vote first. The colored people said to Mr. Baker, ¢ Mr,
Baker, we live a good ways from town, and have come here to vote”
IHe, Mr, Robert Baker, then struck a colored man; cracked him over the
head with a sword. ¢§Htand back, God damn you,” says he; ¢if you
don’t, 'll knock you back.” I said ¢ Please, Mr, Baker, let me vote,”
and be said, ¢“You all stand back ; there will be a chance for you to
vote directly. Let the white color vote first. This is the day we come
to vote, ourseives,” After he spoke these words, I asked Mr, Buker if
there is any chance for me to vote here ut all. He said, ¢ Peter, if you
will stand back a little while, and let all the whites vote, there will be a
chance then for all you colored men;” and by them crowding so—so
many trying to get to the poll—there was no chance for me to vote, I
went from there then to No. 3, and they were crowding there so that I
staid there about one hour, and seeing no chance to vote here, on ac-
count of the ¢crowd, I went away, and returned to No. 1, and just before
I got there a disturbance was raised with Dr. Tennell and Jerry Robin-
son. Jerry was trying to get to the poll, and Tennell said, ¢ Forty acres
of land, God damn you, without » mule,” Jerry then said, ‘I want to
get to the poll.” As he spoke this, Tennell hauled up and kicked him,
and said again, “Forty acres of land without the mule, God damn you.”
Then Mr. Coker said to Jerry, ¢ What do you went1” Jerry said, “Mr.
Coker, I want to vote.” Coker said, “God damn you, stand back.”
Jerry replied that he would not do it, and said he was going to vote,
Ooker then hit Jerry with his stick and drove him from the poll, pulled
out a pistol and was, going to shoot Robinson, but young Jim Baker
meets him half way, and said, ¢ Mr. Coker, stand back; I am a man,
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too, This course will bring on trouble;” and Uoker said he didn’t care a
God damn. Then I went to No. 1 poll, and asked Frank Phillips if thero
was a chance for me to vote here to day. He said I was a little too late ;-
#We are going to close the poll now;” so I went down to No. 2, and
staid there about a half hour. Just before the poll closed there, another
man walked up and handed in his ticket; then I stepped up and spoke
to Mr. Frank White, and said, ¢ Please take my ticket.” Mr, McKay then
got up and called Judge Anderson, and asked what time it was, and An-
derson said it was five o’clock, I still stood there, and said, ¢ Mr. McKay,
will you take my ticket?” Mo said it was too late; that I was an hour
behind time, Mc¢Kay then shut down the poll and told me that I would
have to come another time,

Q. Who were the inspectors of No, 21—A. Mr, McKay, Frank White,
and, 1 think, Mr. Charley Davis. I'rank White is a colored man; the
rest were white. I did not get a chance to vote at all.

Q. Did you sco any others who did not vote ?'—A. No, sir; I did not
see any others, It I had been allowed to vote I would have voted for
Mr. Walls,

Q. Are the colored people or the white people the most numerous in
your county —A., The colored people are the most numerous,

Q. How do you know there are more colored people than white 1—A.,
Well I judge there is more colored than white because I saw more col-
ored around the voting,
| Q. ,’I‘o which political party do the colored people in your county be-
ong

(Tlni;a question is objected to by the contestant on grounds above
stated.

A, They all belong to the republican party. Mr. Robert Baker was
an ofticer that day to keep order at the polls. 9

* L]
PETER 4 HAYS.

mark,
The contestant did not cross-examine or ask any questions.

The next witnesy called was NEPTUNE PITMAN, who,. being duly
sworn, deposed as follows: ,

Question. What is your name and where do you reside ¥—Answer.
Neptune Pitman and I live in Jackson Oounty.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A. D. 18709—A. I was,

Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polls in
Marianna on thut day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to an
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan,
Objection overruled and exteption taken,)

A, I went to No. 2 between 8 and 9 o’clock in the morning, The
poll was crowded pretty much at the time, and I stood about there for
about an hour. While standing there waiting for a chance to vote, Dr.
Tennell camo along and Jesse Robinson, within about twenty feet
of me, and Tennell bauled away and struck Robinson with his fist, in
the mouth and said, *Forty acres of land, God damn you, without the
‘mule,” Then I hurried up to No. 2 poll and scrouged in and threw my
vote. Then I came out and started home, and in coming out I heard &
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fass and stopped to see what was the matter, and I saw young Jim
Baker hung to Mr. Coker, and heard Baker say, “Colonel Coker, you
can’t do that,” T was too far oft to know what it was he said he should
not do. Then I went home, This is all that I saw that day. When I
left for home it was between 2 and 3 o’clock.

Q. How many years have you lived in Jackson County ?7—A. I have
lived there forty-three years, Think the colored people are more
numerous than the white and that their politics are repulllylican.

NEPTUNE 4 PITMAN,

wmark.
By consent of the parties, a recess was taken until 2 o’clock.

2 OCLOCK 1, M,

The parties met pursuant to adjournment; and, owing to the absence
of important witnesses, they agreed to adjourn until Friday morning at
10 o'clock.

I'RIDAY MorNING, Mareh 8—10 a, m,
The parties met pursuant to adjournment,

The first witness called was MoskEs I'AY, alivs BAXER, who, being
duly sworn, deposed as follows:

Question, What is your name and where do you reside —Answer,
Moses Daker is my name and 1 reside in Jackson County, Iflovida,

Q. Were you present at the election held in Greenwood on the 8th
day of November, A, ). 1870, in Jackson County, FFlovida?—A. I was,

Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polly in
Marianna on that day,

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to an
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan,
Objection overruled and exception taken,)

A. Does not, know of any disturbance in Marianna on the day of elec-
tion. Did not go to the polls in Marianna; only went to a store.

Q. What time did you get to Mariannaf—A. About a half hour before
sundown, .

Q. Did you sce any one voting in Marianna when you arrived therei—
A. Ireckon they were through when 1 got there, for L saw them scat-
tered around. I don’t know where the polls were in Marvianua,

Q. Where did you vote on that day and about what, time of the day!
—A. I voted in Greenwood about dinner-time, and atter voting I went
to Marianna,

Q. Did, you see any disturbance at Greenwood !—No, sir; [ do not
know of any row or disturbance there that day.

his
MOSES 4+ BAKER,

mark.

Thé next witness called was LiEwis (GLOVER, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question, What is your name and where do you reside }—Answer,
Lewis Glover is my name and I reside in Jackson Uounty, Florida.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A, D. 18701—A. I was not there,
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Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polls in
Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan.
Objection overruled and exception taken.)

A. Does not know of any disturbance; was not there,

Q. State if you tried to go to Marianna on that day; and if you were
prevented, so state.—A. Ilive twelve miles from Marianna, and started
for Marianna the night before the election, in a crowd of about thirty or
forty, and went to Long’s Bottom, about four miles from Marianna, When
we got there we were told to halt by somebody. Don’t know who it
was. There were about thirty or forty or fifty stretched from one side
of the road to the other,

Q. How were these men dressed 7— A, I think they were dressed in
black,

Q. Did they have any faces on them!—A, I don’t know, sir; can’t
tell wirat kind of hats or coats they had.

Q. Could you tell whether they had anything over their faces.—A,
Their faces were black, not white faces.

Q. Way there anything that indicated that they were black or white?
—A. One man who was white passed us and hollered out, ¢ They are com-
ing;” and when we got to Long’s Bottom they told us to halt, The man
passed us when we were about two miles from Loung’s Bottom, The
white man that passed us camo from Greenwood, and was going to
Long’s Bottom. Ie wag on horseback, They told us to halt, and com-
menced firing into us; and told us we shonld not pass there tonight;
and they asked some of the boys where they were going, and they said,
“To Marinnna,” The party that stopped us then said, “What arve you
going to Marianna for; why donw’t you go to Greenwood?” They did
not answer this question. This iy all T know about it. 'The men that
fired into us then went toward Greenwood,  Three of ug turned around
and went back home that night, 1 saw the others that were with us
start off toward Marianna, The men did not say anything else to us
after firing into us, hut before that they told us to, ¢ Halt; God damn,
you shan’t ¢ross theroad to-night,” and hollered, “Order! march! fire!”
When we left we ran, and the party continued shooting at us,

Q. Was it owing to this fiving that you went back home?—A\, Yes,
sir.,

Q. Did you vote at all at that eleetion {—A, No, sir,

Q. If not, why ?—A, It was nearly daylight when 1 got home., When
I started for Marianna I did not expect any difiieulty when I left home,

Q. Why did you not try to vote that day somewhere clse?—Did not
know there was an clection anywhere but at Marvianna,

Q. Why did you not try to go to Marvianna the next morning?—A. I
started back the next morning, and Mr. Glover said it wasn’t worth
while to go hack. '

Q. 'Why did you not go Uack to Mavianna—A. Beecause I was scared.

Q. What scared you?—A. The shooting that night scared me out,

Q. It you had been allowed to vote, which ticket would you have
voted 3—A. The republican ticket.

Q. How far do you live from Greenwood 2—A. Six miles from Green-
wood and twelve miles from Marianna,  On that night the moon was
shining bright.

hi ’
LEWIS + GLOVER.

' mark,
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The next witness called was JACOB GA\IBLL, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. What is your name, and where do you reside !—Answer,
My name is Jacob G amble. I reside in Jackson (! Jounty.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the Sth day
of Novmnhor, AL D 1870,—A. T was not,

. State’it’ you tried to go to Marianna on the 8th day of November,
A, l) 1870, and it you were prevented, so state,—A, Ilived then at. Mr.
Hays, 11 miles from Marianna, and started after supper-time for Mari.
anna, The night before the election there were 30 or 40 with me.  When
about 4 miles from Marianna, at a place called Long’s Bottom—at, this
place some men met us, told us to halt, and fired on us; did not hear
them “cuss;? they told us to halty, and fired at us, 1 ulwss there were
about H0 (»(' them stretehied across the road.  We .stnppod. and they
commenced firing at us.  We then went oft as fast as we could get oﬁ
for we were seared. T went home to Mrs Hays’s. 1 was going to Man
anna to vote, and started at night in order to get there in time; did not
try to go hack againg becanse [ thought we would met up again with
them,

Q. Why did you not want to meet them again 2—A, They done got
after us once, and 1 didn’t want to be bothered any more, for I was
seared,

Q. What kind of men were these you met, with at Long’s Bottom /—
AT eandt tell exaetly what kind of men they were. 'T'hey looked as it
they lmd black clothes on,

() Do you know whether they were black or white I—A, Lean’t tell
whether tlwy were white or black men, A white man passed us on the
road, and said, “They are coming.” I could not tell from their voice
whether they were black or white men. There were no white men in
our crowd,

Q. How many went home with you ==\, 'I'wo others went with me,
and the others went foward Marvianuna, At fivst they all ran oft” and
separated, but finally went avound toward Marinnna, as it they were
going to Marianna,

Q. If you had a ¢hance to vote that day what ticket would you have
voted {—A. The radical ticket, 1 live 5 miles from Greenwood and 11
miles from Marianna, being the samge place as when I started that night
for Marianna,

Cross-examination: W

Q. Iow did you 40 meet together !—A, We ally or the most of m,
met at Mr, Hays's,

Q. It you had got to Marianna that night what did you intend to do
theret—A, Nothing; only stay there till the next (luy

JACOB + GAMBLLE,

mark,

The next witness called was WILLIAM ANDERYON, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question, What is your name and where do you reside #—Answer. My
name is William Anderson, and I live in Jackson County,

Q. State it you tried to go to Marianna on the 8th day of November,
A. D. 1870, and if you were prevented, so state.—A., I started from Mr.
Hays's, where I lived then and live now, on the night hefore the election;
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was going to Marianna for the purpose of voting; I think there were:
about fifteen with mej; the main crowd of about forty were on ahead of
me. 1reckonIgot .nboub four miles, or four and a quarter miles’from Mari-
anng, nedx a place called Long’s Bottom. I saw twelve men come up to-
the wagon where I was—these twelve were on horseback—and stopped
the wagon, looked in, and then went toward Campbellitown, [ did not
see them have any guns; could not tell whether they were white or col-
ored men; they had black elothes onj did not see anything on their
heads but their hats. The rest of my party left me and went on to-
Marianna, I was sick; and after they left me I laid in the woods until
the next day, and then went home, as I could not ride horseback, The
firing commenced before my crowd left me.

Q. What do you know about the firing 2—A. 1 heard the firing; was
with the fiftecen men when the firing commenced ; was traveling .ll()llg'
thc twelve men eame up and passed our wagon .lt'tm' the lhin;:.

. Did anybody say halt before the firing !—A. No, sit, - We were
in tlw cerowd l)olnml' it was the crowd aliead of us that were fired into,

Q. What did your erowd of fifteen do when they heard the firing #—
A, They traveled on until some rushed back and gave o signal; then we
got out of the way.

Q. Did any of the erowd in advance come back to you?—A, Yes, siv;
tlnm' came back after the firing ; then we got out of the road,

. When the twelve men came up and looked into your wagon, wher
hml ‘the fifteen men of your crowd gone tol—A, They had sqnnhble(l
nut into the woods when the signal was given,

- Were you close enough to tell whether they had on false faces or
u()t A, No, siry I was not close cnongh,

Q. What l)v(-'un(' of your crowd of fifteen 2—A, They said they went
on to Marinnna,

WILLTAM ANDERSON,

The next witness ealled was WinLis GinsoN, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question, What is your name and where do you reside '—Answer,
\!v name is Willis (nbs(m, and I reside in Jackson County.

Q. State if you tried to go to Marianna on the 8th day of November,
A, ]) 1870, and if you were prevented, so state.—A, I started from Mr.
Hays's, where L lived then and live now, to go to Marianna; this was the
mnht hotom the electiony there were 1boub forty of us; wc went on and
gob as far as Mr, Long’s l»ottmn, where the road was stmng along with
men who told us to halt, We stopped, and they holleved, “ Forward,
mareh ? then we whirled around back into an old field, and these men
commenced shooting at us, We scattered ; some went toward Marianna,
but [ went. home. 1t looked to me-as though there were about fifty of
the men who were strung along the road and told us to halt, I did not
try on the next day to go to Marianna, because I was afeayd I might get
into the same fracas as [ did in the lllght there were three besides me
that went home with me,

Q. If you had voted on election day, which ticket would you have
voted ¥-—A. The republican ticket, )

The men that I saw were all dressed in black; I could not see their
fuces. .

Cross-examination:

(,2 When this firing occurred was any one killed or wounded ?-—-A
No, sir none that I know of.
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Q. How far were the men from you when they fired !-—A. A8 near as
I can guess they were about forty yards from us,

Q. What time of night was it when you heard the firing4—A. I reckon
it was about 9 o'clock in the night.

Q. Did you see any guns ?—A, No, sir.

Q. Did they get any nearer to you than they were when they fired4—
A, [ dow’t know, I ran, and heard the balls whistling.

Q. What were the names of the three that went back with youl—A,
Jacob Gamble, myself, Henry Jounes, and Lewis (Glover,

Q. How far do youlive from Greenwood I—A. Five miles from Green.
wood and eleven from Marianna,

When they were fired into I dow’t know of any one that was hurt,

Does not know of any hut his four that did not go back to Marianna
-the next day.

I
WILLIS -+ GIBSON,
mark.

The next witness called was JosErin BAKER, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows : '

Question, What is your name and where do you reside 2—Answer, My
name iy Joseph Baker, and 1 reside in Jackson County, in the State of
Florida, '

Q. Were you at Marinnna on the 8th day of November, A, D, 1870 1=
A, 1 was,

Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polls in
Marianna on that day,

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in hix objections to the
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan,
Objection overruled and exception taken.)

I was at Marianna when the polls were opened and when the sun set,
hut did not get any chance to vote, beeaunse there was such scerouging
and pushing that I could not vote.  The white people kept the colored
people back. All the white people did not vote, as there were two white
men besides myself who did not vote. 1 got near enough to the poll to
hand my ticket, but they would not take it said 1 was too late. The
poll that I tried to vote at was in Captain Dickinson’s office, and the
polled closed at exactly sunset. I looked at the sun and looked at my
ticket, and I never will forget it if' I live to be a thousand years old, I
could not get up there any sooner, hecause {here were so many larger
men that they smothered mej they did all they could but fight me;
they wanted to get to the poll and I wanted to get to the poll, Nobody
punched me in particular, The colored people had to march up in a
laune—a narrow lane—wide enough for & man to walk up in, The white
people went to the window where the polls were, walked up outside of
this lane, and kept crowding the colored penple back; the white people
had the best chance to vote, When the polls closed I think there were
about forty coloréd people at that poll that did not vote, and T don’t
know of but two white people that did not vote at that poll. :

Q. It you had been allowed to vote, which ticket would you hav
voted?—A. I should forever vote the republican ticket. I am a colored
man,

hi
" JOSEPH + BAKER.

mark,
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The next witness called was ANDERSON BAKER, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question, What is your name, and where do you reside }—Answer.
My name is Anderson Baker, and I reside in Jackson County.

Q. Were you present at the election held in Marianna on the 8th day
of November, A, D. 1870 2—A. T was.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance at or near the polls in
Marianna on that day.

(The contestant objects to this question, and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objection to the answer
to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan,

Objection overruled and exception taken,)

A. There was no disturbance with me in getting in to vote. [ got
my vote in after trying once or twice, and all the disturbance that I
know of is when me and Peter Baker were standing and discoursing
about the men being fired into-the night before. Whilst we were stand-
ing and discoursing about it, Mr, Coker walked up and said, ¥ What is
that you are talking about #” and I told him we were talking about the
shooting over night; and he asked me who done the shooting; and I told
him that I did not know; that the boys said the shooting was done; and
Coker said, ¢ By God, you all had better hush up that thing ; there is
more than one day; you're talking that thing heve, and, by (rod, you
might get yourselt into difficulty.” I answered him that this was a
public day, and any one could speak what they had amind to. We then
parted. I never saw anything more to disturb the election bhut this one
thing, Severalyoungwhite fellows were carrying tickets like ours around
and offering them to colored people. I told them they ought not to do
that, They asked me why, and 1 told them I did not think it a fair game.
They asked why wasw’t it a fair game, and 1 told them our colored
people are ignorant, aud might he led into something they didn’t wish
to go into, '

Q. Did Oolonel Coker say anything about the white folks heing
strong enough to earry the election?— A, IHe said we will carry it,

hi
ANDERSON + BAKER.

mark,

-

The parties agreed to take a recess until half past 4 o’cloek. 4.30 p,m,,
the parties present. '

My, JoNATHAN O, GiBBS, the seeretary of state, was the next withess
called, who, being duly sworn, deposed as follows :

Question, State your name and official position.—A. My name is
Jonathan G, Gibbs; I am the secretary of state of tho State of Florida
and & member of the board of State canvassers, .

18('),. How long have you held such position ?—A. Since November 6,

68, :

Q. State what you know in your officinl position of the state of
society in Juckson County, as far as violence was concerned, immedi-
ately preceding and subsequent to the general election which oceurred
on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870. :

(The contestant objects to this question and to any answer to the
same, on the same grounds above set forth in his objections to the
answer to a similar question on the part of the witness Homer Bryan.
Objection overruled and exception taken, and the contestant further
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objects to this question, and any answer thereto, on the ground that
both the official and personal residence of the witness is at Talluhassee,
the capital of the State, many miles distant from Jackson County, and
that he has, as seeretary of state, no ofticial duties to discharge outside
of said city, and can know, ofticially, nothing of the social condition of
Jackson County ; and, further, on the ground that the condition of
society in Jackson County immediately preceding and following the
election is an immaterial issue in this contest,  Objection overruled and
exception taken,)

A, I know that o highly disturbed state ol afluirs existed in Jackson
County, I was there in the month of Auguast, preceding the election,
with the member of Congress, Mr, C. M. Hamilton, 1 know that a
committee of citizens at that time ——

(The contestant objects to the witness telling anything which oceurred
during the month of’ August, as not responsive to the interrogatory.)

I received letters addressed to e ofticially as seeretary of state, One
letter I particularvly remember. 1 received it, [ think, after the month
of August; it was signed ¢ Welsh;” but 1 don’t know whether this
name was correet or not,  The letter has since been destroyed, The
writer threatened, becanse I had attested the proclamation issued by
the governor offering o reward for the murder of Judge Carraway, to
cut my heart out, and to do suudry other wicked things, which I don't
recolleet now, * He stated distinetly that he was o Ko Kluxy that he
belonged to that organization, and intended to assassinate me, I have
strong corroborative evidence that this threat was not @ myth,  Judge
Anderson, the county judge of Jackson County, now deceased —-

(Objected to as hearvsay evidence,  Objection overruled and excep-
tion taken.)

Judge Anderson stated to General Varnum that certain parties were
coming from Jackson County to take Governor Reed’s life and my own,
In about & halt’ hour afterward Judge Anderson came into my ofllee,
I said, “Judge, Lhave learned that certain persons are ¢coming here from
Jackson County to assassinate Governor Reed and myselt” 1 was sit-
ting quite close to him,  Ile looked at my eyes direct, and turned away,
and began talking about something else, evidently not desiring to talk
about it; and I replied, ¢ Judge, that is bad business—ugly business.”
To this fm made no reply, but went on talking about something else.
Afterward I received tidings from other parties that persons were
coming to take my lite, and I left my house and did not sleep in it for
n week, as there was evidence of the parties being in Tallahassee.
Governor Reed left, and went to Jacksonville,  All these eircumstances
were in connection with the clection held November 8, A.1). 1870, as
these parties wrote stating that they did not believe they were fuirly
counted out, the witness being a member of the State board of can-
vassers, 1 have frequently received letters from parties living in Jack-
son County mentioning the disturbed state of affuirs, and, in return, 1
have written lettery to the prominent men, deploring the status of affuirs
in that county., 1 have a letter from Captain J, Q. Dickinson, dated
February 23,1871, (said Dickinson was assassinated at Marianna, April
3, 1871.) The State canvass was completed for the returns of the mem-
ber of Congress on the 27th day of December, A, D. 1870,

The contesteo offers the following letter in evidence. The contestant
objects on the ground that it in no wise refers to the election held on
the 8th day of November, A, 1), 1870, Objection overrnled and excep-
tion noted : :
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MARIANNA, JAOKSON COUNTY, FLORIDA,
February 23, 1871,

S1r: Your letter of the 14th instant, requesting certain information
as to outrages committed in this county since reconstruction, as to the
gpirit of tho press, &c., &c., was received last night. The high stage
of water on the Appalachicola River delayed tho mails,

I regret the fact that outrages upon loyalty in this county are always
so vivid a reality of the pxcsm\t and so fearful & probability of the
future, that we have failed to think of the past. I cannot, without con-
siderable time-and xosoamh, give you any history ot the different terri-
ble scenes through which I have passed here.  You intimate that your
information must be immediate, and I will give you the best view of the
situation I can under the circumstances, Since reconstruction there
have been ubout seventy-five persons violently killed in tlns county.
More than nine-tenths of these were republicans, and nearly nine-tenths
colored, Practically the civil rights of the colored man are subordinate
to those of the white man,

The press has been, and is, disgustingly uncaundid, abusive of every-
thing republican, am(l, at times, opvnly seditioug,  Human life is count-
ed cheap, when p ission or policy calls forits sacrifice; and the frequency
and cold l)lno(l which have characterized our mmdm's has not been to
me so fearful a fact us the earelessness with which the public learns of' o
new outrage,  Publie sentiment is terribly demoralized in this direetion.

Within the last few days our sherift’ has been shamefully beaten on
the public streets, and two colored men fatally assaulted.  Neither of
them are yet dead, but I believe no hopes arve entertained of their re-
covery, ifor mysult I Dlush to say that for nearly three years L have
managed to live here only by dexterously compromising the expression
of my opinions, and by o civeumspect walk, o say that the colored
man here has through my agencey uniformly obtained even-handed jus.
tice would be a lie; to say that I have striven, even to a loss of self-
respect and so\mul tuno.s by m('unm" personal danger, to do the best
thing under the circamstances, is to toll the whole tl'uth.

It more particular information is vequirved, I shall require time to
prepare it.

Very respectfully,
J. Q. DICKINSON.

P, S.—Trebruary 23.—Oue of the colored men 1 spoke of died last
night, and 1 have held an inquest to-day.  Verdict, “ Unknown” Rvery.
body in the county knows the murderery and he has left for Alabama,
I learn Jjust now that the other man is de wl,and I also hear it disputed.
I shall nnmodlatoly investigate.

In haste,

Hon. J. C. GiBBS,
b’ccrctaro/ of Statc

J. Q. DICKINSON,

Q. What was the repubhcan majority, as shown by the State can-
vassers, for the republican member of Congress on the 8th of November,
A. D. 1870 —A., Four votes,

Q. Has there been any election ordered by the governor in Jackson
OOlmtv since November 8, A. D. 1870 {—A. lt,s sir; there has.

Q. ¥or what officers ?—-A TFor members of the ussembly one in place
of Mr, McLean, deceased, and one vice Mr, Bariield, remgned

Q. Were you present at said election 3—A. Iwas,
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Q. When was said election held 1—A. It; was a special election held
on the 19th day of December, A, D. 1871,

(The question regarding the time of holdmg this election on the 19th
of December, A. 1), 1871, is objected to by the contestant on the ground
of not being pertinent.

Objection overruled and testimony admitted.)

Q. Who were the republican candidates for the assembly from Jack.
son County 7—A. B. H, Neal and W, K. Robinson,

Q. Who were the conservative or democratic candidates for the as.
gembly 1—A, W, II, Milton and 1L G. Bryan.

Q. What was the number of votes polled at said election, and for
whom ?—A. Neal received- 1,064; Robinson, 1,057 ; Dryan, 508; Mil.
ton, 604, -

Q. How do you get this result—trom what ofticial paper I—A., This
result is obtained from the proper return received from the clerk of the
court in Jackson County, and is filed herewith, marked Exhibit A,

Exmmur A,
Certificate of” the county canvassers.
[See section 24, act of August 6, 1868.]

STATE oF FLORIDA, Juckson County :

We, the undersigned, William H. Milton, judge of the county court
of tlm county stated, .m(l C. W, Davig, clerk of the cireuit court of the
county dtowsaul, and Adam MeceNealy, a justice of the peace of the
county above mentioned, constituting the board of county canvissers in
and for the county stnto(l do hereby certify that we met at the office of
the clerk of the cirenit ('mu't of tho (,ounty aforesaid on the tw enty-third
day of December, A, 1. one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one,
and publicly mmv assed the votes given at o special eleetion held in the
county ot Jnekson, and State aforesaid, on the nineteenth day of De-
cember, in the year of our Lord one thou-mnd cight hundred and seventy-
one, umler and by virtue of an act entitled “An act to provide for the
registration of electors and the holding ot elections,” approved August
6, 1808, and an act amendatory theu,to, approved Iebruary 19, 1870,
We do hereby certify, from the returns on file in the office of thc clerk
aforesaid, that the whole number of votes cast for member of the as-
sembly wa% three thousand one hundred and thirty-three, (3,133,) ay fol-
lows, viz: Benjamin H, Neel received ten hundred and sixty-four, (1,004)
W. K. Robinson, ten hundred and fifty-seven, (1,057;) H. G. Brmn, ﬂve
hundred and elght,((j()s ) William H, Milton, five hundred and four, (604.)

Witness ‘our hands und seals of office, nt Marvianna, in the cowaty
aforesaid, this twenty-third day of Decomber, in the year of our Lord
one thoumuul eight hundred and seventy-one.

[$13A1.] , W, . MILTON,

Judge of' the County Court of J(wkson County.
O, W, l)AVlS
Clerk of the Cirenit and County Courts of Jaokson County.
[BEAL.] ADAM MONEALY,
Justice of the Peace of Jackson Uountg/.

N. B.—The canvassers should meet at the oftice of the clerk, on or
before the gixth day after the election, to canvass the votes.
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In case of the absence, sickness, or other disability of the county
judge or clerk, the sherift shall act in his place,
- The certificate must be signed in duplicate, and must contain, in words
and figures written at full length, the whole number of votes given for
each office, the names of the persons for whom such votes were given
for such oftice, and the number of votes given to each person for such
oftice, .

The clerk of the circuit court should record the certificate in the book
required by law to be kept for that purpose.

One of the eertificates shall be immediately transmitted by mail to the
seeretary of’ state, and the other to the governor of the State.

OFFICE SECRETARY OF STATE, State of Florida :

[, Jonathan C. Gibby, secretary ol state, hereby certify that the fore.
going transeript is & true and correct copy of the original on file in my
oftice,

In testimony whereot” I have hereunto set my hand and aflixed the
great seal of the State of Ilorida, at Tallahassee, the capital, this 224
day of March, A, D, 1872, ] _

[SKAL,] JONATHAN C. GIBBS,

Secretary of State,

The contestee asks that an attachment be issued for William .
Sears, & witness who has been properly subpanaed, but fails to appear,

Attachment granted,

By consent the parties adjonrned until Wednesday morning, 10
o'clock.

_ WEDNESDAY MORNING, 10 0'CLOCK.
~The parties met pursuant to adjournment, and agreed to postpone
farther investigation until Monday, 10 o’clock, on the 18th day ot March,

The parties met pursuant to adjournment Monday morning, 10 o’clock.

Hon, JoNATHAN C. GinBs, the secretary of state of the State of
Florida, was again called to the stand, and testified as follows:

Question, In your answer to the sixth question, as regards your tes.
timony taken on the 27th day of February, 1871, before the tlon, C. I,
Dyke, mayor of Tallahassee, you state that the returns from Suwannee,
Taylor, Calhoun, Lo Fayette, Sumter, Mianatee, and Brevard were thrown
out for informality, either as to the time of their veceipt or informality
in form, Were these the only reasons; it not, state what reasons ac-
tuated the board !—Answer. These were not the only reasons. Promi-
nent among them was a suspicion of frand, Some ot the returns were
not sent direct to tho board, but were sent by hand, and had the ap-
pearance of having been broken open,  They were broken open,and came
by private hands. ‘

Q. Were more returny sent you from somo counties than the law
requires '— A, There was 3 from some counties two and three returns
were received, -
Q. You also state, in answer to the fifth question, that in addition to
the returns as canvassed by the State board, there were on file in your
office documents purporting to be the official returns from the counties
of Suwannee, Taylor, La Fayette, Sumter, Manatee, and Brevard ; that
as to Brevard, you are not certain. Were these all the documents pur-
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porting to be ofticial returns of said election which were on file in your
office at the time therein spoken of I—A. 1 think not; Monroe County
was left out; why, I do not know. I gave to Mr, 8, L. Niblack all the
returns he asked for,

The parties then adjourned until to-morrow morning, at 11 o'clock,

The parties met, pursuant to adjournment, Tuesday morning, March 19,

The examination of Mr., GBS was continued :

Q. Was there anything particular about the return from Manatee
County which caused its rejection by the board of State canvasserst—
A, It was behind time, and it was not sent to the board of State can.
vassers, but was sent to Mr, W, 1L, Pearce, of Polk County. Mr. Pearce
came before the board and testified that he had received this return
from a courier from Manatee County; it was addressed to Mr, S, L,
Niblack,

(The following extract from the minutes of the board of State can-
vassers, in regard to Manatee County, with the envelope in which said
return was inclosed, also returns from said county, are hereby admitted
in evidence:)

OFFICE SECRETARY OI' STATE,
Tallahassee, Florida, Saturday, December 10, 1870—10 a, m,
The board met pursuant to adjournment.,
Present, Hon, J, C. Gibbs, Hon. R, H, Gamble, -
Mr. W, 11, Pearce, from Polk County, appeared before the board and
delivered a certified copy of the return from Manatee County, which he
states was placed in his hands by a courier from Manatee County, in-
closed in an envelope addressed to 8, I, Niblack, He also states t, the
board that he was requested by telegram from Lake City to open said
envelope, and telegraph to Lake City the contents, which he did.

S, L. NIBLAOK,

Lake City,

Florida.

\
There being no more business before the board, upon motion, ad-
Jjouned until Monday morning, 10 o'clock.

Certificate of the county canvassers,
[See section 24, act of August 6, 1868.]

STATE OF FFLORIDA, Manatee County :

We, the undersigned, B, E. Mizell, judge of the county court of the
‘county stated, and John J. Bartholf, clerk of the circuit court of the



NIBLACK V8. WALLS, 63

county aforesaid, and H. A, Decoster, a justice of the peace of the
county above mentioned, constituting the board of county canvassers in
and for tho county stated, do hereby certity that we met at the office of
the clerk of the circuit court of the county aforesaid on the twenty-
eighth day of December, A, D, one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
aud publicly canvassed the votes given at o general election held in the
county of Manatee and State atoresaid, on the 8th day of November,
in the year ot our Lord one thonsand eight hundred and seventy, the
same being the Tuesday next suceceding the first Monday in said month,
under and by virtue ot an act entitled # An act to provide for the regis-
tration of electors and the holding of elections,” approved August 6,
1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved February 19, 1870, We
do hereby certify, from the returns on tile in the ofice of the clerk
aforesaid—

That the whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress
was one handred and fifty-three, as follows, viz: Silay L. Niblack re-
ceived one hundred and fifty-threo votes. ‘

That the whole number of votes cast for licutenant governor was one
hundred and forty-three; of which 8, T. Day received fourteen, and
William D. Bloxham received one hundred and twenty-nine,

That the whole number of votes cast for State senator was one hun.
dred and fifty-nine, (159,) as follows, viz: Walter U, Maloney received
one hundred and eighteen, (118;) James D, Green received thirty-five
votes; J. W, Locke received six votes,

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly was
one hundred and forty, as follows, viz: 15, M, Graham received one
hundred and thirty-threo; A, W. (Garner received five votes; J. W,
Whidden received two votes. .

That the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: I*, M. Slate
received sixteen votes; David Mizell received thirty-three votes; O, A,
Turner received twenty votes.

Witness our hands and seals of oftice, at Pine Level, in the county
aforesaid, this first day of December, in the year of our Lord ::.e thou.
sand eight hundred and soventy,

K, B, MIZELL,

Judge of the County Court of Manatee County.
[SEALL.| JOHN J, BARTHOLF,
Clerk of the-Circuit and County Courts of Manatez County.
N. I, DECOSTER,
Justice of the Peace of Manatee County.

N. B.—The canvassers should meet at the office of the clerk, on or
before the sixth day after the election, to canvass the votes,

In case of the absence, sickiress, or other disability of the county
Jjudge or clevk, the shevitt shall act in his place,

The certiicate must be signed in duplicate, and must contain, in
words and figures written at full length, the whole number of votes given
for each oftice, the names of the persons for whom such votes were
given for such office, and the number of votes given to each person for
such office.

Theo elerk of the circult court should record the certificate in the book
required by Iaw to be kept for that purpose,

One of the certificates shall be immediately transitted, by mail, to
the secretary of state, and the other to the governor of the State.
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The contestee offering the return from Monroe County, the contestant
offers the following oljection: :

The contestant objects to any testimony being taken in regard to the
vote in Mouroe County, and to admitting and appending any so-called
election returns from that county, on the ground that the sitting mem.
ber, in paragraph cleventh ot his answer, has admitted and aftirmed
that the board of State canvassers lawtully rejected the rveturns from
that county, on “ the ground that the returns from said county were not
returned as the law direets, and that the said returns were not made out
as the law requires,” the contestant not denying but that said returns
from said county were properly rejected,

Objection overrnled and the return admitted.

Certificate of the county canvassers.

[See section 24, act of August 6, 1868, |

STATE 0r FLORIDA, Monroe County: :

We, the undersigned, James W. Locke, judge of the county court of
the county stated, and William S. Allen, clerk of the cirenit court of the
county aforesaid, and William C. Tinker, a justice of the peace
of the county above mentioned, constituting the board of county
canvassers in and for the county stated, do hereby certity that we met
at the oftice of the clerk of the circuit court of' the county aforesaid, on
the twelfth day of November, A, D. one thousand cight hundred and
seventy, and publicly canvassed the votes given at a general election
held in the county of Monroe and State aforesaid, on the eighth day of
November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
seventy, the same being the Tuesday next succeeding the first Monday
in said month, under and by virtue of an act entitled ¢ An act to provide
for the registration of electors, and the holding of elections,” approved
Aungust 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto, approved February 19,
1870.  We do hereby certify, from the returns on file in the oftice of the
clerk aforesaid—

That the whole number of votes cast for Representative in Congress
was seven hundred and eighty-nine, (789,) as follows, viz: S. L. Nib-
lIack received three hundred and fifty-nine, (359;) J. T. Walls received
four hundred and twenty-eight, (428 ;) and Lemuel Wilson received
two, (2.)

That the whole number of votes cast for lieutenanl governor were
seven hundred and ninety-two, (792,) as follows, viz: Samuel Day received
four bundred and thirty-two, (432;) and W. D. Bloxham reeeived
three hundred and sixty. .

That the whole number of votes east for State Senator was seven
hundred and eighty-cight, (788,) as follows, viz: James W. Locke re-
ceived four hundred and forty-nine, (449;) Walter C. Maloney, jr., re-
«eived three hundred and thirty-nine, (339.)

That the whole number of votes cast for member of the assembly
was seven hundred and uinety-four, (794,) as follows, viz: Henry A.
Crane received four hundred and twenty-four, (424 ;) Frederick Filer
received three hundred and seventy, (370.)

That the votes cast for constables were as follows, viz: Richard Curry
received three hundred and fifty-two, (352 ;) Christopher Bravo thres
hundred and fifty-nine, (3569 ;) 1. A. Franklin received three hundred
and sixty-one, (361 ;) F. McNulty received three hundred and fifty-eight,
(368;) George R. Pearce received four hundred and seventy-seven,(477;)
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Jose Castro Castellanos received four hundred and twenty-seven, (427;)
Williain A. Bethel received four hundred and thirty-one, (431;) Jere-
miah Pent received four hundred and twenty-eight, (428 ;) R. Thompson
recéived four hundred and twenty-six, (426;) Charles Brown received
four hundred and ten, (410 ;) José Garcia received two, (2.)

Witness our hands and seals of office, at Key West, in county afore-
said, this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and seventy.

[sEAL.] JAS. W. LOCKE,
Judge of the County Court of Monroe County.
[SEALL.) WM. S. ALLEN, Clerk,

Per SAM. C. CRAFT,
- Deputy Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of Monroe County.
[SEAL.] WILLIAM C. TINKER,
Justice of the Peace of Monroe County.,

N. B.—The canvassers should meet at the office of the clerk, on or
before the sixth day after the election, to canvass the votes.

In case of the absence, sickness, or other disability of the county
judge or clerk, the sherift shall act in his place. .

The certificate must be signed in duplicate, and must contain, in
words and figures written at full length, the whole number of votes given
for each office, the names of the persons for whom such votes were given
for such office, and the number of votes given to each person for snch
oftice.

The clerk of the circuit court should record the certificate in the book
required by law to be kept for that purpose,

One of the certificates shall be immediately transmitted, by mail, to
the secretary of state, and the other to the governor of the State.

Q. Was this return from Monroe County received and placed on file
in your office 7—A. It was, '
JONATHAN C. GIBBS,
Secretary of State.

Cross-examination :
- Q. You stated in your direct examination that you visited the county
of Jackson in August immediately preceding the election, and that there
was & highly disturbed condition of things there. Did you, or did you
not, attend and address a public meeting of the citizens, white and
colored, at Marianna ?—A. I did. )

Q. Did the citizens offer any interruption to your address ¥—A. They
offered no disturbance to the address, and gave me a respectful hear-
ing. There were quite a number of armed men present.

Q. Did you, or not, on that occasion, in your speech, publicly charge
W.J. Parman, United States tax-assessor, brigadier general in the
Florida State militia, and State senator representing Jackson County,
with being responsible for the bloodshed and disorder that existed in
Jackson County, or had occurred in that county up to that time; or, if
you did not use those words, did you not nse words of a similar effect ;
if s0, what were the words, to the best of your recollection 2—A. I
answer deliberately that I did. The armed men present, spoken of
above, consisted of Loth white and colored men. ‘

_Q. Tor what object was the meeting called #—A. It was called osten-
8ibly for the purpose of dedicating a school-house.

H. Mis. 34, pt. 2—3
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Q. Do you or not know, or have reason to belicve, that it was through
the infiuence of W, J. Purman that a large number of the colored men
were assembled with arms ?

(Objected to by the contestee. Question overruled,and exception taken
by the contestant.) :

Q. About what time did you receive the letter sigued ¢ Welsh 7—A,
It was about the time of the election, but whether it was before or after
I don'’t recollect. ¥

Q. What time was it when the conversation occurred between you
and Judge Anderson, which you have mentioned above?—A. I think it
was early in the spring of 1871, \

. Q. You stated that Judge Anderson told Mr. Varnum, as Mr. Varnum
told you, that certain parties were coming from Jackson County to take -
Governor Reed’s life and your own. State whether or not, during the
last session of the legislature, you were not in your office put on your
guard against being poisoned by W. J. Purman, or others of the so.
called “ring of Federal office-holders in this State ¥"—A. I was cautioned
against being poisoned, but no one in particular was mentioned. .

Q. Did you not understand that the ring was alluded to. or to whom
did you understand that caution to refer %—A. No one particularly was
designated at the time the remark was made, nor did I attach as much
importance then as 1 did afterward, after the debate in the senate, in
which I was violently attacked by Mr. Purman, and the newspaper dis.
cussions, S :

Q. Can you recollect when the return from Monroe County, which is
appended to your evidence, was received at your office?—A. I think the
return from Monroe and Manatee came in about the same time, on or
about the 10th of December, A, D. 1870,

Q. You have mentioned certain reasons which governed the members
of the board in rejecting certain returns. Who were the members of
the board of State canvassers at the time you completed the canvass $—
A. Sherman Conant, R. H. Gamble, and myself. .

Q. Can you say positively that these reasons actuated others of the
board besides yourself?-——A. I am very sure that the reasons assigned
operated upon my mind, and I am pretty sure the same reasons op-
erated upon Mr. Conant. 1 think so from the fact that 1 heard Mr.
Conant say, the same day, within an hour after the canvass closed, in
conversation with Mr, Papy, that he was willing to assume almost any
responsibility on account of the threats of personal violence through
the newspapers, such as “cleaning out the capital and the board of
canvassers, republicans,” &e, .

Q. Were or were not these threats based on the idea in the minds of
the persons making them that the party having the majority of votes
were likely to be defrauded out of them by the State canvassers ?—A.
Some may have persuaded themselves to that effect, but the men who
made the most talk about it I honestly don’t think had any idea that
they were about to be defrauded out of the result of the election by the
board of State canvassers; it was done more to keep up a spirit of
intimidatiou. ‘ . '

Q. Did you or did you not, on that or some other occasion, hear Mr.
Conant say that he was convinced that Bloxham and Niblack had
received a majority of the votes cast at the election ?

(Objected to by the contestee ; objection withdrawn.)

. A. I have no recollection of such conversation.

Q. Were not duplicate returns received from the county of Manatee 4—
A. I think there were ; one was sent to the governor and one to myself.
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It was the return that was sent to me that came through the hands of
W. H. Pearce. -

Q. Did or did not the return which came from Manatee to the gov-
ernor come in due form }—A. I know nothing to the contrary.

Q. Was the action of the State canvassers, on the day which they
concluded the canvass and their consultations in regard thereto, taken
when all together or otherwise 2—A. I think that at some of the discus-
sions and consultations Mr, Gamble was abseut; but at the last day of
the meeting of the board I remember going into the governor’s orfice
for some purpose~—1I think in connection with the canvass-—but what it
was I don’t immediately recollect. While there Mr. Conant came in also.
When we declared the result all of the board were present in my office.
Mr. Gamble did not assent to the action of Major Conant and myself.

Redirect :

Q. Please state the reason why you charged in your speech in August,
in Jackson County, the disorders of said county to Major W. J, Purman.
—~A, I did so becanse I knew of his giving advice and counsel contrary
to the peace and welfare of all parties; he was wild and erratic in his
course,

Q. Was your evidence based upon hearsay or personal knowledge 7—
A. My conclusions were based both upon personal knowledge and hear-
say from others. , e

Q. Is there not an unfriendly feeling existing on your part toward
Major Purman ?—A, There is no friendly feeling toward him from me,
because he has acted unjustly toward me; still, I want justice accorded
lim, and my prejudice is not sufficient to cause him injustice; but I
don’t think Major W. J. Purman is anxious for justice in his case.

Q. Have you, in your serious and candid moments, believed that you.
were in danger of being poisoned by Major Purman or any other Federal
office-holder 7—A. I honestly and truthfully believe that Major W. J..
Purman is so treacherous that no one can tell exactly what he will do..

Q. As regards the return from Manatee County, which were sent to.
the governor, have you any personal knowledge how or when it came ?
—A. 1 have no recollection of that return, how it came; the governor:

kept the returns sent him himself,
JONATHAN C. GIBBS,
Secretary of' State.

(Contestee here offers in evidence the following bill of indictment,
against Alexander St. Clair Tennell, and asks that it be admitted in evi-
dence. Contestant objects, on the grounds that the clerk who certifies.
to it i3 not the clerk of the eastern division where the indictment pur-
ports to have been found, and that an indictinent, without conviction,.
18 no evidence of the crime charged. Objection overruled and exception
taken. Indictment allowed.)

In the distriét court of the United States for the northern district of’
Florida, in the fifth circuit.

At a stated term of the district court of the United States for the.
northern district of Florida, in the fifth circuit, begun and held at the-
city of Jacksonville, within and for the district and circuit aforesaid, on
the 4th day of December, A. D. 1871, and continued by adjournment to

~

and including the 4th day of December, in the year A. D. 1871.
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NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, 88 :

The grand jurors of the United States of America, impaneled and
sworn within and for the district aforesaid, on their oath present that,
heretofore, to ‘wit, on the 8th day of November, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, at Jackson County,
within the district aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this
court, an election was then and there held for Representatives to the
Congress of the United States, at which said election Representatives
to the Congress of the United States was then and there voted for; and
at said election Jesse Robinson, Richard Pooser, Jerry Robinson, and
other citizens to the said grand jurors unknown, being then and there
secured and guaranteed the right of suftrage by the fifteenth amendment
to the Constitution of the United States, and being then and there
present at said election at said county for the purpose of exercising then
and there at the said election the right of suffrage aforesaid, one Alex-
ander St. Clare Tennell, by threats of violence and by violence, did then
and there attempt to prevent, hinder, and control the said Jesse Robin-
son, Richard Pooser, Jerry Robinson, and the said other citizens from
exercising and in exercising the right of suftfrage aforesaid at the said
election at said county, contrary to the form of the statute in such case
made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the United

States. ‘
H. BISBEE, Jr.,
United States District Attorney.

United States district court, fifth judicial circuit, northern district of
Florida.

I, Philip Walter, a clerk of the district court in and for the district
and circuit aforesaid, do hereby certify that the foregoing indictment is
a true copy of the original on file in the clerk’s oftfice of the eastern
division of this district.

In testimony whereof 1 hereunto set my hand and affix the seal of
this court, at the city of Tallahassee, this 18th day of March, one thou.
sand eight hundred and seventy-two, and of the Indepeundence of the
Uuited States of America the ninety-sixth year.

[SEAL.| PHILIP WALTER, Clerk

The next wituess called was W. . SEARS, of La Fayette County, who,
being duly sworn, deposed as follows:
~ Question. State your name and residence.—~Answer, My name is
William D. Sears, and 1 reside near New Troy, in La Fayette County,
Florida.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A, D, 18707—A. I
was at New Troy on that day.

Q. How many precincts were there in that county 3—A. There were
six established by the county commissioners, but only five were used in
votiug, as follows: New Troy, Cook’s Hammock, California, Summer-
ville, and Governor Hill,

Q. What official capacity did you occupy at that time?—A. I was
sheriff and acting county canvasser, taking the place of the county judge.

Q. Do you know of any violence or intimidation or fraud at the New
Troy precinct 2—A., There was some fighting there at the public square.
The poll was at the court-house, and the court-house was in the public
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square, No fighting immediately at the polls, A colored man and boy
were struck. The boy was not entitled to vote. Also one white man
was strack.

Q. How far was this from the poll 2—A. Some forty yards.

Q. From what you saw, was this disturbance sufficient to frighten
people from the poll?—A., I don’t think it was sufficient to frighten
people from the poll. The fight arose from an argument on politics.
This ‘'was true in the case in which the white man was struck. I was
unable to make the arrest because of resistance,

Q. Do you know of any frand at the New Troy precinet 7—A. There
must have been fraud committed, but how I donot know. I was present
when the votes were counted at the New Troy precinet, There were
42 votes counted out for Josiah T. Walls for member of Congress. 1
was one of the county canvassers. There was no legal sign of a return
giving J. T. Walls a vote at that precinet. _

Q. What do you know about the precinet at Governor Hill 2—There
was no return from the inspectors on file.  'When the vote was can-
vassed by the connty canvassers, the ballot-box appeared to have been
broken open. The head was knocked in. When the ballot-box was
opened in my presence, there were a few tickets and some tax returns
in the box. They were schedules of taxable property. There was no
poll-book return from this precinct,

Q. Do you know anything about the California precinet t—A., I do.
The ballot-box was aot sealed. There were some returns in the box;
returns of the inspectors; the same man that bronght the box to the
clerk’s office bronght the key with it; the returns were badly scrabbled
up, and in such a condition that they could hardly be called returns;
they were signed by the inspectors. This is about all that I know about
this precinct,

Q. What do you know about the Cook’s IHHammock precinet 3—A. One
of the returns from Cook’s Hammock was made out on a county canvass-
er’s blank, the other was made out on an inspector’s blank ; one gave
votes for the State senator and the other did not. The reason for send-
ing two was, that one was intended for the county judge and the other
for the county clerk. I did not see on any of the returns signed by the
inspectors from all the precincts any votes for Josiah T, Walls,

Cross-examination :

Q. Were you a candidate for any office at that election #—A. I was;
for member of the assembly. .

Q. Was the county judge a candidate tor any office at that time 24—
A, ({{e was not at that time. The county judge then was David R. Town-
send, '

Q. What party did he belong to? A. Mr. Townsend is considered a
republican.

Q. Who were the connty commissioners at that time 2—A. J. C. Rouse,
R. . Langston, Howell Hawkins, B. I. Townsend, and Dennis Drig-
gers, sr, .

Q. What was their politics ?—A. T think they were all republicans at
that time.

Q. Who were the inspectors of election at New Troy 3—A. James A,
Shiver, R. P, Langston, and John (. Rouse.

Q. Were they republicans ?—A. I considered them such at that time.

Q. Who had the appointing of inspectors of election for the different
precinets $—A. The county commissioners.

Q. Judging from the signatures and your knowledge of the men



70 NIBLACK VS. WALLS,

appointed inspectors, would you not think they were men of limited
education I—A., I think they were, though they were all able to sign
their names. I don’t think, from what I know of the men, that they erred
through design or intention. T

Q. What vote did you receive for assemblyman at the New Troy pre-
cinct #—A. I received 100 votes counted out of the ballot-box. I ran as
a republican.

Q. How did it happen that you acted as county canvasser instead of
the county judge '—A. Because the county judge was absent.

Question by the contestee, redirect :

Q. Is there any thing further regarding the precinets whith you recol-
lect !—A. As regards the California and Summerville precinets, the
returns and everything else were inside of the ballot-box.

Q. Did not some of the inspectors at the different precincts belong to
the conservative or democratic party ¥—A. I think so, sir; at Summer.
ville and Cook’s Hammock,

WM. D, SEARS,

The next witness called was JAMES A. SHIVER, who, being duly sworn,_
deposed as follows:

Question. State where you were on the 8th day of November, A. D,
1870.—Answer. At New Troy, in La Fayette County, State of Florida,
1 was one of the inspectors at that precincet, and was present when the
vote was counted out and declared. -

Q. If Josiah T. Walls received any votes at said precinet, for member
of Congress, state the number.—A. I do not know the exact number,
but to the best of my recollection it was 42; I know he received some
votes.

Cross-examination :

Q. Did you sign the returns at that precinet 7—A. I did. ,
JAMES A. SHIVER.

The next witness called was IsgaM THoMAS, of La Fayette County,
State of Florida.

Question. State where you voted on the 8th day of November, A. D,
1870.—Answer. I voted at the New Troy precinct, in La Fayette County,
State of Florida.

Q. Who did you vote for for member of Congress?—A. Josiah T.
Walls,

hi
ISHAM + THOMAS.
mark,

The next witness called was ANDREW JAOKSON, from La Fayette
County, State of Florida, who, being duly sworn, deposed as follows :

Question. State where you voted on the 8th day of November, A. D.
1870.—Answer. At New Troy, in La Fayette County, State of Florida.

Q. Who did you vote for for member of Congress I—A. Mr. Walls.

hi
ANDREW + JACKSON.

mark.
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., The next witness called was COLUMBUS SNEED, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. State where you voted on the 8th day of November, A, D,
1870.—Answer. At New Troy.

Q. Who did you vote for for member of Congress 3—A. Mr, Walls.

his
COLUMBUS + SNEED.

mark,

The contestant having given notice that he would examine John Var-
num, adjutant general of the State of Flovida and a citizen of Leon
County, and it being desired to close the testitnony to be taken at this
place now, and the said John Varnum not being present, the sitting
member, the said Josiah T, Walls, admits that the said Varnum is' now
and was at the time of said election a republican in politics, and that
he was present as deputy United States marshal at Marianna, in Jack-
son County, at said election, by appointment of the United States mar-
shal for the northern district of Florida, and that if present now here,
he, the said Varnum, would testify that said election in Mavianna was
an orderly and peaceable election,

Tuesday, March 19, 1872.—The contestee here rests as far as taking
testimmony in Tallahassee is concerned.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Leon County :

Iy 0. H. Edwards, mayor of the city of Tallahassee, do hereby certify
that the testimony berewith transmitted, from page 1 to page 86,
inclusive, was taken before me, and that the accompanying papers,
to wit: Notice of time of taking testimony, dated February 16th, 1872,
with proof of service, dated February 17, 1872; withdrawal of said
notice, dated Febrnary 20, 1872, with proof of service, February 21,
1872; new notice, dated February 16, 1872, with proof of service Feb-
ruary 21, 1872; agreement signed March 2, 1872, and subpwena to wit-
ness, were produced before me on said examination.

In testimony whereof I hereauto set my hand and affix the seal of the
city of Tallahassee, in the State of Florida, this twenty-second day of
March, A. D, 1872,

[SEAL.] . C. H. EDWARDS,

Mayor City of Tallahassee.

In the matter of the contested election wherein Silas L. Niblack con-
tests the election of Josiah T. Walls, returned member of the Forty-
second Coungress of the United States.

; TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA, March 9, 1872,

To Hon. S1LAs L., NIBLACK :

SIR: You will take notice that I intend to take testimony of the fol-
lowing-named persons, to be used in my behalf in the above case; said
testimony will be taken before the Hon. C. H. Edwards, notary public
at large, at the court-house in Quincy, county of Gadsden, or, in his
absence, before some other competent officer, on the 20th day of March,
A, D. 1872, at 10 o’clock a. m., to wit: Hubbard Peoples, James McFane.
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Jerry Richardson, Caroline Carraway, George Hopkins, John Kilby, J.
. Johuson, M, L. Stearns, and Fayette Mitchell.
J. T. WALLS, Contestee.

Also the following-named witnesses in addition to the above :

Prince Albert, William Aunderson, James Allen, Thomas Abner,
Samuel Allison, Robert Aitkens, Joab Alexander, Jerry Anders, Lewis
Anderson, David Atkins, Benjamin Austin, Davy Benjamin, William
Baker, Robert Byrd, Henry Bamer, Samuel Bowen, Robert Bright,
Parish Bacon, Robert Brisborn, James Bowie, William Black, Robert
Brown, J. A, Beasley, James Baldwin, Alexander Bryant, Adam Black-
well, Jolin Bowles, James Baldwin, James Baker, Abraham Baldwiu,
James Byrd, Richard Bradwell, Jane Bradwell, Wright Byrd, Joseph
Brown, Charleton Banks, Russell Buie, Janies Baker, Henry Battles,
William Byrd, Frederick Brown, Isaae Bowles, James Battles, Samuel
Black, William Daker, William Brown, George Byrd, Alexander Byrd,
Thomas Brackstine, Richard Bush, Caroline Carraway, Hampton
Cloud, Matthew Cook, Thomas Cook, Robert Carey, Charles Carter,
Thomas Coleman, George Cox, Henry Cogburn, Robert Cooper,
Ellis Cox, Ciesar Cooper, George Campbell, Cwsar  Carter,
James Conty, Nelson Colburn, Henry Campbell, Milton  Capers,
James Chandler, Aaron Chappell, John Cash, July Cowens, Cannon
Crooms, Henry Cooper, James Cash, Moses Chandler, Henry Cox,
Josiah Chandler, John Constance, Jarrels Coleman, Washington Carroll,
Jerry P, Campbell, Damon Cooper, Calvin Doyle, Columbus Dickenson,
Marcus Davidson, Solomon Doctor, Benjumin Davis, John Dickson,
William Donaldson, Robert Daniels, Isham Denmark, August Day,
Archibald Du Pont, Charles Darkins, Tyler Doyle, John Douglass, Rob-
ert Du Pont, Willis Dickson, Stephen Everett, Franklin Evans, Sanders
Epps, Gillum Epps, Nathan 'Epps, Harrison Livans, Jackson Edwards,
Lewis Frazier, Peter Franklin, Peter Fitzgerald, Clinton Fletcher, James
Trarrow, Wallace Foreman, William Follin, Jeseph Foster, Joshua Fore-
man, Joseph Fagg, Toney Fields, Benjamin Fields, Nathaniel Fleniing,
Jockey FFord, Toney Gilburn, Anderson Gee, Levi Greene, Michael Greg-
ory, Nat. Gaines, Richard Green, Lloyd Gibson, John Gregory, Isaae
Gaines, Henry Goodson, William Green, John Grice, Joseph Grice,
Benjamin Gibbs, Isaac Gordon, Allen Grey, Joseph Goodson, Israel
Goodson, David Hill, Reuben Hartridge, Samuel Heines, Jefferson
Haitley, Lott House, Adam Hendricks, Cupid House, Sampel Har-
rison, James Hunter, Isaac Harrvison, Berry Hilliwed, John Harri-
sony, George Harrison, David Hilly George Hopkins, Jacob Howard,
Aaron Hardin, Lewis Holmes, Henry Hinson, Willis Harvey, Fuller
Hutchinson, Benjamin Harrison, Quash Hatcher, Benjamin [Talliter,
Solomon Hogan, Daniel Hawsburry, Hampton Honor, Frank Harris,
Josiah Henderson, Jacob lHolmes, Green Harrison, Young Harrison,
Nathan Henderson, Jonas Isaae, Joseph Jones, Abram Jackson, Wil
liam Jenking, Abraham Johnson, Berry Johnson, Robert Johnson,
Samuel Johnson, Thomas Jones, Arch. James, Powell James, Harry
Johnson, Harry Jenkins, Wilson Jones, Israel Johnson, Daniel John-
son, John Jones, Nathaniel Jolmson, Alex. Johnson; Wiley Jenkins,
Louis Jackson, Turner Johnson, Daviu Jones, Solomon Jackson, Charles
Jackson, Anthony Jones, Samuel Jackson, John Kilby, Isham Kidd,Wil-
linm Keekan, Henry Laing, Jordan Littleton, Thomas Lott, Arch Lioyd,
Robert Longworth, Aaron Love, Williamm Londy, April Levy, Adam
Leonard, Ellis Lemmons, Green Little, Moses Madrid, Anthony Moore,
James McFaul, Lot Mumford, William Marshal, Charles McKendrick,
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James Munroe, Jickson Mason, sr.,, Caswell Moore, Mack Madison,
Andrew Moore, Noah Mumford, Harper Martin, Richard McElvy,
Henry Moore, William Morgan, Pleasant McMillan, George McQuinn,
Henry Marshall, Henry Martin, George Marshall, Richard Mason, Jerry
Miner, Doctor McDonald, William Mackle, Isaac Mason, Milton Mo(iriff,
Mack McGriff, Prince Moseley, Haywood MeGrift, Solomon Matthews,
Nelson Mitchell, Thomas Norton, Caleb Nero, Henry Nickolson, William
Nelson, Wisdom Nicholson, Frank Nichols, Handy Nelson, Qarter Nich-
olson, Aaron Neil, Peter Oliver, Green Owens, John O’Neal, Hulburd
Peoples, Lewis Patrick, Benjamin Peoples, Joseph Pollard, Levy Plum-
mer, Austin Purdy, Harris Prior, Allen Richardson, Joseph Robinson,
Williain Robinson, Perry Robinson, John Randolph, Dennis Richardson,
Vincent Richardson, Ned Richardson, Rufus Reid, Samuel Reed, Daniel
Robinson, John Robinson, George Richardson, Morton Roster, David
Randolph, Jefterson Rogers, Isham Richards, Frank Rea, Nelson Round-
tree, Jesse Robinson, Albert Rogers, Troup Stephenson, David Sylvester,
Isaac Smith, Frank Singleton, Andrew Sweet, Moses Scott, York Scott,
Peter Spate, William Smith, Josiah Smith, Reuben Smith, Edward Sim-
mons, Alex, Stockton, Alex. Stewart, Julius Stephens, Ebby Shaw, Bar-
ber Smith, Junuary Smart, Henry Stephens, Joseph Smart, John Smith,
Norwood Stephens, William Simmons, Wiley Sams, Punch Spivy, Mark
Spivy, Jesse Seals, Joseph Simmons, Handy Seagal, Julins Smith, David
Sadbury, Emanuel Sweet, Isaac Simmons, Jeft Shaw, Michael Taylor,
Joshua Thomas, Harry Temples, Thomas Thomas, Samuel Tillman,
Charles Thomas, Levi Turner, John Traverse, Jackson Traverse, William
Tover, Julius Turner, Edward Temples, Stephen Thomas, Jesse Thomas,
Jeremiah Tate, Benjamin Urby, Allen Umphrey, Lewis Ufanla, Joseph
Vincent, Daniel Williams, Jerry Waiters, Peter Writman, Joseph West,
Garnett Weaver, David Washington, Lafayette Wynn, Cwesar Wyatt,
Samuel Wright, George Wilder, Abraham Wilkins, Albert Washington,
Lewis Willims, Allen Williams, Nelson Wilson, Pivey Ward, Clennet
Walker, Robert Williams, Edenborough Williams, James Washington,
Hamilton Whaley, Lewis White, Jackson Williams, Frank Warren, Mur-
ray Williams, Joseph Williams, Tony Williams, George Williams, Pluto
Williams, Chas. Whiddon, Robert Williams, Prince Williams, James
Wiley, Stephen Williams, Daniel Webster, Dandy Williams, Anthony
Wilson, Turner Wilson, Paul Werkley, Thos. Zeigler, Elias Zanders,

Samuel Zeigler,
JOSIAI T. WALLS, Contestee.

Executed the within by serving copy of same on S. L. Niblack this
Oth day of March, A. D, 1872,
W. 8. BUSH,

Sheriff Columbia County.

Testimony in the matter of the contested election between the Hon, Jo-
sinh T, Walls, sitting member of the Forty-second Congress of the
Congress of the United States, from the congressional district of
Florida, and the Hon. Silas L. Niblack, contestant, taken betore Wil-
liam L. Burleigh, the said Burleigh being a notary public for the State
at large, and officiating. in the absence of C. H, Edwards, a notary
public for tlie State at large, at Quiney, Gadsden County, in said con-
gressional distriet, on the 20th day of March, A. D, 1872..

The contestant, being absent, appeared by counsel, Messrs, Davidson
& Love, and the contestee by A. A. Kuight and in personam.
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The counsel for contestant offered the following protest, in words and
figures, as follows:

In the matter of the contested election between Silas L. Niblack vs,
Josiah T. Walls.of the Forty-second Congress of the Congress of the
United States.

The contestant objects to the returned memnber taking testimony on
this the 20th day of March, at Quiney, according to his notice, on the
following grounds, viz : That this contestant gave notice to said returned
member that he would, on the 20th day of March instant, tuke the tes.
timony of witnesses named in said notice before the Hon. W. A. McLear,
county judge of Duval Connty, at Jacksouville, in said county of Duval
and that said returned member acknow ledged service of said notice be-
fore the said returned member gave notice to this contestant ot taking
testimony at Quincy, in Gadsden County, on the same day appointed
by this contestant. at Jacksonville, in Duval County, to wit, the 20th
day of March instant, which is in direct violation of the act of Con
gress in relation to c(mtested elections; and this contestant therefore
protests against said notice and any prou,ulmg% under it as illegal,

S. L. NIBLACK, Contestant,

MARCH 20, 1872,

The contestee having notified the contestant that he would proceed
to take testimony under the tenth section of the answer, the contestant
objects to this section on the ground that it is too general in its terms,
Objection overruled and exception taken.

The first witness called was the ITon. M. L. STEARNS, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. M. L. Stearns;
Quincy, Gadsden County, Florida.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870 —A. At

Quincy, Florida.

Q. State what you know of any (lxqturbance oceurring at the election.
on that day.—A. There were two voting polls in Quincy, and I was at
poll No. 1 all day, and between the hours of 3 and 4 in the after-
noon of that day the voting at poll No. 1 ceased, and the poll was still
held by a line of persons that stood in front of the poll, so that many
voters who were pressing forward were prevented from voting. Then a
difficulty arose, owing to the pressure of persons trying to vote, and in
the effort of the officers to clear thu poll a difficulty or general Tow en-
sued, in which a number of knives, pistols, and clubs were shown, and
the (,lubs were used to some extent. I dow’t think any pistols were
fired. This difficulty was finally settled by the officers in about a half
hour after it commenced. This is all I can recollect regarding the gen-
eral -particulars. This poll was occupied mostly by the white voters,
while the other polls were used by the colored voters; and the taking
possession of the poll was by persons who had voted and boys that were
in the line, to prevent the colored voters from voting, claiming that this
poll belonged to the white voters. 1 can’t say how the difficulty com-
menced. The inspectors ordered the polls cleared ; the officers, in at-
tempting it, were resisted in their efforts to preserve order. I did not
8ee any one in particular hurt, but saw knives and pistols flourished
while looking from my window, I was ingide of the court-house when
the dificulty commenced, and immediately ran out to assist in quelling
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the disturbance. The people still remained around the poll after the
difficulty was quieted.

Q. Who seemed to be prominent in conducting the disturbance ¢

(Obj)ected to by the contestant. Objection overruled and exception
taken.

A. The members of the democratie party secmed to be the most promi-
nent in the disturbance, _

Q. What were the names of the parties !—A. The most prominent
that I saw was A, K. Allison, In forming the organized line in front
of the polls and controlling it, he was the most prominent,

Q. Did you see him do anything in particular I—A. I saw him pass-
ing up and down the line, but owing to the noise I was unable to hear
what he said, until I went out from the porch to speak to the voters,
when he cried out to shoot him down, referring to myself, and he made
a great deal of disturbance at the time, cursing. He had his knife in
his hand at the same time.

The contestee here offers in evidence a certified copy of the indict-
ment against said Allison, and the sentence of said Allison, marked
Exhibit B, and is herewith appended. -

The contestant excepts to the evidence and indictment. Objection
overruled and exception noted. .

ExHIBIT B,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
“ NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA,
Tallahassee, Monday, February 12, 1872,

Indictment for obstructing, delaying, and

M
b preventing citizens from voting.

ABRAHAM K., ALLISON.
The jury having been out some time, came into court and delivered
the following verdict, viz: “We, the jury, tind the prisoner guilty ; so

say we all,”
EDWARD BARKER,
Foreman.

THE UNITED STATES §

Whereupon the court sentenced him to imprisonment for and during
the term of six months and to pay a fine to the United States of two
hundred and fifty dollars, and to stand committed until such fine be
paid, and the said imprisonment to be executed in the county jail of
Leon County, in the northern district of Florida.

A true copy from the record.

In the district court of the United States for the northern district of
Florida, in the fitth circuit.

At a stated term of the district court of the United States for the
northern district of Florida, in the fifth circuit, begun and held at the
city of Tallahassee within and for the district and circuit aforesaid, on
the sixth day of February, A. 1. one thousand eight hundred and
seventy-one, and continued by adjournment to and including the fifth
day of March, in the year A. D. eighteen hundred and seventy-one.

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, 88: :
The grand jurors of the United States of America, impaneled an
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gworn within and for the district aforesaid, on their oath present that
'Abraham K. Allison heretofore, to wit, on the eighth day of November,
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy, at
Gadsden County, within. the district aforesaid and within the jurisdie-
tion of this court, at an election then and there held, at which said
election Representatives to the Congress of the United States were then
and there voted for, by force, bribery, threats, intimidation, and by
unlawfully crowding and pressing, with other persons, around and in
front of the ballot-box at said election, at said county, and by thréats of
violence and other unlawful means, did then and there hinder, delay,
obstruct, and prevent, certain citizens, to wit, Samuel Zeigler, Carolina
Caroway, Aaron Neal, and other citizens, from voting at said election,
held as aforesaid, the said Samuel Zeigler, Caroline Caroway, Aaron
Neal, and the said other citizens, being then and there qualified voters
at said election, contrary to the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the United States,

And the grand jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforesaid, do further
present that heretofore, to wit, on the day and year atoresaid, at Gads-
den County, in the district aforesaid, at an election then and there held,
at which said election Representatives to the Congress of the United
States were then and there voted for, one Abraham K. Allison did then
and there unlawfully combine and confederate with others, and unite
with other persons in forming a crowd of persons about and in front of
the polls and ballot-hox used at said election at said county, with intent
to hinder, delay, prevent, And obstruct certain citizens, to wit, Samuel
Zeigler, Carolina Caroway, and Aaron Neal, and other ¢itizens from
voting at said election at said county, the said Samuel Zeigler, Carolina
Caroway, Aaron Neal, and the said other citizens, being then and there
qualified voters, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made
and provided, and against the peace and diguity of the United States.

And the grand jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforesaid, do further
present that heretofore, to wit, on the day and year aforesaid, at Gads-
den County, in the district aforesaid, at an election then and there held,
at which said election Representatives to the Congress of' the United
States were then and there voted for, Abraham K. Allison did then and
there prevent, hinder, control, and intimidate, and did then and there
attempt to prevent, hinder, control, and intimidate certain persons, to
wit, Samuel Zeigler, Carolina Caroway, and Aaron Neal, and other
persons, from exercising and in exercising the right of suffrage at said
election at said county, to whom the right of suffrage was then and
there secured and guaranteed by the fifteenth amendment to the Con-
stitution of the United States, by means of bribery, threats, threats of
violence, contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and pro-
vided, and against the peace and dignity of the United States.

H. BISBEE, ‘JRr.,
United States District Attorney.

I, Philip Walter, clerk of the United States district court in and for
the northern district of' Florida, do hereby certify that the foregoing. is
a true copy of the indictment on file in my oftice.

In testimony whereof I do hereunto affix my hand and attach the
seal of my office, at Tallahassee, in the northern district of Florida, this
ninth day of March, A. D. one thousand eight hundred and seventy-two,
and of the Independence of the United States the ninety-sixth year.

[SEAL.] . PHILIP WALTER,

Clerk United States District Court.
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Q. Do you recollect anything further regarding violence at that
poll —A, There were many voters prevented from voting on that day,
owing to this organized disturbance, and that nnumbers of the conserva-
tive party came into rhe town with arms, which they deposited in various
buildings around the public square, as though they contemplated diffi-
culty.

Q. How large a number would you judge were prevented from vot-
ing¥—A. Some two hundred voters turned away trom the polls when
the polls closed, having been unable to deposit their votes, These people
could have voted had there been no disturbance at the polls on that day.
These all were members of the republican party.

Q. Do you know at what hour the polls ¢losed '—A. 1 think at abont
the hour of sundown. The polls were hurriedly closed, while many were
waiting to vote.

Cross-examination :

Q. You speak of an organized line in front of the polls on that day ;
was not this line suggested and advised by the sheriff in order to expe-
dite voting 2—A. Not to my kuowledge,

Q. Were not the voters at both polls, Nos. 1 and 2, formed into line
on that day }—A. Yes, sir; but not such a line as 1 spoke of in direct
testimony,

Q. In your opinion, did not the formation of these lines expedite vot-
ing on that day 1—A. 1 should say that it did.

Q. Had there been any disturbance up to ‘the hour of 3 in the after-
noon; and did not good humor and feeling seem to prevail 7—A, It did
as far as I know,

Q. Was not this disturbance you spoke of caused by an altereation
between two individuals f—A, I think not.

Q. Do you know how the disturbance originated 7——A. I know of no
other way than above stated, and the effort of the officers to clear the

pon. »
Q. Who were these oflicers?—A. The sheriff of the county and his
police.

Q. You say you saw quite a number of pistols and knives on that
day; were any pistols fired }—A, I think not.

Q. In the effort of the officers to clear the poll, did you see any per-
son resist the officers 7—A. I did not.

Q. In what manner was General Allison most prominent in assisting
at the disturbance ?—A. He was active about the poll, and appeared to
me to be in a frenzy. When he came up to deposit his vote he was very
much excited, and struck his hand upon the table and used an oath.

Q. Have you not seen people at elections similarly excited like Gen.
eral Allison ?-—A. I never did. :

Q. Were not a number of conservatives and republicans excited anil

demonstrative on that day #—A. Nothing morve than is usual at elec-
tions, up to that time on that day. A
Q. In your opinion, was not the excitement and demonstration of
General Allison on that day caused by the iuterest he manifested in the
election, and not from any anger toward the crowd, or any desire to
hinder persons from voting1—A. I think it was something more than
zeal; he seemed to be angry with everybody.

Q. Was there any personal difticulty between you and General Alli-
son }—A. There was not. '

Q. Do you know who were around you, standing near you at the time
of the remark made by General Allison?—A. 1 could unot state who
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were there with me at that time. Colonel Love and Mr, Smith walke
out of the room with me, and were on the porch. .

Q. At the time General Allison made this remark, did he not curse
and swear some ?—A, He did.

Q. Don’t you think his conduct at that time and his swearing was
caused by being excited, without any intention or desire to execute his
threats 2—A. I don’t know what his intentions were.

Q. Did he make any attempt to shoot you, or do violence to you ?—
A. Ie did not. i :

Q. How do you know that a good many voters were prevented from
voting on that day ?—A. I know so because I saw them, I saw them
struggling to get their votes in, and knew that they were going to vote,

Q. How do you know that they were going to vote 7—A. 1 judged so
from the manner in which they acted.

Q. What prevented them from voting 7—A. The polls closing pre-
vented them from voting at that time.

Q. Were not the polls closed at about the legal hour?—A. I think
they were. .

Q. Did you state in your direct examination that about two hundred
voters were prevented from voting on that day 7—A. Yes, sir; but they
were not all prevented from voting by the disturbance above men-
tioned ; a good many were challenged, and delay cansed in the latter
part of the day ; the residents and some old citizens were challenged,

Q. How do you know that the two hundred voters that were pre-
vented from voting on that day were all republicans ¥—A. Because I
know that no democrat was prevented,

Q. How do you know that no democrat was prevented from voting on
that day ?—A. They had sufficient opportunity, and no interruption
prevented them from voting at the poll where I was.

Q. Were not there some colored men who had declared they would
vote the conservative ticket threatened on that day 7—A. I don’t know.

Q. Were not there some colored men in this two hundred that did
not intend to vote for either ticket?—A. Not out of the two hundred,
I think they all intended to vote; without any hinderauice from dis-
turbance, 1 believe the two hundred could have voted on that day.

Q. How many ballots were received in a minute, and taken down in
the poll-book, in your opinion #—A. Some votes were taken quicker
than others, but, on an average, I should judge, one ballot per minate

would have been a good average,
M. 8. STEARNES,

By counsent, a recess was then taken until 3 o’clock p. m.,

3 O’CLOCK P. M,
The parties present.

The next witness called was GEORGE HoPKINS, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows: .

Question. State your name and residence?—Answer. George Hop
kins ; I reside in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D, 18701—A. 1
was in Quincey.

Q. Were you at that time a registered voter? A. I was.

Q. Did you vote on that day ¥—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A, When it came my turn to vote, a fuss was kicked
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up, and before I could vote the polls were closed. The fuss lasted
about a half hour, to the best of my judgment.

Q. If you had been allowed to vote would you have voted for Mr.
Walls or Mr. Niblack #—A. I would have voted for Mr. Walls.

Q. Did you see many colored men who were kept from voting like
yourself 2—A. Yes, sir; a great many of them.

Cross-examination :

Q. You say you did not vote that day ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you go oft then 2—A. No, sir; I staid here until the vote was
counted out. No one told me I shouid not vote. The fuss I spoke of
lasted about a half hour. No one in particular threatened me, or in
general; I was present when the fuss oceurred, and would have voted
afterward, but the polls closed. ,

his
GEORGE + HOPKINS.

mark,

The next witness called was ANDERSON GEE, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows :

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. Anderson Gee ;
Ireside in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D. 18707—A.
At Quiney, Florida.

Q. Were you a registered voter at that time7—A. I wuas.

Q. Did you vote on that day #—A. I did not.

{. Why not ?—A. Because they crowded me so I could not vote.

Cross-examination :

Q. Where did you live in 1870 2—A. Down the fork of the Ocklock-
nee; 1lived with J. J. Williams,

Q. Do you know when the election was held in 1870%—A. I don’t
know exactly, but I was here on that day.

Q. Did you march in that day ?¥—A. No, sir.

Q. Where did they crowd you on election day 2—A. At the window
where the colored people voted, mostly ; don’t know the number of the poll
where I was. I lived about eight miles from town, and left town about

sunset.

Q. What colored men crowded you at the poll ?—A. Tt was the white
men; they were all around; every man around there was crowding,
some more than others.

Redirect :
Q. Who crowded you the most, the white or colored people —A. The
white people crowded me.
Cross-examination :
Q. Did not more of the colored people have sticks than the white
people 7—A., Yes, sir,
Redirect :

Q. Did not the white people have more pistols and knives than the
colored 2—A. Not that I saw. :
Q. Which ticket would you have voted if you had had a chance$—
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A. I should go the way the Constitution went, There was a big crowd
that day, of white au: A black,

ANDERSON + GEE, '

wark,

'The next witness called was ADAM LEONARD, who, being duly sworn,
depoused as follows:

Question. State your name and resideince.—Answer, Adam Leonard ;
I live in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870 ?—A, I
was here, ’

Q. Were you a registered voter at that time ¥—A., I was.

Q. Did you vote on that day ¥—A. I did not.

Q. Why not?—A. I was pulled and hauled about so at the election
that I let it alone; I could not get a chance to get at the poll.

Q. If you had luul a chanee to vote, would you have voted a republi.
can ticket or a democratic ticket +—A. I would have voted the republican
ticket.

Cross-examination:

Q. What time did you leave town on that day 7—A. Between 10 and-
11 o'clock in the morning, It I had voted I should have voted the
republican ticket. The reason I cleared out was that they kept after
me 80. ' :

hi
ADAM + LEONARD.

mark,

The next witness called was JERRY ANDERS, who, being duly sworn,
deposed asfollows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. Jerry Anders;
I live in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D, 1870%—A. I
was here,

Q. Were you a registered voter at that time I—A. I was.

Q. Did you vote on that day !—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A. Because Mr. Harris said he could not find my
naie.

Q. If you had had a chance to vote, how would you have voted ?—
A. The republican ticket.

Oross-examination: ‘

Q. You say the reason you did not vote was that Mr. Harris told you
he could not find your name on the registration book.-—~A. Yes, sir. I
then went to the other poll. The men who were receiving the ballots
said that they could not find my name on the books; these men were
the mspwtors at that box the colored people voted most at.

Redirect:
Q. Did you then try to vote at the other window, where the white
people voted +—A. Yes, sir; and was forced away.
Recross-examination : C ' o ,
Q. Did any one force you away —A. I came around there to vote,
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and there was.a big crowd, and I was forced away. I saw a rattling-
box, which frightened me. The man that stood around there kept me
away. I was determined to vote.

BEXPLANATION.—The Mr. Harris referred to above was Mr. A. M,
Harris, :

his
JERRY + ANDERS.

mark.

The next witness called was THomAs Cork, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows : :

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. Thomas Cork ;

Ilive in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D, 1870 1—A. 1
was here, ,

Q. Were you a registered voter then 2—A. I was,

Q. Did you vote on that day 2—A. No, sir,

Q. Why not?—A. I went to the poll where the colored people were_

voting, and was told by Mr. A. M. Harris, who was receiving the ballots,
that ny name could not be found on the list. I did not try to vote at

the other poll.
Q. Would you have voted the republican or democratic ticket?—A.

I would have voted the republican ticket.

Cross-examination :

Q. What time in the day did you ofter your vote3—A. At a little
past 12 o’clock.

hi
THOMAS + CORK..

mark,

The next witness called was BELIAS ZANDERS, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows: :

Question, State your name and residence.—Answer. Elias Zanders;.
I'live in Gadsden County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A, D. 1870 3—A. 1
was here. :

Q. Were you a registered voter then 3~A. I was.

Q. Did you vote on that day *—A. I did not.

Q. Why not ?—A. Because I could not get a chance to vote, there
were 80 many in the way, and when I tried to get to the polls I could
not get there. No one scared me away. 1 went to both polls.

Q. If you had had a chance to vote, which ticket would you have
voted ¥— A, The republican ticket.

hi
ELIAS + ZANDERS,

mark,

The next witness called was EBBY SHAW, who, being duly sworn,

deposed as follows ‘
Question, State your name and residence.—Answer, Ebby Shaw; I
live in Gadsden County.
- H. Mis. 34, pt. 2—6
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Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D, 18701—A,
I.was here,

Q. Were you a registered voter on that day ¥—A. 1 was.

Q. Did you vote on that day ?—A. No, sir.

© Q. Why not?—A. 1 could not get to where they were votmg, the
people crowded around the window so that 1 could not get toit. If I
had had a ¢hance to vote 1 would have voted the republican ticket.

Cross-examination :

Q. Did you try to vote at both boxes?—A. Yes, sir; I was in the
ranks where the colored people voted, but was so crowded that I left and
went to the other window, and could not vote theve because of the
crowd,

Q. Do you remember the republican ticket; if so, state what names
werc on A, Mr, Walls, Major Stearns, and the men for tho legislature,

EBBY + SHAW,

mark,

Thc next witness called wasy TuoyMas CoLMAN, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question, State your name and residence ; where you were on the 8th
day of November, A, 1), 18705 were you a registered voteron that day;
did you vote; it not why I—-Anm\er Thomas Coleman is my name; I
live in G :uls(lon (/ounty ; was in Quiney on the day of election; we w 8
registered voter, and did not vote because the_polls was shut down
against me. 1 had my ticket in my hand holding it in at the window,
It 1 had had a chanee to vote 1 would have voted the republican ticket,

Cross-examination:

Q. Who were the republican candidates on  that day *—A. Major
Stearny, Fred Hill, Harry Crase, Mr, Walls, and Charles T, Day ; 1 of:
fered my ballot at. "the time the polh closed, at the window \\hmo the
colored people voted. 1 had previously tried to vote at the other win.
dow, but could not. At the time 1 oftfered to vote the polls were closed

by the proclamation of the sherifi,
’ THOMAS COLMAN.

The next witness called was DANIEL WEBSTER, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence; where you were on the
8th day of November, A, 1), 18705 if you were a registered voter on
that day; and if you voted ; if not, why —Answer. Daniel Webster is
my name; I live in Gadsden County ; 1 was at Quincy on the 8th of
Novembm' 18705 was registered; did not vote because every time T
attempted to vote Mr, Alhson 1(‘;(’bt(‘(l it, and at the window where the
colored people mostly voted was so crowded that I could not get there;
and the window where the white people mostly voted Mr, Allison ob
Jected to my voting ; when the way was clear, and I stepped up to vote,
Mr. Allison said, * Stand back,” and 1 tried until the polls were closed
at night, 1 would have voted bhe republican ticket it I had a chance to,

his
DANIEL 4+ WEBSTER.

mark.
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'The next witness called was GEORGE WILDER, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows :

Question. State your name and residence; where you wereon the 8th
day of November, A.D. 1870; if you were registered, and if you voted ;
if not, why *—Answer, George Wilder; I live in Gadsden County ; was
at Quincy on the 8th of November, 1870; was registered ; did not vote
because I could not get a chance to, because they could not go through
fast enough; I tried to vote at the window where the colored people
were voting, but could not get in. In the evening 1 understood that
colored men could vote where the white people had been voting ; I went
to do s0, but was told by the white men to stand back, If my vote had
been taken 1 would have voted the radical ticket.

Cross-examination:

Q. Were you very anxious to vote on that day 1—A. Yes, sir; that is
what I came in town for; T dow’t know that any one tried to shoot me
but pistols were presented, and I was repeatedly told to stand back, i
then ran away, and heard a rattling which made me increase my speed.

his
GEORGE 4 WILDER,

mark.

The next witness called was AARON NEAL, who, being duly sworn,
deposes as follows: '

Question. State your name and vesidence ; where you were on the 8th
day of November, A, 1. 1870 ; if you were registered on that day, and
if you voted ; if not, why #—Answer. Aaron Neal is my names I live
in Gadsden County ; was at Quiney on the 8th day of November, 1870
did not vote; was a registered voter; did not vote because Mr, Allison
was on the box, and he said to Sam Zeigler that he should not vote here ;
‘it he came up to his poll he would “ cut his damned throat ; this is our
poll 3”7 this scared me, and 1 left. L could not get up there. If I had
voted I should have voted the republican ticket.

Jross-examination

Q. Did General Allison, or any one else, threaten you!—A. No, sir.
There were two polls that day.

hi
AARON + NEAL,

mark,

. The next witness called was M1LToN CAPER, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows, to whom the same questions-in-chiet were asked as
the last witness:

My name is Milton Caper; Ilive 'u Gadsden County; was at Quiney
November 8, A. 1. 1870; was registered; did not vote, because I could
not get a chance, owing to the crowd. There was no trouble as far as 1
was concerned or know ; 1 tried only to vote where the colored people
.l'vyere voting, 1f my vote had been deposited, it would have been a repub-
ican one,

his .
MILTON + GAPER.

mark,
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. The next witness called was BENJAMIN DAVIS, who, being duly sworn
(ieposed as follows. The same questions-in-chief were asked him: '
. My name is Benjamin Davis; I live in Gadsden County; was in
Quiney on November 8, A, D). 1870; was registered; did not vote be.
cause of a fuss which was raised; 1 started for the window, and then
backed out ; the fuss scared me; 1 thought we were going to have a
fight; I would have voted the republican ticket if 1 had had a chanee,

Cross-examination :
~ Question. Did any one want to fight you, or threaten you, on that
day ?—Answer, No, sir, -
hi
BENJAMIN 4 DAVIS,

mark.

The next witnéss enlled was WASHINGTON CARROLL, who, being duly
Bworn, deposed as tollows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him:

Washington Carvoll is my name; I live in Gadsden County; was in
Quiney on the 8th of November, A, 1. 1870; was registered; did not
vote; T attempted to vote, but failed beeause the polls were crowded at
each place, T then went to the window where the white people were
voting, but it was so crowded that I could not vote, and finally the polls
closed. 1 would have voted the republican ticket if I had had a
chance, - '

Cross-examination:
., Question, You said the crowd prevented you from voting '—Answer,
Yes, sir. No one hindered me, or scared me away by threats,
. ) his )
WASHINGTON 4+ CARROLL.

mark.

' The next witness called was WiLLIAM SyitH, who, being duly sworn,
doposed as follows, the same questions-in-chief’ being asked him:

My name is William Smith; Ilive in Gadsden County ; was at Quiney
on November 8, A. D. 18705 was a registered voter; did not vote be-
cause my name could not be found by the man taking the ballots, 1
would have voted the republican ticket if 1 had had a chanceo to.

-~ ~his ;
WILLIAM 4 SMITH.

mark.

The next witness called was PRINCE BAcoN, who, being duly sworn,
doposed as follows, the sime questions-in-chief being asked him:

Prince Bacon is my pame; I live in Gadsden County 5 was at Quiney
on November 8, A. D). 1870; was registered. Did not vote, because I

ot in here about 10 o’clock, and the polls were badly crowded, and I
Ajtempted to vote, but owing to the crowd in the forenoon I failed.
tried it at No. 1 after dinner, about 3 o'clock, and there was no chance
for me, and T did not get a chance to vote at all.  Would have voted
the republican ticket if I had had a chance to.

Oross-examination:
Question. What name did you register in?—Answer. Prince Bacon.
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I did not vote because the man taking the ballots told me my name
" could not be found on the book. ,

his
PRINCE 4+ BACON.

mark,

The next witness called was JonN Smith, who, heing duly sworn, deo-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him::

John Smith is my name; I live in Gadsden County; was in Quincy
on November 8, A. D). 1870 ; was registered. Did not vote becauso 1
tried and could not get o chance to vote ; the polls were so crowded that
[ could not get in and vote. 1f 1 had had a chance to vote 1 would
have voted for the republican party.

Cross-examination:
" Question. Where did you live in 1870?—Aunswer. In Quiney., No one
threatened me or frightened me away on that day. ‘
his
JOHN 4 SMITH,
mark.

The next witness called was ALLEN RIOHARDSON, who, being duly.
sworn, deposed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him:

Allen Richardson is my name, and I live in Gadsden County ; was in
Quincy on the 8th of November, A. D. 1870; was registered. Did not
vote, T did not get a chance to vote on that day. 1 staid in Quiney
nutil 5 o’clock, and seeing no chance to vote I'left. It I had voted ¥
would have voted the radical ticket.

Cross-examination :
Question. Did any one keep you from voting by threats or force$—
Answer, No, sir, .
his L i
ALLEN 4+ RICHARDSON,

mark.

The next witness called was TSAAC SIMMONS, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows, the same questions-in-chiet’ being asked him:

My nameis Isaac Simmons. ['live in Gadsden County; was at Quincy
on the 8th of November, A, 1. 1870; was registered ; did not vote, 1
tried to vote at the polls, but could not get in. 1 was standing at the
¢lored people’s poll when word reached me that we could vote where
the white people had been voting. I then went there, but it was crowded,
and I was told to stand back, I would have voted the republican ticket
if I had had a chanee to. '

Cross-examination :
" Question. Did any one threaten you or frighten you away from
voting I—Aunswer. Noue; only I was told to stand aside; that I could
not vote here, !
his
ISAAC + SIMMONS,.
mark.
.. By consent, the parties adjourned until to-morrow morning at 10

o'clock.
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THURSDAY MORNING, 10 o'clock,
The partics met pursuant to adjournment.

The first witness called wias CAROLINA CARRAWAY, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question, State your name and residence.-—Answer, Carolina Carra.
way. I live in Gadsden County,

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D, 18707—A, |
was in Quincy, Florida,

Q. Were you a registered voter on that day !—A. T was,

Q. Did you vote'—A. No, sir.

Q. Why not?—A. When I went up to vote Mr. Daniels and Mr,
Allison stood up on the box, and Mr. Daniels caught e by the shoulder
and pulled me back, and he had a pistol in his hand and said he conld
shoot as often as any other man; told us to stay away from this poll;
that it was their poll, and we should not vote there.  Mr, Allison was
standing on the box, with & knife in his hand, and said if any God
damned son of a biteh eame up there he would cut his throat,  This was
Governor Allison. The row commenced shortly after.  When it com.
meneed I was standing by the window,  Mr. Joe Wilson told us to come
up and vote, which we tried, but the white men eame and rushed us from
the polls, This is about all T can be positive about. 1 saw a great deal,
but don’t positively recollect any of the details, I would have voted
for the radical ticket it 1 had had a chance to.

Jross-examination: .

Q. Was not this fuss you speak of caused by a difficulty between two
men 2—A, I don’t know,

his
CAROLINA + CARRAWAY,

mark.

The next witness was JoUN KILBY, who, being duly sworn, deposed as
follows. The same questions-in-chief were asked him as the above
witness : ‘

Answer, John Kilby is my name. 1 live in Gadsden County, Was
in Quiney on November 8, A, 1. 1870. Did not vote, becanse when |
came to the polls to vote it was so badly crowded that I could not vote.
This was in the morning. "I then went off.  After dinner I came back
and tried it again, and the polls were still crowded. I staid there then
until the row commenced ; then I left and went back to my shop. Had
it not been for the row 1 would have staid there till the poll closed. 1
would have voted the republican ticket if 1 had voted.

Oross-examination :

Q. This disturbance was of short duration, was’ it not I—A. It was.
The disturbanee occurred about two hours before the polls closed.

Q. How far was your shoe-shop from the polls?—A, Not over one
hundred and twenty yards.

Q. Did anybody threaten you on that day *—A. No, sir,

his
JOHN + KILBY.

mark.
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The next witness was HUBBARD PEEPLES, who, being duly qwom,
deposed as follows, the same questions-in- chict being asked :

Answer, My name is Hubbard Peeples. Tlive in Gadsden (Jouut,y.
Was in Quincy on the 8th of November, A. . 1870.  Was registered.
Did not vote, because a row was vraised, and I could not get up to the
polls; and Mr. Davidson then arose and told me to hold on; that we
phould vote, if it was till after davk. Bt L did not get a chance to get
to the ]mll at all. But this was not Mr. Davidsow’s fault. 1 would
have voted for Mr. Stearns, Hill, Cruse, and for Congress would have
voted for Mr, Reed. T should ll.n e \'()tvd for Mr. Walls to go to Wash-
ington,

Cross-examination :

Q. Did anybody try to hurt yvou on that day —A. No one but Mr.
Daniels.  He appeared to me to be deunk ; he waved his pistol around,
and it was cocked; this was at about ’S o’clock when the row (,om-
menced,  Mr. l)mnoh was not then on the box.

his
HUBBARD + PEEPLES.

mark,

- The next witness was TTaMILrON (/LOUI), who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chiet’ heing asked him:

Answer, Hamilton Cloud is my name. 1 live in Gadsden County.
Was in Quiney on November 8, A, D. 1870,  Was registered,  Did not
vote, because of the row, W Iwn the row started we could not get to
the polls. It was the row which kept us from the polls,  [f I had had
a chance to vote, I would have voted the vepublican ticket.

Cross-examination :

Q. Do you know the name of this county I—A. Yes, sir; it is Gads-
den County,

Q. Did any one threaten to hurt you if you voted in any particular
way ¥—A. No, sir; no one threatened me on that day,

his
HAMILTON 4+ CLOUD.

mark,

The next witness was CALEB NERO, who, being duly sworn, deposed
as follows, the same questions.in-chief being asked him :

Answer. Caleb Nero is my name. Ilive in Gadsden County. Was
in Quiney on November 8, A, D. 1870, Was registered.  Did not vote,
because I did not get a ('lmnw s the polls closed before I could vote, I
was in the crowd botow the wmdow 3 if the polls had not closed, I could
have shortly voted. 1 was around ull day trying to vote. 'l‘here were
& heap behind me, and five or six before me trying to vote when the
polls closed. I would have voted the republican ticket if 1 lm,d voted.

Cross-examination :

Q. Did anybody prevent you from voting ou that day by thre.xts or
otherwise ¥—A, No, sir; no one threatened me,

Q. Had not the people behind you voted. Do you know whether or
not they had voted #—A. I know they did not vote, because I saﬁ
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tickets in their hands when the polls closed ; and some said they ha(i
not voted. ,,

his
CALEB 4 NERO. .
mark.

g,

The next witness was DAvID ATKINS who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him :

Answer, David Atkins is my name, and I live in Gadsden County,
Was in Quiney on November 8, 1870, Was a registered voter. Did
not vote. About the time I was preparing to vote a fuss occurred, and
that knocked me out of it; so I did not get a chance to vote. I would
have voted the republican ticket if 1 had voted.

Cross-examination :
No one threatened me on that day to prevent me from voting.

his
DAVID 4 ATKINS,

mark,

The next witness was MACK MADISON, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him :

Answer. Mack Madison is my name, and T live in Gadsden County;
was in Quincy on November 8, 1870; was registered ; did not vote on
account of the fuss; I did not get a chance to vote; I tried pretty hard
to vote when at the polls; after the fuss started I went home; if 1 had
voted I would have voted the republican ticket,

‘ross-examination :
No one prevented me from voting by reason of threatsor violence. I
was about the polls all day. '

hia
MACK 4 MADISON,

mark,

By consent, a recess was taken until 3 o’clock p. m.

The parties met pursuant to adjonrnment.

The first witness called was PRINCE ALBERT, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him:

Answer, Prince Albert is my name, and I live in Gadsden County;
was in Quincy on November 8, 18705 was registered ; did not vote be-
cause I could not get to the polls in time; there was a sort of a fuss
kicked up which took my attention ; I tried as hard as 1 could to vote;
if T had voted I would have voted the republican ticket.

Cross-examination :

Q. Were you ahout the polls all day long on that day I—A. Icameto
the polis about 9 o’clock in the morning and staid till about 9 o’clock
at night. No one prevented me from voting, by force or threats. I tried
hard to vote. I dow't think I ever said to any one that I would not vote
against my conservative or republican friends; and I never told any
one, that I know of, that I would not vote at all at that election, I
tried often to get to the baliot-box on that day, but a fuss was kicked
up, and the box was closed before 1 could get to it. The polls were
closed at sunset. The disturbance above referred to was in the even-
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ing; I don’t recollect what the time was; I was notengaged in the fuss,
and no one was in a fuss with me. Dovn’t know how long the polis were
kept open after the fuss. The candidates for Congress at that election
were, I think, Colonel Davidson; I know some of them, and think
Colouel Davidson was one of them. I have no recollection of telling
Colonel Davidson that I would not vote against him,

Redirect:
Q. Did this row frighten you 7—A. 1 was sort of afraid of it.

Cross-examination ;
I heard a rattling noise that frightened me some.
Redirect :
1 tried to vote after the row.
his
PRINCE + ALBERT,

mark.

The next witness was CHARLES CARTER, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked :

A, Charles Carter is my name; Ilive in Gadsden County; was in
Quincy on November 8, 1870; was registered ; did not vote because I
could not, get there on account of the fuss, This was all the trouble I
experienced ; after the trouble the polls closed, I was at the polls all
day, but could not get a chance to vote. If I had voted I would have
voted the republican ticket.

Cross-examination : .

No one threatened me or offered violence to prevent me from voting
on that day, There was a large crowd around both ballot-boxes on that
day, and this crowd kept me away; the colored people were mostly at
one box, and the white people at the other. The republican candidates
for Congress, 1 think, were Colonel Davidson and Lieutenant Stearns.

Redirect: .
) Q. Who was the republican man to go to Washington?—A. I don’t
now,

his
CHARLES 4+ CARTER.

mark.

The next witness was JBRRY CAMPBELL, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him:

A. Jerry Campbell is my name, and I live in Gadsden County; was
in Quincy on November 8, 1870 ; was registered ;: did not vote because
I could not get to the box; the polls were so crowded that I could not
get to themn. This was the only trouble, The disturbance was a little
in the way of my voting, and prevented me from getting to the poll,
Would have voted the republican ticket on the day of election if I had
voted. Some of the names on the republican ticket were J. T. Walls,
for Congress, Frederick Hills, Harry Cruse, and M. L. Stearns. '

Cross-ozumioation :
There were u large number of people at the poll, and the ‘polls were 8o
crowded that I could not get to thewn. I tried to get to the poll, but
could not. No one threatened me on that day or offered violence to
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hinder me from voting. I remained in town, after the fuss, until dark.
The polls closed, I think, about a half hour atter the row. I amn a mar-
ried man; was a married man in 1870, The election took place in No:
vember, 1870. 1n 1869 I lived in Georgia, on the river, but, owing to
sickness, I left Georgia September 1, and moved my family to Tlorida,
I went back to Georgia afterward until the month of January; my family
Yé}ﬁ)then in Florida. I carried on business in Georgia until the eund of
",

Redirect: _
After moving my family into Florida I traversed back and forth to
. Georgia several times.
' J. P, CAMPBELL.

The next witness ealled was Josern Wuesr, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows, the same questions-in-chief being asked him:

A. Joseph West is my name; I live in Gadsden County; was in -
Quiney on November 8, 1870; was registered; did not vote because 1
could not get a chance. I was at the river some distance from this
place, and was some time getting here ; after arriving here I could not
geb a chance to vote. T left home to vote the republican ticket, and
kept the ticket for several weeks in my pocket; frequently pulled it out
to look at when at work. The names of some of the men on the repub-
lican ticket were M. L. Stearns, Harry Cruse, Frederick Hill, and J. T.
Walls was on for Congress.

Cross-examination:
“No one threatened me or hindered me from voting on that day by
force or violence. The ranks were so long that I could not get to the
ballot-box. .

his
JOSEPH 4+ WEST.

mark.

The next witness was VINCENT RICHARDSON, who, being dnly sworn,
deposed as follows, the same questions-in-chiet’ being asked him:

A, Vinceut Richardson is my name; Ilive in Gadsden County; was
in Quiney on November 8, 1870; was registered; did not vote. I was
very busy that day, and when 1 came to the polls to vote, the body was
so large that 1 could not get to the polls to vote; then I went back home
and went to work. 1In the evening I took another start for the polls,
and I heard of a fuss being there, so I did not come at all; so never
voted. If I had voted I would have voted the republican ticket, and
for Josiah Walls for Congress.

Cross-examination :

No one hurt me on that day. When at the polls I was not frightened,
but while home I heard of a fuss at the polls, so I concluded 1 would
not come out. - :

No one threatened me or hindered me trom voting by force or threats.

The crowd was the principal hinderance.
! VINCENT RICHARDSON.
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. The contestee here offers in evidence a certified copy, from the clerk
of the court of Gadsden County, of the registration, as found on the
books in his office, in relation to the witnesses examined in this case,
which is appended, marked Exhibit C,

STATE OF FLORIDA, County of Gadsden: .

I hereby certify that I have examined the registration books in this
county, on file in this office, and find that the names of the following
persons were daly and legally registered voters on the 8th day of No-
vember, A, D. 1872, to wit: George Fopkins, Jerry Richardson, Caro-
line Carraway, John Kilby, M. L. Stearns, Adam Leonard, Jerry An-
ders, Thomas Cork, Washington Carroll, Elias Zanders, Ebby Shaw,
James Cash, Thomas Coleman, Danicl Webster, Aaron Neal, Milton
Capers, Benjamin Davis, Wi, Smith, George Wilder, Prince Bacon,
Allen Richardson, John Smith, Isaac¢ Simmons, Hubbard Peoples, Galeh
Nero, David Atkins, Mack Madison, Humilton Cloud, Addison Gee,
Jerry Oampbell, Joseph West, Prince Albert, Chavles Carter, and
Vincent Richardson,

[SEALL.| S, N, STEWART,

Olerk Circuit Court, Gadsden County, Florida.

- The contestee here announces that he rests; whereupon the contest-
ant asked leave to introduce evidence in rebuttal, to which the contes-
tee objects, on the ground that he has had no legal notice that contest.
ant would introduce witnesses, Objection sustained and exception ~
taken by the contestant’s counsel,

Whercupon the case was closed as far as (Gadsden County is con-
cerned.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Gadsden County :

I, William E. Burleigh, notary public for the State at large, do hereby
certify that, the testimony herewith transmitted, from page one to page
forty-seven inclusive, was taken before me, and that the accompanying
papers, to wit: Notice of time of taking testimony, dated and served
March 9, 1872, with a list of witnesses attached,

Witness my hand and seal this 22d day of March, A, D, 1872,

[SEAL.] W. E. BURLEIGH,

In the matter of the contested election wherein Silas L. Niblack con-
tests the clection of Josiah T. Walls, returned member of the Forty-
second Congress of the United States.

To the Hon. S1LAS L. NIBLAOK :

SIR: You will take notice that I intend to take the testimony of the
following-named persons, to be used in my behalf in the above case.
Said testimony will be taken before William E. Burleigh, notary public at
large, at the court-house in Lake City, in the county ‘of Columbia, or, in
his absence, Lefore some other competent officer, on the 30th day of
March, A. D. 1872, at 10 a. ., to wit:: ' '

Adam Boggs, Wren Hampton, E. I, Armstrong, K. G. Johnson,
Frank Myers, Joseph Dix, Wm. Dix, W. S, Bush, John Edwards, Jesse
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S. Wood, Johu Vansant, jr.,, Nathan Shepard, George R. Cook, Colby
Freeny, Hon. S, T. Duy, Hugh Watrous, Abel B, Brown, _
J. T. WALL,

Contestee.
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA, March 9, 1872.

(Indorsed :) lxecuted the within writ by serving copy of same on 8,
L. Niblack this 9th day of March, A. D, 1872,
W. S. BUSH, Sheriff, deo.

Testimony in the matter of the contested election between the Hon,
“Josiah T, Walls, sitting member of the Forty-second Congress of the
Congress of the United States from the congressional district ot Flori-
da, and the Hon. Silas L. Niblack, contestant, taken before William
E. Burleigh, a notary public for the State at Lu'(re at Lake City, in
said congressional dmtrlct on the 30th day of M.trch A. D. 1872,

The first witness called was Hon. K. G. JOnNsoN, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows :

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. My name is E,
G. Johuson; I reside at Lake City, Iflorida.

Q. \th(, were you on the 8th day of November, A, D. 1870 3—A. I
was in Lake City.

Q. Are you acquainted with one J. L. Mitchell 2—A. Tam acquainted
with a Mr. Mitchell, and I think J. I. is part of his name,

Q. Do you know when he came to this county ?—A. I know what
time he came to Lake City, but know only from his own statement when
he came into the county. I was called to see him at Mr. H. J. Cason’s,
and the prescriptions I left were dated June 27 and 29, A. D, 1870; and
I know that he had not been in Lake City exceeding ten days previous
to my visit to him. He told me he had stopped some two or three days,
either in Newnanville, Mikesviile, or Ellisville, and from his conversa.
tion I inferred that he came from South Florida. [ frequently conversed
with him during his sickness and after he recovered. He had the delirium
tremens. He often came to the store and asked for some stimulants
prior to his sickness, All the conversation concerning his arrival in the

county occurred during my visits to him during his sickness.

Q. Do you know where Mr. Mitchell is now?—A. I do not; I have
not seen him for a yearg or more.

Q. Was he in a sober frame of mind when he spoke to you of his ar-
rival here ?—A. He was.  This was during his illness and convalescence.
After his recovery I had no conversation with him regarding his citizen-
ship.

Cross-examination :

Q. Were your visits to Mr. Mitchell during his sickness professional ¥
—A. They were; I visited him as a physician.

Q. Do you bdlevc any statement made by a person suffering from
delirium tremens reliable t—A. No, sir; when under this malady they
are perfectly crazy, and deranged. This refers only to a severe attack.

Q. In what county is Mikesville and Ellisville?—A. Columbia
County.

Redirect:
Q. Was Mr. Mitchell suffering 50 badly from thls attack that he did
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pot understand you when you conversed with him about his time of
coming to Columbus County ?—A. He was not. The first day I called
'he was pretty bad, but recovered very soon after the medicine operated,
and I think he was quite rational daring my third and fourth visits.

Q. Was he perfectly rational when he talked with you about his
coming to Columbia County ?—A. Yes, sir; I regarded him so.

Q. In what county is Newnanville 7—A. In Alachua County.

"~ Cross-examination :

Q. How long does it require a patient to recover after an attack of
the delirium tremens?—A. It depends a great deal upon the severity
of the attack.

Q. Was Mr. Mitchell confined to his room when you had this conver-
sation with him about his residence 7—A. The conversation occurred, I
think, either the third or fourth visit 3 he was then able to go from his
room to the parlor. :

Redirect: ,
Q. Are you sure this conversation occurred out of the room in which
Lie was confined 2—A. I eannot swear positively that it did, yet I think
it was in the parlor, for it was there that I conversed with him most

frequently. K. G. JOHNSON
Yo Ur, .

The next witness called was W. S, Busi, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows :

Question. State your name and residence.-——Answer. Warren S, Bush,
Columbia County, Florida.

Q. Where were you on the 8th of November, A. D. 1870, the day of
the general election 2—A., I was at Lake City.

Q. What position did you hold at that time?—A. I was sheriff of
Columbia County.

Q. Do you know of any disturbance occurring at Lake Oity, on the
night previous to the election 2—A. A riot broke out on the night be-
fore the election between the colored and white people. There were
quite a number of people i town at that time representing both sides
of politics ; these people mostly came here to vote the next day ; this
is what I understood they came for. The disturbance occurred, I think;
about eleven or twelve o’clock at night. I heard some firing guns, and
heard the bullets whistle by. It occurs to me that I saw a man
wounded in the armj he was a colored man, but I have forgotten his
name. There was considerable excitement occasioned ‘by the riot.
-Do’t know of my own knowledge of any parties leaving town at that
time. The disturbance was of a nature to frighten people off. A num-:
ber of colored people gathered at their church, and a good many whites
about town.

Q. Judging from what you saw of the crowd on the night previous to
the election, and what you saw of it on the day of election, should you
judge the colored people were more numerous on the night previous to
the election than they were on the day of election, or were they more
numerous on the day of election than they were the night previous $—
A. I hardly think there were as many present on the day of election as
there were the night before. , :

Q. How many colored voters should you judge failed to vote on the
day of election in Columbia County ¢ :
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(Objected to by the contestant. Objection overruled, and exception
taken.)

A. I think there were several who did not vote. J

Q. How do the mass of colored people in this county vote 1—A. They
vote the republican ticket.

Q. Do you know who were the republican candidates on the day of
election for the county ?—A. Yes, sir; they were E. G Johnson, J, P,
Mahoney, and J. H. Armstrong. E. G. Johnson was for State senator;
J. P. Mahoney and J. H. Armstrong were for members of the assembly,

Cross-examination :

Q. Do you know of any white people who did not vote that day t—A,
I understood that there were some who did not come to town that day;
do not know, of my own knowledge, whether this was the case.

Q. Have you a personal knowledge that there were any colored people
who did not attend the election that day ?—A. I don’t know that I
have, .

Q. Did you see any colored people in Lake City, or coming to Lake
City, the evening before election, armed with guns ?—A. I saw some in
town with guns before the riot, but don’t know whether I saw any com-
ing to Lake City armed.

Q. Did you sce any white people armed with guns before the riot, on
the evening before election 7—A, 1 don’t recollect that I did.

Q. Did you see any white persons with guns until after the riot com-
meneced 7—A. 1 don’t recollect seeing them with guns,

Q. Were you present when the riot commenced 1—A, 1 was not, but
I heard guns discharged and balls whistle some 75 or 100 yards off.

Q. State the position of the colored and white people at the time the
riot commenced, their relative numbers, and how it originated —A. I
was not present when the firing commenced 3 don’t know who fired the
first gun, as I was some 75 yards off. As soon as I heard the firing com-
mence I started for the place where the disturbance seemed to be. The
balls ¢ame pitching along, and I sereened myselt near a house. 1 then
went to where the shooting seemed to have commenced, near Mr.
Young’s store, but the erowd had then dispersed.  This was about five
minutes or more from the time of the first firing.

Q. Was there any disposition manifested on the part of the white
people, the evening before election, to hinder or prevent, by intimidation
or otherwise, the colored people from voting on the day of election I—
A. Nothing more than the riot; this might have scarved them away. Ac-
cording to my knowledge, both parties seemed to be exerting themselves
to their utmost to be ready for the election on the morrow ; neither
scemed to spare any pains to gain their object.

Q. From your knowledge do you think that a larger number of colored
people were kept fiom the polls than the white, in consequence of the
riot I—A. My knowledge does not extend very far, but 1 think that more
colored people were kept away than white people,

Q. Can you, then, from your own knowledge, give the names of the.
white and colored people who were kept from the polls on account of
the riot 1-—A. I cannot, because I did not take any particular notice of.
them.

Q. Do you know whether the whites and blacks who did not attend
the clection were registered voters of the county ¥—A. I do not know.

By consent a recess was taken until 2.30 p. m,
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" The parties met pursuant to the recess.

Redirect examination resumed :

Q. I'rom what you know of the location of the white and colored peo- .
ple at the time of the riot, did you understand that they were going
toward each other, or all coming from the same direction #—A., I could
not say, as I was not present at that time.

Q. Where these missiles that whistled by you bullets or shot 1—A,
The noise sounded like bullets. ) ‘

Q. Did you see any colored men with guns before the riot?—A. Yes, 1
saw & number with guns, among whom were Doctor Ceasar, and others
whom I cannot recollect. 1 suppose there were between 25 or 50 with
guns: 1 cannot be positive abount this, as it was in the night.

Q. When you got to the place where the riot occurred, what did you
see I— AL 1 saw some men there, mostly white,  Don’t recolleet seeing
any colored men there,  The white men had arms—pistols. 1 don’t re-
member seeing any gun there, The men were standing on the plank
walk, talking loudly about the riot which had just taken place. I don't
recollect seeing any colored man there then, 1 think I saw o few white
men armed with pistols Lefore the riot, After the riot I saw about 30
or forty white men with guns, This was some little time after the
riot. These white men with guns were mostly from the country ; some
few were from the town. I saw them about an hour after the riot.

Q. Did you see any members of o militia company in town, on the
evening previous to the election, of which one Pulaski Farnell,or Parnell,
was a member?

(This question is objected to on the ground that it is new matter; was
pot. bronght out in the examination-in-chief, or in the cross-examina-
tion. Objection overruled, and exception taken.)

A, 1 saw Mr. Parnell here at that time, and some 135 or 20 men who
probably belonged to his company. [ am certain that 15 of the men
Jelonging to his company were herve, I was tormerly captain of that
compiany and knew the men. One time when 1 saw these men they
were armed.  This was after the riot.  The boys seemed to be rally-
ing against the colored men, and the colored men against the white,
The prospect looked like war at that time. I saw a few of these men
armed with pistols before tire riot.  These men who belonged to Par-
nell’s company lived in the country, some 12 or 14 miles from Lake
City 3 they could not have had time to go home and get arms and then
retarn, trom the time of the riot until I saw them with arms,

Q. You speak of some of the men living within two or three miles
of town; how many of them did you see with guns after the riot 7—A.
That night, 1 think, I saw Dbetween thivty or forty white men armed
with guns,

Q. Were or wére not a majority of the armed men you saw from the
country {—A. I think they were. '

Q. In addition to the number of white men you saw with guns, how
mauy did you sce with pistols #—A. 1 don’t know that [ saw any,

Q. On the day of election did you see any armed men?—A, On the
day of election some men rode into town with guns, but they put them
away, and did not molest any one, and everything passed oft' quietly,
as far ax I know,

Q. Did you sce any men other than those who rode in armed 3—A.,
Early in the morning 1 saw some men armed with guns, but the town
authorities had them put away, which was done readily. '

Q. How large a number of men do you think had arms during the
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day !'—A. There were thirty or forty around town that rode in with
arms, but these were put away. 1 think the most of the men that I
saw with guns in the morning were white men. Some colored men had
arms at the lower end of the town, There were equally as many colored
men with arms as there were white. The colored men were at one end
of the town and the white men in the other.

Q. Were these white men nearer to the polls than the colored men 1—
A. They were in the morning; when the polls opened the colored men

came up and voted as they saw fit.  Don’t recollect seeing any colored
men in the upper part of the town in the morning with arms; there
might have been some.

Cross-examination :

Q. The men that you spoke of seeing on the sidewalk nnmmlmteh
after the riot, were they then armed with guns !—A. They did not have
any guns; 1 saw some with pistols,

Q. How long was it after you saw them on the sidewalk that they
had guns !—A. About an hour afterwards,

Q. Was there any attempt on the part of the white people on the
dny of election to prevent the colored people from voting, as far as
your knowledge extends, and was not the election a very quiet and
peaceable one ?—A, The election passed oft' quietly; there was no dis-
turbance that 1 know of. I donw’t know of any one trying to interfere

with the colored people voting,
WARNER S. BUSH.

The next witness called was ABEL B, BROWN, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question, State your name and residence.—~Answer. Abel B. Brown,,
Columbia County, Florida.

Q. Where did you reside on the 8th day of November, A, D. 1872 {—
A. Seven miles south of Lake City.

Q. Do you know anything of armed men coming to Lake City on the
day of election2—A. T saw some men with guns coming into town qn
the morning of election, probably eight or ten; some of them were white
men, and one man that I saw was ('oloro(l' did not see them with pis-
tols; saw guns. I came into town that mmnm" at about 8 o'clock.
There was no excitement here on election day th.\t I saw. I left town
about 3 o'clock. A man came to me in the country, and asked-me to
go into town with a gun. It was dark at the time, but I took him to
be Mr. Thomas Ruff. There was a young man named John Hunter at
my house telling me that there was some excitement in Lake City, and
said they wanted me to go into towmn with o gun,

Q. Do you know of any disturbance on the day of election at Lake
City t—A., There were two or three pistols that I heard fired about 76
vurdq from the poll; don’t know anything further ; did not see anybody
leave or go away on account of it; donw’t know who fired them,

Q. Were Mr. Ruff and Mr. John Hunter, you spoke of, white men —
A. They were.

Cross-examination :

Q. These eight or ten men you spoke of coming into town with guns,
did you see them after you got to Lake City ; and, if so, did they then
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have their arms !—A, T think I saw the most of them, probably all of
them, in town; but they did not have their guns with them,
Q. As far as your knowledge extends, was it not a quiet and peace-
able election on that day in town 7—A. It was.
A. I BROWN.,

The next witness called was G, R, Cooxr, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. (. R, Cook, M.1),
I live near Illisville, in Columbia County, IMlovida. 1 resided there
on the Sth of November, A, 1), 1870,

Q. On or about the day of election, were you present at a politieal
meefing which Mr, Niblack addressed, (the contestant in this case;) if
s0, did he-advise the people to come armed to the election ?

(Objected to by the contestant, 6 the ground that it has reference to
a prior date to the evening of the election and the day of election.  Ob-
jeetion overruled and exception taken.)

A. T was not present within ten days of the election,

(). Were you present at any meeting prior to the clection at which
Mr. Niblack advised people to come in armed ?

(Question objected to.  Objection sustained and exception taken,)

Q. Did yon see men, on the evening prior to the clection, come in
armed 2—A, I did not the evening before; but saw some armed men
come into town on the day of election. 1 saw several, probably four or
five. The masses of the people had come to town before I arvived.
Some men came to my house about daybreak, armed—one white man
and two colored men,  The men that passed me in the morning, armed,
were white men,

Q. Were you present at the election in Lake City t——A, 1 was,

Q. Do you know of any disturbance occurring on that day !—A., There
seemed to be some confusion, in which pistols were fired, about 12 o’clock.
Some ot the colored people had sticks, 1 was near where the colored

cpeople voted. A rush was made en masse toward the square Ly the
colored men ; they were rushing toward the direetion of the firing. They
were met by the ofticers at the square, and the officers suceeeded in
pacifying them by telling them that the afivay originated between two
white men. They then returned to their former places of voting, and
seemed pacified. T saw no other disturbances duving the day. | left
at about 3 o’clock.

Cross-examination :

Q. How far was this firing from where the colored people were
voting ?—A., About two hundred yards.

Q. Did you see any white person, on the day of election, molesting or
attempting to molest, hinder, or prevent, by threat or any other means
of intimidation, the colored people from voting as they saw fit?—A. I did.

Q. Did theysucceed in preventing the colored people from voting 1—
A. 1 dow’t know ; don’t think they did.

Redirect :

Q. Do you know of any other colored men besides those you have re-
ferred to who were prevented from voting by threats, or intimidation,
or violence!—A. 1 saw several ; met them as I came into town and

H. Mis, 34, pt. 2——T7
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asked them if they had voted. They said no, that it was too hot for
them in there.

Cross-examination ;

There were three or four of the men that I met who told me they had
not voted,

Q. Do you know whether they were registered voters of the county '—
A, I don’t know whether they were registered voters or no. 1 do know
that they had voted at previous elections, They might have went off
and then returned, but I know they had voted at elections previonsly
held here,

G. R, COOK,

The next witness ealled was JouN Epwarps, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as folows

Question, State your name and residence.—Answer, Jolhm Edwards,
I live in Lake City, Columbia County; was in Lake City on the day of
election held November 8, A, D. 1870,

Q. Do you know whether or not eolored people came into town on the
night before the election 1—A. A great many came in.  They came in
to attend the election,  They did not all remain and vote the next day.,

Q. Was there a riot here the night before the eleetion 7——A. There
was. _

Q. How many colored men did you see go away without voting 2—A.
I counted 40 who left in the morning before the polls were opened,  They
went oft hecause they were afraid to come up to the polls and vote.

Q. During the day of election did you see any disturbance ?—N\, Not
among the colored people. There was some shooting going on, which
disturbed matters a little. A little row took place in the morning, Dr.
K. (z. Johnson, State senator, was confronted by Pulaski IFarnell and
Edgar Collins, and cursed by them, and a good many of the colored
people were seared at this,  The colored people then turned and went
off, saying they would not be bothered with the election.  Dr. Johnson
then went into his house and shut himself up in his house until late in
the evening, before he dared come out, At the time of the trouble with
Dr. Johnson, some eight or ten went off.

Q. Did you sce any white men armed on the day of election or the
evening before the election 2—A. 1 saw some on horseback, with guns,
the evening before election.

Cross-examination

Q. Yaou say that some forty eolored men went away in the morning be-
fore the polls were opened.  Will you please give their names?—A.
There was a great deal of excitement at the time, and I can’t give the
names of them. Some of them lived on Mr. Myers's place, and others
lived far oft, and them 1 did not know.

Q. Were you acquainted with any of them >—A. I knew one, whose
name was Joe Aleck, who formerly belonged to Albert Myot; the rest 1
did not know. .

Q. How do you know that they did not vote 2—A. I saw them making
their way out of town, I left the church and came up the street. The
colored people who left did not go through town ; they went around the
back streets. I afterward saw them on the edge of the town. There
were some four or five living on Myot’s plantation, among the crowd
that did not vote. Don’t know whether they were registered voters.
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Q. You said that,at the time of the trouble with Dr. Johnson, some
eight or ten went off'; had these people voted !—A. I don’t know, 1
saw them go off, and heard them say they would not be bothered with

the election.
JOIIN EDWARDS.

The next witness called was Huai Warson, who, being daly sworn
deposed as follows :

Question. State your name andresidence.—Answer, Hugh Watson, |
live in Lake City, in Columbia County, Florida.  Was in Lake City on
November 8, 1870, the day of election.

Q. State what you know of any disturbance on the night before the
election and on the day of election.—A. Ou the evening before election,
between sundown and dark, I came into town.  When about a mile from
town, there were six white men and a pareel of us colored men—about
ten of us; these white men came along by us and cussed us as damn
radicals, and had their pistols out, waving their pistols over their heads,
and cussing us as damn radicals, o all of this we said nothing, but
came into town.  These men passed by us, and we did not see them any
more until we came into town and had a meeting at the school-house.
Then, it I mistake not, all of the men we met were present when we
were holding the meeting, and just before the meeting broke up, they left
and went up town ; and after they left, we broke up, and then met them
on the sidewalk.  They had their pistols in their hands, At this time,
wecolored people were walking two deep, on the plank-walk., Twasonein
thefront rank when wemetthese menon the sidewalk, and they were stand-
ing twodeep.  When they met up with us they commenced cussing, wav-
ing their pistols over their heads, and one pushed me oft of the sidewalk,
and pushed me alongside ot the head with his pistol.  Then we stepped
aside and gave them the plank-walk, and came up the street. After
we had passed them they followed us up. After we had gone a right
smart piece we stopped and turned up another street.  This party still
followed us,  We again stopped, and they then retreated and went back
to the sidewalk.  We then turned back, passed by them, and went back
toward the school-house.  After we had passed them a short distance,
we were fired into from behind, They fired at us three times., This
was the first commencement of the firing,  After they fired at us some
of our party fired into them. That was the last of it that night.
Nathan Shepard, who was stunding by me, was shot in the hand;
another colored man was shot, but L don’t know his name. I also saw
some disturbance on the next day. Just before the polls opened we
came down town, and as we colored people were marching to the polls
we met Dr, Johnson, the State senator, on the way. Some white gen-
tlemen commenced cursing and dogging him, That started a disturb-
ance then, and some of the colored men that came up with me on the
evening before the election went off home and did not vote. They
came into town with me, and when the white people started the fuss, on
the morning of the election, with Dr. Johnson, they told me that they
were going home; that they could not stand any such fuss as that.
They then went home and did not vote. Those that left were Arthur
Lewis, or Ginyard, Simon Watson, and Joe Aleck. These men I know
did not vote. i '
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Cross-examination :

Q. Did you see any colored men come into town the evening betore
election, or on the day of election, armed with guns !—A. I did not,

Q. Were any of the colored people that marched through the town
on the night before the election armed with guns 7-—-A. I was in the
front rank and did not know what they shot with behind me, whether
pistols or gups. .

Q. Do you know whether it was the white or blacks that shot fivst 7—
A, Yes, siry I doj it was the white people who shot first.

Q. How do you know this 2—A, Because I saw them,

Q. How long was the colored people’s procession; how many men
were in the line 7—A. I reckon that there were about fifty or sixty in the
line of march or scattered about,

Q. "Where were you when the shooting took place ?—A. After wehad
marched awhile 1 fell ont of the line and got on the side of the pro
cession, and the firing was toward my side,

Q. Did they fire into the rear or side of the procession 7——A, The
tiring was from behind, for we were going from them.

Q. Who were these six white men who passed you on the road, waved
their pistols and cursed you for damned radieals #—A. One was James
Barr; the others T don’t know.

Q. How do you know the party you met on the sidewalk were the
same men you met when coming into town—A, I am not certain they
were the same men, but it I mistake not they were,

Q. Do you know whether Arthur Lewis, or Ginyard, Simon Watson,
and Joa Aleck were registered voters?—A. Yes, sir; they registered
when 1 did.

his
HEGH 4+ WATSON,

mark,

The contestee here ofters in evidenee the tollowing:

Certificate of the result of clection, to be signed by inspectors and ¢levk of

clection.—NSee section 23 of the general clection laie,
STATE 01 FLORIDA, Columbia County :

We, the undersigned, inspectors and clerk of an eleetion held at city
hall, Lake City, in the county of Columbia and State aforesaid, on the
8th day of November, A, D, 1870, under and by virtue of an act en-
titled “An act to provide for the registration of electors and the holding

“of elections,” approved August 6, 1868, and an act amendatory thereto,
approved February 19, 1870, do hereby certify that the result of the
said election was as follows, viz:

FFor Representative in Congress, Silas 1. Niblack received 334 votes
and Josiah T, Walls received 13 votes.

For lieutenant governor, William 1. Bloxham received 324 votes and
Samuel T. Day received 24 votes,

Tor State senator, Charles H. Ross received 331 votes and Elisha G.
Johnson received 13 votes,

For member of the assembly, William H. Duke received 332 votes,
Andrew J. Flowers received 327 votes, J. I>. Mahoney received 13 votes,
and J. H. Armstrong received 14 votes,

For constable, Donald Tompkins received 338 votes, C. P. Farnell
received 315 votes, J.J. C. Wells received 340 votes, W. II. Paschall
received 324 votes, W. J. Raunlerson received 334 votes, J. C. Miller re-
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ceived 16 votes, A, De Mot received 12 votes, P, Jones received 13 votes,
H. P. Wilson received 13 votes, and Robert Smith received 13 votes.
Witness our hands, at Lake City in the county aforesaid, this 8th day

of November, A, D), 1870,
A. J. HUCHINGSON,
JAMES M. KEEN,
ALFRED HOLLIN,
Inspectors of Election.
J. L. MITCHELT,,
Clerk of Election.

N, B.—All of the blanks in the above certificate must be filled up in
words written at full length.

The certificates must be signed in duplicate.  One of the certificates
must be delivered by one of the number signing it, without delay,
securely sealed, to the clerk of the circuit court, and the other to the
connty judge of the county.

The poll-list and oaths of the inspectors and clerk must be transmitted,
with the certificate, to the elerk ot the cirenit court, to he filed in his
oftice.

STATE 01 FLORIDA, Columbia County :

I, Keightley 8. Waldroun, clerk of the cireuit court in and tor Colum-
bia County, State of Florida, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a
correct copy of the original on file in my office.  Witness my hand and
the seal of the civeuit court this the 30th day of Mareh, A. D, 1872,

[SEAL. K. 8. WALDRON,

Clerk,
Per S. FRENCH,
Deputy Clerk.

Dr. I, G. JounsoN was then reealled to the stand and testified as
tollows :

Question. Was the Mr, Mitchell, who you testified concerning this
worning, the same Mitchell who was clerk of the City ITall precinet, held
at Lake City, on November 8, A. 1. 1870 +—Answer. Not being at the
City Iall precinet on that day, I cannot say it was the same man.

Q. Were you assaulted in the morning sufliciently to eause you to
leave the polls and go home?—A. I was passing through the public
square early in the morning and surrounded by a number of men in a
threatening manner; was driven into my house, where I remained until
late in the evening, when 1 went out and voted just before the polls
closed, when the crowd had dispemsed.

Q. Do you know anything about the number of colored men who left
town on account of the riot the e¢vening before election and on account
of disturbances on the day of election, and who failed to vote?—A. I
know some men who told me they left without voting, on account of the
disturbance. 1 don’t remember all their names, but among them were
Joseph Dix and his son William, J. H. Armstrong, and a number of
others, but I don’t remember their names.

Explanation : Joseph Dix and his son William are white mmen.
. ' , E. G. JORNSON.
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The next witness called was Governor S, T. DAY, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows:

Question. State your name, residence, and ofticial position.—Answer,
My name is Samuel T. Day; I reside in Lake City, Columbia County,
Florida, and am lieutenant and acting governor of the State of IMlorida,

Q. Did you hear the testimony given by Dr, K. G. Johnson regarding
a Mr. Mitchell t—A. I heard a part of' it.

Q. Do you know the Mitchell to whom he referred {—A. I know aMr,
Mitchell, but am not certain whether it is J. L. or J. 8. Mitchell, He
told me he was clerk of the precinet on the day of election, at the city
hall.  Ie told me in conversation about how long he had resided here
prior to the election, Ile told me he had not been here six months prior
to the election, The Mitchell I refer to is the same one who had the
delirium tremens and was attended by Dr. Johnson. Within a few days
after I first saw him he was walking around town drinking and making
the acquaintance of every one.  John Vansant, jr., who was clerkingin
a store at Ellisville, said to me that he requested me to colleet a small
bill for him from Mitchell, which was due on an article purchased by
Mitchell from him at his store, which I made a note of in a small book
that I carried with me. A few days before the election, upon examina-
tion of the registration-books, I discovered that he had registered. Being
satisfied that he had not resided in the county six months, 1 saw Mr,
Maloney and told him to put him on the list for challenge. Mu. Mitchell
came to me a few days after and admitted that he had not been in the
county six months, but begged me to say nothing about it, as he said he
would vote the republican ticket.,

The parties adjourned until Monday morning. at 9.30 o’clock, April
1, A. D, 1872,

MONDAY MORNING, 9.30 o'cloek.

The parties met pursuant to adjournment,

Examination of Governor 8, T. DAY resumed.

Question. Was Mr. Mitchell echallenged on the day of election ; if not,
why 7—Answer, 1 do not suppose he was, as the republican candidates
had no regular challengers appointed for that day. The republican can-
didates had quite a large list to be challenged, and the candidates were
to meeton the morning of election, to appoint a challenger for each voting-
place, who were to be furnished with o list of those that were not con-
sidered entitled to vote, On that list was the name of J. L. Mitchell,
who subsequently acted as elerk at the City Iall precinet. Owing to
the condition of atfairs on the night prior to the election, I, as candidate
for lieutenant governor, not considering it pradent for any of the repub-
lican candidates to attend the election on the next day, left on the carly
morning train for Jacksonville, and subsequently learned, from the other
republican candidates, that there was no meetir  to appoint challengers,
and that the republican party had.no challengers at the election.

(The contestant’s counsel objects to this statement, on account of its
being hearsay. Overruled by the court, on the ground that it is evi-
dence directly bearing on the subject, and was from the candidate’s own
mouth., Exception taken to the ruling.)

Q. What was the occasion for your leaving and what was the state
of the community about the time you left %—A. A riot was imminent.
The republicans were at one end of the town, near the school-house, and
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the democrats were in town, in possession of the voting-places, a great
many of them armed, and they had sent runners into the country for
others to come in armed, This I learned from observation and reliable
information. A good deal of whisky was being drank, and threats being
made by the white men. P’ersonal friends of both political parties visited
me during the night and urged me to leave, stating that they did not
believe it would be safe for me or any prominent republican candidate
to attend the election next day, believing that there would certainly be
some fighting and that I would be one of the first that would suffer from
it. 1 did not see any parties shooting, but saw the flashes of the guns
at the time of the riot,

Q. Were the colored men advised by the republican leaders to come
in armed ’—A, They were not advised by me. It was reported by dem-
ocrats that certain republican leaders advised them to do so, but when
[ asked them if such was the case they informed me it was not. I did
not see more than four republicans with guns, I was on the streets and
in a good place toobserve things, These four said theirlobject in coming
in with guns was to proteet themselves in passing through Kllisville and
points along the road.

‘ross-examination

(). You stated that you were not here on the day of election 2— A, 1
did.

(. What time did you leave ?—A. Ileft on the morning train, be-
tween the hours of 2 and half past 4 o’clock. There was no riot
at that time; parties were on the lookout, and everything seemed to
indicate a riot. I heard that Mr. J. Bayw’s store was broken open by
the white men and the guns taken out and ammunition distributed. I
was down town on the evening before election until about 9 o'clock ;
was not on the main street principally, There were a large number of
republicans in town on that night. 1 don’t remember seeing more thaa
twenty-five colored men together walking along the sidewalk. Irom
what I saw or heard I do not think there were as many republicans in
town as there were democrats,

Q. From observation and circumstances within your knowledge, do
younot think there were more than four armed republicans in town that
night ?—A. From what I learned I have reason to believe there were
about twenty-five or forty in town armed. I'he¢ voting-places were in
the vicinity of the public square. When I say the democrats had pos-
session of the town around the voting-places, 1 mean that republi-
cans could not have gone there withouta fight.  IFrom the best evidenee
I could obtain, the majority ot the republicans camped near the school-
house before the riot, because it was the part of the city where the
colored people lived. I heard from a democrat that the republicans
were advised by o candidate to come in armed, I went to the candidate
and he told me he had not advised them to do so; this was B, G. John-
son, the candidate for senator ; dow’t recollect the democerat’s name that
gave me this information.  Several told me the same thing, This was
the eveuing before the election. Personally I received a number of
anonymous communications, threatening me with violence, but I do
not place any reliance usually on communications from such sources.
The expressions of the democracy to me were that the election should
be peaceable and quiet. I was sitting on my piazza when I first saw
the flashes of the guns. This was not between me and the public square,
The public square is southwest of my house and the shooting was west
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of my house. [ do not know, of my own knowledge, which political
party commenced the riot.

Redirect :

Q. Did you attach any importance to the anonymous communications
you spoke of receiving 2—A. I do not usually attach any importance to
such things, but to some of them received at that time, I did think
should be heeded. I did not see any democrats armed with guns, but
believe a large number had side-arms.

Jross-examination :
On public occasions and public gatherings it is customary for the
white people in this country to carry side-arms.
SAML. T. DAY,

The next witness called was CALEB IFREENEY, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Aunswer. Caleb Freeney,
I live in Columbia County.

Q. Where were you on the 8th of November, A, D. 1870 7—A. I was
in Lake City. I came to town on the evening before election, and
stopped within a half mile of town, and came into town early on the
morning of election. There were nine of us in a crowd, but only four
staid at the same place I did, viz, Lewis McNish, Arch Niblack, Benjamin
McNish, and myself. Don’t know where the others went, but think
they went to the school-house; two of my sons were with them and
Fred. Martin, I did not get a chance to vote. I was a registered voter,
and had voted before on other occasions. I know that Bush McNish,
my son, and several others went off and did not vote, and several others
in the settlement where I lived did not vote ; they went away. Besides
those mentioned, I judge some five or six others left without voting. 1
think their reason for leaving was that they were frightened ; they said
they were afraid to stay, for fear of violence.

Cross-examination :

Don’t know of my own knowledge that the five or six men I referred
to as leaving without voting did not vote. I learned that they did not
vote from themselves; was not with them all day, I went up to the
polls on the morning of election to vote. I did not ask the managers
to let me vote; did not know that I had to do so. There was no noise
around the polls that I heard at that time, nor did I see a gun at that
time or during the day; no one offered to threaten or molest me on
that day. 1 saw several colored men with guns the evening before
election, outside ot the town, but don’t know whether they carried the
guns into town.

Redirect :

I saw white men with pistols ;. they came from the direction of Ellis-
ville. They stopped near where I was, and had a speech from one of
their number. Four of them had pistols.

Cross-examination: - )

Mr. Bush and Mr. Tolbert were in the crowd that stopped near where
I was,and made speeches, I think Mr. Bush is the sheriff of the county.
He toid us to vote the republican ticket.
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Redirect : .

Mr. Tolbert told us in his speech to all come to town and vote, and be
quiet and peaceable while voting and during the day of election, The
Ellisville crowd were present when Mr, Bush and Mr. Tolbert addressed
the people. DMr. Tolbert’s remarks were addressed particularly to the
Ellisville crowd of white men.

. his
CALEB 4+ FREENEY,
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The next witness called was WrEN HaMPTON, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. Wren Hampton.
I'live on Mr. Tom Collins’s’ place, about twenty-three miles from town.

Q. Did you start or attempt to come to Lake City on the day of
election, November 8, A, D. 1870?—A. 1 did. As I was coming
toward Lake City I met Mr. Harmon Lane on the road, and asked him
for a chew of tobacco. He asked me if I knew him. I told him that I
did. 'While I was standing there talking to him, Mr. Corley, Mr, Rowe,
and My, Turner came up. Mr. Corley asked me where [ was going with
my gun. I told him I was going to Lake City, to the election. e told
me to put that gun down. I did not do so, and he repeated his order
for me to put that gun down on the ground. Then I jumped off my
mule to run, and as I jumped off he (Mr. Corley) fired at me. After he
fired 1 ran about fifteen steps, when he fired again and broke my arm. 1
left my mule and started home. I did not see the other men with arms;
don’t think they had any. I was a registered voter then in the county.
If T had not been shot 1 should have kept on, and if I had had a chance
to vote I would have voted the republican ticket. I was down sick
after I was shot, and don’t know whether Mr. Corley was arrested. I
had nothing more to do with'it.

Cross-examination :
I have lived in Bradford County, but never voted there, because, when
I attempted to vote, Mr. Stringfellow took my vote and asked me if 1
did the thing charged with—stealing cotton. I was indicted for it and
. was convicted. I was living in Bradford County at the time I came to
Lake City to vote. Our party were advised by Mr. Walls, at a meeting
in Lake City, to come to Lake City and vote.

Redirect : .
No one told me personally to come to Lake City to vote. Mr, Walls
gave this advice in a speech to the voters; but the same thing was ad-
vised in & speech by others at Providence, in Bradford County. I did
not hear Mr. Walls or any one else advise the residents of Bradford
County to vote in Columbia County, I registered in Bradford County
the same fall as the election. I was never sent to jail, and never paid
& fine, I was told that I was indicted. I saw the governor about my
case, and he told me to get Mr. King, the State attorney, to write to
him (Governor Reed) about my case. I then went to Jacksonville, and
when I came back Mr. King said that the governor said I was as free
aman as ever. I saw the governor at a hotel, and took him out and
told him that they only tried one side of my case. I talked with Gov-
ernor Reed about twe hours about it. Mr. King told me a-pardon for -
me was in his office. ' '
(The contestant objects to the testimony of this witness, on the ground
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that he is disqualified from giving in testimony, by reason of his con-
viction of the crime of larceny. Objection overruled and exception
taken,)
his
WREN 4 ITAMPTON.

mark.

The next witness was NATIIAN bll]«,l'Am) who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. What is your name and where do you reside 7—Answer,
Nathan Shepard. I live about twenty-four miles from Lake City, in Co.
lumbia County., I came to Lake City the night before election, held
November 8, A, 1), 1870; about twenty-five or thirty came with me,
The mght b(,t()rc the election we started down town, and met the oppo-
site party about Mr. Myers’s store. By the opposite party, I mean the
democratic party. When they met us they flourished their pistols, and
said, ¢ Get oft of this walk, you damn sons of bitches; get down in the
sand.,” At that time we passed them, I then turned and went back
with my brother John and Joe Tolbert, & white man. The democrats
and republicans met up by the livery-stable, and stopped and cursed
cach other. The colored people then started back for the school-house.
When we got to Mr. Adolphus Ross’s silver-shop, I heard the democrat
party say, it Look out, God Almighty God damn your soul, for we am
coming? At that time I stopped. 1 was not in the bunch ot men, and
when I looked around I saw the flash from their pistols. Me and my
brother John went on to the school-house, and when I got there I found
out I was.shot. And on the day of elcctlon I passed through the street,
and the democrat party asked me who I was going to vote for. 1 tol(l
them Walls, Day, Armstrong, Johnson, and Mahoney. They then told
me if [didn’t get out of this public square they would give me another
pistol-ball. I voted, but know of several who did not vote. There were
twenty-tive who tol(l me that they did not vote. This I know only from
them saying so. 1 saw Reuben I'reeney and Wash try to vote, bat
they failed. The domoomtlc party fired first that night. I saw the flash
of the pistols from their bunch ot men. At the time of the shooting
there were abont sixteen or seventeen colored men marching .llong
They did not have any guns that I saw. L was at the rear part, and
Mr, J()soph Tolbert walkked up to where L and my brother stood, and I
asked Mre,Tolbert what this fuss was for.  He said he did not know.

C(‘ross-examination:

I was standing oft’ from the erowd. The republicans and democrats
were mixed up together. When the republicans started for the school-
house the democrats hroke open a store.

Redirect :

When the firing commenced the republicans had started for the school-

house, and were m)t mixed up with the democerats,

hi
NATHAN +ﬂ SHEPARD.

mark.

The next witness was Joseri Dicks, who, being duly sworn, deposed
as follows:

Quostum. State your name and residence.—Answer, Joseph Dicks; I
live in Columbia County ; I am a registered voter; was in Lake (nty
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on November 8, A. 1. 1870; did not vote because of the excitement; 1
did not like the looks of things, and for that reason did not vote. I,
with my two sons, took a by-road and went home; we did not wish to
be disturbed; 1 \'as attacked once before, and feared a second attack.
The time I was first attacked was several months prior to the election
I was attacked on account of my politics. I went off on election day
about 11 o’clock. There was no shooting during the day that I know of.
[ did not consider it safe to remain llere, and for that reason went home.
I was one of the county commissioners at that time. The county com-
missioners did not establish any ph('e for voting but Lake City, in Co-
lumbia County. I am a republican in polities.

The contestee here offers in evidence the following:
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS O1' COLUMBIA COUNTY.

Court met pursuant to recess, October 13, 1870.

Ordered, that all orders heretoiore pmsed establishing precinets at
Ellisville, B(,nton, and Mikesville, and elsewhere in Columbia County,
be, and they are hereby, rescinded.

It is hereby ordered, that the precincts be established at three (3)
different places in Lake City.

Ordered, that the polls be opened in three places in Lake City, to
wit: at tll(_, probate oftice, at the City Hall, at the assessor’s office.

The following-named electors to be, and they are hereby, appointed
inspectors:

At the probate office—M. M. Walker, George G. Kecen, Andrew
Shooler.

At the assessor’s oftfice—Charles Askew, William Dicks, Cato Car-
ter.

At the City Hall-—James M. Keen, A. J. Huchingson, Alfred IHHollins.

It is hereby ordered, that the elerk post up notices, precinets and in-
spectors, in accordance to law,

Jourt adjourned until the 19th day of October, A. D. 1870.

FRANIC MYERS,
LPresident of the Board.
JOSEPIH DICKS,
Commissioner.
PRIMUS HARRISON,
Commissioner.
LDMUND WILLIAMS,
. Commissioner,
' JAMES M., KEEN,
Commissioner.

STATE OF I'LORIDA, Columbia County:

I do hereby certify that the foregoing is o correct copy of the original
on file in my office in Lake City, being extracted from the proceedings
of the board of county commissioners of Columbia County, on the 13th
day of October, and embracing all the action of that session of the board,
relgting to precinets or inspectors of elections.

itness my hand and seal of office this 30th day of March, A. D, 1872,

[SEAL. | K. 8, WALDRO\T

) Clerk Circuit Court, Columbia County.
Per 8. FRENCH,
Deputy Clerk.
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I met armed men as I came into town ; they had guns.
Cross-examination :

No one tried to interfere or prevent me from voting, nor do 1 know of
any one trying or prcvuntmg others from voting. I was one of the board
of county commissioners that dppomted the inspectors of the election,

It is admitted that a majority of the inspectors, appointed l)v the
county commissioners for the election, were republicans.

A petition was sent the commissioners requesting more precinets for
voting, and it suggested that better order would e preserved thereby,

ExrLANATION.—The reason the precinets were established here was,
that troops were expected, and it was thought that by having them here
it would be more conducive to peace.

JOSEPI DICKS,

mark.

The next witness was WILLIAM Dic¢ks, who, being duly sworn, de-
posed as follows:

Question, State your name and residence.—Answer., William Dicks,
At the time of clection, November 8, A, D), 1870, I lived in Columbia

County. Was a reglstucd voter then in Columbia County. Did not
vote on account of the disturbance here. I considered it unsafe to
remain here, and went home with my father, Joseph Dicks, (the last
witness.) I am republican in polities.

Cross-examination:
No one tried to prevent me from voting that day, nordid T see any

one else threatened or prevented from voting., [ left for home between
11 and 12 a. m.

his
WILLIAM -{l- DICKS.

mark.

Sherift W. S. Busit recalled :

Question. Did you open the polls by announcement in proclamation
in Lake City 7— Answor. Idid. The City Hall precinct was the first one
opened.

Q. Who wag clerk of that precinct?—A. J. L. Mitchell, e is the
only man of that name that I knew in the county. When the precinets
were opened the inspectors were.not all present, and it bothered me a
little to get new ones in their places. There were two or more absent
at one precinet,

Cross-examination:

Don’t recollect who filled the places of the absent inspectors, whether
‘the majority were republicans or not. ‘

W. S. BUSH.

Adjourned sine die, as far as taking testimony in Lake City is con-
cerned. ’
W. k. BURLEIGII,
State Notary Public.
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STATE OF FLORIDA, County of Columbia :

I, William 1. Burleigh, notary public at large, do hereby certify that
the testimony herewith transmitted was taken by me, and that the
accompanying documents were duly before me while engaged in taking
said testimony at Lake City, Florida.

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and seal this first day
of April, A, D). 1872,

[SKAL.| WILLIAM E. BURLEIGH,

Ntate Notary Public for the State of” IFlorida,

In the matter of the contested election, wherein Silas I, Niblack con-
tests the election of Josial I Walls, retuwrned member of the Forty-
second Congress of the United States,

To the Hon, SILAS @i NIBLACK:

Sir: You will take notice that 1 intend to take testimony of the fol-
lowing-named persons, to be used in my behalf in the above case.  Said
testimony will be taken before William IS, Barleigh, notary publie for
the State at large, at the conrt-house in Jacksonville, county of Duval,
or, in his absence, before some other competent officer, on the 4th day
of April; A. D, 1872, at 10 o’clock a. m., to wit: Pulaski Ifarnell, or Par-
nell, W. I. Gleason.

JoTWALLS,

S, L. NIBLACK '
S, - Forty-second Congress.
J. T Warns, -

Testimony in the matter of the contested clection between the Hon.
Josiah I, Walls, sitting member of the FForty-second Congress of the
Congress of the United States, from the congressional district of Flori-
da, and the Hon. Silas L. Niblack, contestant, taken before William 1.
Burleigh, & notary public for the State at large, at Jacksonville, in
said Congressional district, on the 4th day of April, A, 1), 1872,

The contestant appeared by counsel, Messrs, Wheaton & Anno, who
filed the following protest against the taking of testimony at this place:

In the matter of the coutested election between Silas L. Niblack, con-
' testant, and J. T. Walls, respondent.

And now on this day comes Silas 1. Niblack, by his attorneys at law,
Wheaton & Anno, and protests against the taking of testimony by
Josiah T\ Walls, the said contestant, under the notice served on him,
the said Silas L. Niblack, contestant as aforesaid, by him, the said Josiah
T. Walls, respondent as aforesaid, upon the following ground, to wit:

That subsequent to notice by contestant to respondent that he, con-
testant, would take testimony on the Lst day of April, 1872, in La Fay-
ette County, Florida, he, respondent, notified contestant that on the
4th day of April,1872, he, respondent, would take testimony in Duval
County, Florida, not allowing five days to elapsein taking testimony-at
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one place before the taking testimony at another place, contrary to the
act of Congress of the United States in such case made and provided,
Dated at Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida, April 4, 1872,
S. L. NIBLACK, Contestant,
By WHEATON & ANNO,
. Attorneys for Contestunt,

The parties then adjonrned antil to-morrow morning at 10 o’clock.

THURSDAY MoORNING, 10 o’clock.

The contestee’s counsel, A, A. Knight, present. The contestant’s
counsel, Messrs. Wheaton & Anno, tailed to appear.

The first witness called was W, A. McLEAN, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows:

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer, W. A, McLean,
I reside at Jacksonville, in Duval County, State of Florida.

Q. What official position do you hold in said county ?—A. I am judge
of the county court.

Q. Were you & member of the board of county canvassers who can.
vassed the result of the election held on the Sth of November, A. D.
1870 1—A. I was,

Q. On what day was that canvass held ’—.\. On the 14th day of No-
vember, A. D. 1870,

Q. How many precincts were established in said county, and what
were their names !—A., Five, 1 think, viz: Jacksonville, Mandarino,
Baldwin, Mayport, and Yellow Bluff,

Q. What precinets were admitted by the board in their canvass.
ing?—A. Jacksonville and Mandarin.

Q. Which were rejected’—A. Baldwin, Mayport, and Yellow Blufl,
The returns from these three precinets were not admitted by the board,
and not included in the_ certificate of results.

Q. Why were they rejected ?'—A. The return from Baldwin was, in
the opinion of the board, irregular and illegal. There was no return from
that precinet sent to the county judge. No return from Mayport was
sent to the county judge; none at least was received by him, 1 saw the
return that the clerk of the court received from Baldwin, and the num-
ber of votes received for each candidate was in figures, and not written
in full; and as regards the number of votes cast for Mr. Walls, it looked
as though 14 had been set down and afterward altered to 4; that is,
the figures 14 were erased, and 4 substituted. As to the Yellow Bluft
precinct I feel safe in saying that the return was not received by me,
and also that I never saw the return. But in order that my testimony
may be fully understood, it is necessary that I should give my reasouns
for believing and saying that I did not receive the return from thatpre-
cinet, and the reasons are as follows: On the 11th day of November,
1870, a man, giving his name as George W. Calder, handed me a sealed
.envelope, remarking as he did so that he was requested to deliver the
same to me. I opened said envelope and found therein what purported
to be a return of the ¢lection at the Yellow Bluff precinet; but the man
Calder, upon seeing said paper, declared in the most positive terms that
it was not the return frowm that precinct, aud further stated to me that
he (Calder) was one of the inspectors at Yellow Bluff; that the
whole number of votes polled at that precinct was one hundred and six-
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ty-four, and not three hundred and eighty-three, as shown by the paper
handed me by him. He further stated that the said envelope was hand-
ed to him by a stranger, with the request that it be delivered to the
county judge. I then asked Mr, Calder if he,as inspector of clection
at Yellow Bluff precinet, considered the paper handed me by him as be-
ing the return from that precinwct; he answered emphatically no, and
further stated that he did not present that to me as the return, as he
very well knew that it was not. I therefore very naturally concluded
that if an election was held at that precinet, the return (if any was pre-
pared) had been suppressed.  No papers purporting to be a return from
that precinet (other than the one above referred to) was ever received
by me; nor did I ever see any other, except a duplicate ot the same pa-
per, in the possession of the clerk of the court of Duval County, Florida,
for which reasons the result of the election at that precinct was not
included in the certificate of' the connty canvassers.
W. A, McLEAN.

The next witness called was A, R. MEEK, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows :

Question, State your name and residence.—Answer, A, I3, Meck; T
reside at Jacksonville, Duval County, IFlorida. :

Q. What ofticial position did you occupy on the first Tuesday after
the fourth Monday in November, A. D, 18707—A. 1 was attorney gen-
eral of the State of Florida, and ex officio membger of the board of State
CANVassers,

Q. State what returns were rejected 2—A. The returns from three
counties, Suwannee, Taylor, and Calhoun, were placed at the foot of the
list for future consideration, and I resigned as attorney general before
these returns were again reached.  They were placed at the foot of the
list beeanse they did not conform to the law,

Q. Why was not the canvass completed before your resignation 1—
A. 1t was stopped by an injunction issued by Judge P. W, White, of
the second judicial cireuit,

Q. On what day did you resign 2—A. 1 think it took cliect on the 5th
day of December, A. D. 1870,

A. R, MEEK.

The next witness called was 1°, A, DockrAy, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows :

Question, State your name and residence.—Answer. I'. A. Dockray;
I reside at Jacksonville, Florida.

Q. Where were you on the 8th day of November, A. D. 1870 ?—A. 1
was at the Yellow Bluaft precinet, in Duval County, and administered
the oath to the inspectors and clerk of the

Q. State if you heard the inspectors declare the result of the elec-
tion for member of Congress.—A. I did; and the ofticial return
showed 164 votes.

Q. Who were the inspectors at that precinet 7—A. Isidore Van Bal-
sam, George W. Calder, and R. Toombs. The clerk’s name I don’t

recollect.
F. A. DOCKRAY.
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The contestee here offered the following certified copy of indictment
and sentence of one Isidore Van Balsam, who was one of the inspectors
at the Yellow Bluft precinet.:

In the distriet court, of the United States for the northern distriet of
Florida; in the fifth circuit.

At astated term of the distriet comrt—of the United States for the
northern district of Florida, in the fifth cireuit, begunand held at the
city of Jacksonville, within and for the district aforesaid, on the fitth
day of Decembery Ao DL one thousand eight hundred and seventy, and
continued by adjournment. to and ineluding the tenth day of December,
in the year A. D, one thousand eight hundred and seventy.

NorrueRN Disrrier or FLORIDA, s

The grand jurors ot the United States of Amerviea, impaneled and
sworn within and for the district aforesaid, on their oaths preseint
that W, R. Toomb, lsadore Van Balsan, and G, W, Calder, heretofore,
to wit, on the eighth day of November, in the year of our Lowd
one thousand cight hundred and seventy, at Duval County, within
the district aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this court, were
ofticers of an election then and there held, in said county, at which said
election Representatives in the Congress of the United States were then
and there voted fory and were cereated and appointed such oflicers of
said election, by and under o law of the State of Florida, and, being
such officers, and being then and there sueh ofticers of and at the
clection precinet of Yellow Blufly in said county, at. said election, at
which said election and election precinet Representatives ot the Con-
aress of the United States were then and there voted for, ereated and
appointed as aforesaid, after the canvass had been completed at said
clection precinet, the said officers, to wit, the inspectors ol the said
clection precinet, then and there done up duplicate cevtiticates of the
result of said elecetion, at said election precinet, as then and there re-
quired by Iaw; and, as it was then and there the daty of said officers to
do, the said certificates containing then and there the nimes ot each voted
for, for each ofticer, and the number of votes cast for each person for
such officers, which said certificates were then and there signed by the
said officers and inspeetors of said election, at Yellow Bluft' Precinet,
and securely sealed, and were then and there delivered to said Isadore
Von Balsan, said Isadore Von Balsan being then and there one of said of-
ficers and inspectors 3 and the said certificates being then and there in the
hiands of the said Isadore Von Balsan, an ofticer and inspector aforesaid,
it was then and there the duty of the said Isadore Von Balsan, as an
oficer of and inspector of said clection, without delay, then and there to
deliver, sceurely sealed as aforesaid, one of said certificates to the clerk
of the cireuit court of said county, and the other of said certificates to
the county judge of said county.  And the said grand jurors do present
that the said Isadore Von Balsan, an officer and inspector of said election,
did then and there knowingly neglect and refuse to deliver then and
there one of said certificates to the said county judge, and the other of
said certificates to the said clerk of the circuit court aforesaid, with in-
tent to affect the result of said election ; and did then and there violate
said duty, and then and there withhold, conceal, and destroy the said
certificates ; the same then and there pertaining to and concerning the
electon of Representative tothe Congress of the United States, contrary
to the form of the statutein such case made and provided, and against the
peace and dignity of the United States. And the grand jurors afore-
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said do further present that heretofore, to wit, on the day and year
aforesaid, at the county and district aforesaid, Isadore Von Balsan was
then and there an officer of an election at the election precinet of Yellow
Bluft, in said county and distriet) duly created and appointed under a
law of the State of IMlorida, at which said election Representatives to
the Congress of the United States were then and there voted for; that
the duplicates eertified of the result of said election at said precinet
being then and there dirawn up, signed, and sealed, by the officers at said
precinet, as then and there required by law, and in conformity to law
were then and there delivered to the said Isadore Von Balsan, an of-
ficer and inspector of election preeinet at said election and of said elee-
tion; and the said Isadore Yon Balsan, an officer and inspector afore-
said, then and there knowingly neglected and refused to deliver one of
said certificates to the clerk of the cirenit court of the said county, and
the other of said certificates to the county judge of said county, as itwas
then and there the legal duty of him, the aid Isadore Von Balsan, as an
oficer and inspector aforesaid, then and there to do without delay ; and
the said Isadore Yon Balsan, aforesaid, an inspector aforesaid, did, then
and there, violate said duty, with intent to affect the result of said elec-
tion, and knowingly withhold, conceal, and destroy the said certificates,
the same then and there concerning and pertaining to the election of
Representative to the Congress of the United States, contrary to the
form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the
peace and dignity of the United States,
H. BISBEE, JRr.,
United States District Attorney.

A true bill:
LEMUEL WILSON,
Foreman.

Filed January ‘_'::S, 1871.
J. BE. TOWNSEND
Clerk.,

A true copy of the original, as of file in this office, this 5th day of

April, A, 1. 1872,
: J. E. TOWNSEND
Clerk.

United States distriet court, northern district of Florida.

A THURSDAY MORNING, February 9, 1871.
Tur Un1tep STATES ?
8. 4
ISADORE VON BALSAN.S
_Indictment for concealing, withholding, and destroying election cer-
tificates ; verdict, guilty,
Sentence of the court.

The prisoner, Isadore Yon Balsan, being brought before the court, the
followmg sentence was passed upon him: ¢ Ordered by the court that
the prisoner, Isadore Vou Balsan, do pay to the United States the sum of

H. Mis. 34, pt. 2———38
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five hundred dollars and the costs of this prosecution ; and that he stand
committed until the sentence of this court is complied with.,”

A true copy from the records of said w;ill't', this 5Sth day of April, A,
D. 872,
1. E. TOWNSEND,
’Itrrl.‘.

The next witness called wasx PULASKE FARNELL, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows :
Question, State your name and place of residence.—Anuswer, Polaski
Farnell; I live in Ellisville, Columbia County, State of Florida,
Q. Whorv were you on th( Sth of November, A, D, 1870, the day m
the general election 2—A. | was in Lake City.,
Q. State what you know of any disturbanee on the day of election.—
. There was no disturbance on the day of election that I know of. I
:mw to Lake City the evening before the election s five men started with
me from l'lll.wlllv_. and four |umml our party .H, a place ealled White
Ohurch.  When I got to Lake City our party numbered some nine or
ten men. 1 was .nmwl with a pistol, and I think M. Jim Barr had one
also; but dow’t know whether the others had side-arms, 1 saw about
twvlw men belonging to my militia company in Lake .)it_v the evening
I arrived there, T saw the row when it started in Lake Jity that night.
My party, ine luding about cight or ten men, were st llNlIlI"‘ on the sulo
walk in h(mt of Mr. Baya's stm'o when the row (mnmom'od' don’t know
who fired first, It is hlwl\ that my party were armed, lmL I eannot
assert so positively., Do not know whether Mr. Baya's stm'c was hroken
open or not; guns and ammunition were taken out of the store; don't
know hy wlmm, I only know that we had the guns; probably half a
dozen shots were fired.  The row lasted about a half hour; the crowd
numbered about seventy-five, including black and white ]w()pk. I left
for home about an hour l)('loro sundown on clection day. Mr. Tolbert
told me that he heard Mr. N, L. Niblack say that he heard Mahoney and
Johnson were going to have some armed negroes in town on election
day, and that it would b well for the militia company of Ellisville to
come to Lake City and see what the negroes intended doing; and,as |
had command of the militia vmnp.mv—ﬂt Ellisville, My, Tolbert delivered
Niblack’s message to me, and 1 told some of the boys to come up to
Lake City. whiceh some of them did.
P FARNELL

The next witness called was W, H, GLEASON, who, being duly sworn,
deposed as follows :

Qu(,sh(m. State your name and residence.—Auswer, W, I, Gleason;
I live in Biscayne, Dade County, IFlorida, and am clerk of the mromt
court of said couut\.

Q. Were any returns ever made to you of an election held in your
county on the ‘Sth of November, A. D. 1870 ?—A No retarns were sent
me.

Q. Besides being clerk of the court, what other official posttwn do you
holdf—A. I am a member of the Florida general assemnbly.

Q. When were you elected 1—A. At a special election held on the
20th day of December, A. D. 1870,
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Q. Why was a special election called ?—A. Because thets wus no
regular election held for member of the assembly or any other officer,

either State or congressional.
W. H, GLEASON.

—

The next witness called was SuErMAN CoNANT, who, being duly
sworn, deposed as follows :

Question. State your name and residence.—Answer. Sherman Conant;
[reside in Jacksonville, Florida,

Q. What ofticial position did you occupy as regards the State canvass
in the year 1870 2—A. I was attorney general of the State of Florida.

Q. To whom was you a successort—A. 1 was appointed early in
December, 1870, and was a suceessor to A, R. Meck, esq., and was ex
officio & member of the board of State canvassers,

Q. What returns were not canvassed by the board of State canvass.
ers 1—A. Suwaunee, Taylor, Calhoun, Sumter, Manatee, Monroe, La
Fayette, Brevard, and Dade.

Q. Why were they not canvassed 1—2A. Generally beeause under the
laws of the State of Florida they could not be canvassed.  Quite & num-
ber of them were not received in time; others were so defective in man-
ner and form that we held them to be no returns at all. There were
circumstances at that time that indieated that the returns were being
kept back so that they might be altered ina way that would change the
result of the general clection as canvassed., One circumstance that led
me to this conclusion was the fact that, previous to my appointment as
attorney general, on learning that the returns were not being sent for-
ward from several counties, together with a number of prominent repub-
lieans, I employed Harry K. Russell, of Ocala, Florida, to visit the coun-
ties of Sumter, Hernando, Hillsborough, Manatee, and Polk, and to
“endeavor to ascertain why the returns from some of these counties wore
not made public. Mr. Russell went to Tampa, and frowa there started
inaprivate conveyance to visit these counties. Some little distance from
Tampa e was met by a party of armed men, who told him they knew
his business, and that he must leave that section of the State at once
if he valued his life. 1 have since been told by Mr. Henderson, a demo-
cratic senator from Tampa, that if it had not been for his intercession
Russell would have got into serious trouble at Tampa. I also received
information, which I considered authentic, that the paper purporting to
be the election return from La Fayette County was a fraud from begin-
ning to end. I also knew that in some of the largest colored counties
in the State hundreds of voters had been kept from the polls by intimi-

dation and violenee—by hell raised in general,
SHERMAN CONANT.

STATE OF FLORIDA, County of Duval: -

I, William E. Burleigh, notary public for the State at large, do hereby
certify that the testimony herewith transmitted was taken before me,
and that the accompanying papers were used before me, and that they,
a8 transmitted, are a portion of said case.

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and seal this 8th day of
April, A, D. 1872, at Jacksonville, Florida. _

SEAL.] WILLIAM E. BURLEIGH,
' State Notary Public for the State of Florida.
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